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1 VISION STATEMENT

Curtin aspires to be a world-class University of Technology.

Mission and Values
Curtin is dedicated to the advancement of knowledge and the enrichment of culture. The University places particular
value on: 

• the search for innovative applications of technology in all fields of human endeavour; 

• the cultivation of responsive and responsible links with the wider community, emphasising service, practical rele-
vance, social justice and ethical behaviour; 

• the development of students and staff as citizens of the world, emphasising an international outlook, cultural diver-
sity, and an informed respect for indigenous peoples.

Goals
The Curtin community is united by a commitment to scholarship that embraces teaching and research as complemen-
tary and inter-linked. Through productive partnerships, the University strives for excellence in: 

• teaching and learning, developing graduates as lifelong learners who make a positive contribution to society;

• research and development, resulting in creative solutions to significant problems.

Curtin’s shared and explicit set of values are the cornerstone of its development. These include: 

• social justice and ethical responsibility, together with informed respect for indigenous peoples;

• innovation in the use of technology for the advancement and quality of human endeavour;

• scholarship and excellence through rigour and integrity;

• an international outlook which values cultural diversity;

• academic responsibility, freedom and collegiality in participation, open and transparent decision-making;

• relevance and responsibility as good corporate citizens in respect to relationships with the wider community.
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“The great University... should look ever forward;
for it the past should be but a preparation for the greater days to be.”

– John Curtin 1932



VISION STATEMENT

Quality Service
Curtin University of Technology is committed to developing its human, student and alumni resources for the benefit of
the society which it serves. The University strives for the highest quality in all its activities, and in particular, in its core
activities of Teaching and Learning, Research and Development.

The University is committed to recognising the rights of students and researchers to high quality education and self-
development, irrespective of culture, gender, disability or age.

Quality will be ensured through:

• monitoring of academic activities by the Academic Senate and its committees;

• University planning;

• assessing teaching and learning outcomes;

• evaluating key University services;

• formal participation in quality assurance processes of the Australian Universities Quality Agency, and in professional
associations which assess institutions or disciplines for their excellence.

This will be achieved through:

• benchmarking with selected other higher education institutions acknowledged as best practice exemplars in one or
more areas;

• general surveys of the student and research communities;

• service evaluation surveys;

• extensive student and academic support programs;

• providing formal feedback mechanisms for students, and through student representation on University committees;

• the creation of regular focus groups for particular sections of the student body;

• quantitative and qualitative evaluations of target client programs such as enabling courses.

The University develops and nurtures high quality teaching through:

• recruiting scholars with excellent teaching abilities;

• supporting academic staff through high quality staff development programs;

• promoting and rewarding good teaching habits and skills.

The University provides opportunities for scholars to pursue high-quality research through:

• creation, development and review of research centres and institutes as centres of excellence;

• recruitment of scholars with a proven track record in research;

• nurturing postgraduate course work and research students;

• provision of prestigious fellowships to emerging research scholars;

• providing incentives to innovators who apply cutting-edge technology for human development.
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2 CHANCELLOR’S 
FOREWORD

In February 2003, the Council of the University con-
ferred upon me, the honour of leading them and the

University, by appointing me to the office of Chancellor. In
my Address at my Investiture on 22 May 2003, I observed
that a world class University of the twenty-first century
would have the following distinctive characteristics:

• competitive energy with a commitment to excel
• relevance and agility
• advancement of civilisation through a regard for glob-

al wellbeing.

This Annual Report provides many examples of how,
during the year under review, Curtin continued to demon-
strate its distinctive entrepreneurial qualities, whilst main-
taining its deep commitment to social justice. This Report
identifies individual academic and general staff of the
University who have received state, national and interna-
tional accolades for their work; and describes activities
which confirm the University’s place at the cutting edge of
research and enterprise.  

The University’s view of its responsibilities as a respon-
sible world corporate citizen is best illustrated by its selec-
tion to deliver education services to the “African Virtual
University”. This exciting AusAid sponsored project is seen
as a contemporary successor to the “Colombo Plan”, which
enabled bright young students from developing areas to
undertake sponsored study in Australia and other coun-
tries.Today, the graduates of the Colombo Plan are nation-
al leaders of their countries – either through Government
or as captains of industry. Through the African Virtual
University project, Curtin will deliver programs using
information systems technologies,  to students at the Addis
Abba University, Ethiopia (also the lead partner
University); the Kenyatta University, Kenya, the Dar es
Salaam University, Tanzania, and the Kigali Institute of
Science, Technology and Management, Rwanda. 

The University’s spirit of enterprise and agility is also
well illustrated in the many significant collaborations with
other educational providers and research institutions both
in Australia and overseas.

The University’s success in the pursuit of research excel-
lence was demonstrated by its success in hosting both the
inaugural Western Australian Premier’s Research
Fellowships. This Fellowship Program, which aims to
attract outstanding researchers to Western Australia from
overseas or interstate, provides over $1million per
Fellowship over four years, to enable the prosecution of
internationally competitive research of specific benefit to
the State. The inaugural Fellows, chosen from a field of 13
applicants, are Professors Julian Gale and John Mackenzie 
who will work in the areas of nanochemistry and biosecu-
rity respectively.

The University’s relevance as a higher education institu-
tion with a commitment to excellence to undergraduate
and postgraduate teaching and research is exemplified by
the book launch hosted by the Curtin Business School in
November 2003. This function, formally honoured a cross
section of 35 members of the Business School staff who
have written and/or edited some 26 works including text-
books, collections of readings, and research monographs
over two years. All the works were published by interna-
tional and Australian commercial publishers as well as busi-
ness and government organisations. 

During 2003, the Council re-visited its primary gover-
nance responsibilities and established a sub-committee to
assist this process.  Whilst part of the impetus for this
review came from the Australian Government’s proposed
“reforms” of the higher education sector announced
through the 2003-2004 Australian Government budget,
the more important catalyst was the concerns of the
Council about issues of accountability and probity high-
lighted by the many high-profile corporate collapses both
in Australia and overseas. The outcomes of this review
process will be a rearticulation of the roles of the Council,
individual Council members, the Chancellor, the Vice-
Chancellor and the Academic Senate in governance of
Curtin.  I am proud of the goodwill and trust which is
manifest in the Council’s deliberations as I believe that
these, and not the fulfilment of technical specification, are
what define a successful governing body.  Nonetheless, I
believe that the outcome of the governance review will fur-
ther enhance the understandings and commitment of all
those whose roles constitute part of the governance of
Curtin.

The University’s record of achievements in 2003 gives
me great confidence that it will continue to grow and pros-
per in 2004.

Eric Tan AM 
CitWA Hon DTech Curtin

Chancellor
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3 VICE-CHANCELLOR’S 
MESSAGE

The beginning of 2003 was marked by two significant
international issues which impacted on Curtin: the

spread of the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS)
virus in many countries and increasing international ten-
sions over terrorism and the likelihood and later reality of
armed conflict in Iraq.

Anxiety over the risks posed by the SARS virus made it
necessary to significantly restrict University travel and to
postpone a graduation ceremony planned for Singapore in
April. Overseas travel was further limited by concerns
about the tense state of international affairs and the possi-
bility of Curtin staff or students being caught up in acts of
terrorism.

There was considerable national debate in 2003 over
whether Australia should be involved in military action in
Iraq. The issue had the potential to disrupt life at Curtin,
but although the views of many staff and students were
strongly held and forcibly expressed, the University’s cus-
tom of respecting others, regardless of their background or
point of view, was maintained. 

The dual dangers posed by SARS and terrorism severe-
ly curtailed teaching and recruitment-related travel by
Curtin staff during the first half of the year, creating con-
cerns at the impact this might have on our international
student numbers. However, in spite of these threats,
Curtin’s onshore international student numbers at the start
of second semester were approximately 15 percent higher
than at the same time the previous year.

On a happier note, 2003 also saw the appointment of a
new Curtin Chancellor, Dr Eric Tan. Dr Tan is a man of
many parts, being a surgeon, an internationally recognised
humanitarian, businessman and entrepreneur. He was well
known to Curtin even before his appointment as
Chancellor, being an honorary Doctor of Science, a John
Curtin Medallist and a Councillor. He has already con-
tributed a great deal to the University and promises to be
an excellent Chancellor.

Throughout the year there was significant debate and
controversy about changes to higher education proposed

by the Commonwealth Government. These proposals
were announced in April as part of the Budget package,
and related legislation was later introduced into Federal
Parliament. Intense negotiations with the Australian Vice-
Chancellors’ Committee and several independent Senators
occurred before the Higher Education Support Act 2003,
significantly amended, was passed late in the year.

For Curtin the revised legislation, while not perfect,
includes some good news. Funding to regional campuses
will increase, Western Australia (and Curtin) may be allo-
cated much needed additional funded places, and initia-
tives to increase indigenous involvement in higher educa-
tion will be introduced.

Of particular significance are the changes to university
funding included in the Act. From 2005 a new funding
model, the Commonwealth Grants Scheme, will be intro-
duced. Under this Scheme, Commonwealth funding to
Curtin on a per student basis will rise significantly, at last
addressing the under-funding the University has endured
since the Relative Funding Model was introduced in the
early 1990s. 

This change represents a significant opportunity for the
University to invest in its future. During 2004 serious con-
sideration will need to be given to how to best use this
income, and to how the University will respond to other
key aspects of the package. 

Universities now have the option of introducing a pre-
mium charge of up to 25 percent on Higher Education
Contribution Scheme fees for new students from 2005,
and of introducing additional full fee paying places for
domestic undergraduates. 

These issues will be discussed within the University dur-
ing the first part of 2004, and a number of communica-
tions mechanisms have been set in place to offer students
and staff the opportunity of being involved in the debate.
The final decisions on Curtin policy in these areas will be
made by the Council, and feedback received from staff and
students will be taken into account when the University’s
submission to Council is developed. 
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VICE-CHANCELLOR’S 
MESSAGE

During the year the University’s management structure
was reviewed to ensure we could maintain and enhance
organisational stability and effectiveness as we address the
changing national and international higher education envi-
ronments.

Two new positions were created through the restructure
– Chief Financial Officer and Pro Vice-Chancellor,
Academic Services – and the Deputy Vice-Chancellor
Research and Development position was retitled Pro Vice-
Chancellor, Research and Development.

As a consequence of the restructure, the Office of the
Executive General Manager was dissolved. Almost all of
the staff affected were able to be placed elsewhere at Curtin
but the Executive General Manager chose to leave the
University after discussions to identify a suitable alternative
position were unsuccessful.

The two Pro Vice-Chancellor (PVC) positions were
advertised in late 2003. Dr Jane den Hollander was
appointed PVC Academic Services, and Dr Barney Glover
PVC Research and Development.

The University’s research performance continued to
expand over 2003 with strong outcomes in the
Cooperative Research Centres and Australian Research
Council schemes, particularly involving linkages with
industry, and with continued growth in external research
income and in higher degree by research completions. 

We made significant progress in the development of
areas of research strength at the Divisional level, with the

identification of both existing and emerging areas for
future support. This will lead to the allocation of addition-
al resources in these areas as they seek to deliver outcomes
consistent with internationally competitive research and
development activity. 

Curtin has also continued its emphasis on commercial-
isation of intellectual property, and is establishing new
research institutes, research centres and industry funded
professorial appointments in support of these areas of
research strength. This will further enhance our competi-
tive advantage and position Curtin for significant national
and international development in the next few years.

Curtin’s public profile was also raised significantly dur-
ing 2003 through the Curtinnovation initiative and the
University’s first Open Day in over a decade.

In May the University launched a branding campaign
aimed at creating a stronger identity for Curtin within the
general community. The campaign, which included bill-
board, print and electronic advertisement, introduced a
new word which has now become uniquely associated with
Curtin: ‘Curtinnovation’.

The campaign results from detailed research and con-
sultation which shows that Curtin is seen, both internally
and externally, as a responsive, innovative, relevant and for-
ward looking organisation. The campaign reinforces this
image, showing the University as an institution which has
innovation embedded within its very core, that ‘thinks out-
side the square’, and is always looking to the future. 
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VICE-CHANCELLOR’S 
MESSAGE

Curtin has received a great deal of positive feedback on
the ‘Curtinnovation’ concept, and pre and post campaign
surveys of year 12 students have indicated they now have
an increased awareness and a more positive impression of
the University. 

Building on the campaign, the University held its first
Open Day in 12 years on 17 August. Approximately
15,000 people came to the Bentley campus to learn more
about Curtin and to visit the many displays, lectures and
interactive exhibits arranged. The day was strongly sup-
ported by all Divisions, and many students and staff gave
their time both on the day itself and during the planning
process which preceded it. Open Day 2003 was an unqual-
ified success, and planning has begun for 2004’s event.

Naturally, 2003 also had its difficulties. Security became
a focus after several robberies on the Bentley campus, and
the State Government’s introduction in late 2002 of a
Student Amenities and Services Fee created a significant
logistical and administrative challenge for the University in
2003. In addition, a significant financial issue arose in the
latter part of the year when anomalies in the University’s
accounts of outstanding student fees were identified, aris-
ing from the introduction of a new student management
system.

2004 will be a challenging and important year for
Curtin. The financial constraints we have operated under
for so long will continue until the Higher Education
Support Act 2003 comes into operation, and the decisions
we make regarding the opportunities the Act offers will sig-
nificantly shape the future of the University. I look forward
to working with the University community to ensure
Curtin continues to move towards its vision of being a
world class university of technology.

Professor Lance Twomey AM

DipPT, TTC, BappSc(WAIT), BSc (Hons),
PhD(WAust)

Positions held by the Vice-Chancellor in 2003
President of:

IDP International 

Board Member of:

Australian Vice-Chancellors’ Committee (AVCC)

Open Learning Australia

Member of:

AVCC International Standing Committee

Minerals Tertiary Education Council

Technology and Industry Advisory Council

Western Australian Higher Education Council

Chair of:

AVCC Advisory Committee on Indigenous Higher
Education
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4 HIGHLIGHTS 
OF 2003

Continuous Improvement: Implementation of
Australian Universities Quality Agency
(AUQA) Audit Recommendations 
The University has committed to implement all AUQA
audit recommendations, and strong progress was seen in
fulfilling this commitment in 2003.

During 2003, in line with a commitment to strong,
informed and effective governance, the University began to
develop programs to help Council members clearly see
how aspects of the University, such as its budgeting and
planning processes, interacted with the organisation’s
strategic planning. To enhance understanding of divisional
operations, Executive Deans of Curtin’s Divisions are
putting in place forums and workshops for University
Councillors to visit and review each area’s operation. 

New Council members receive information packs and
exposure to Council sessions before joining the Council.
Council members who are not WA residents are now also
personally briefed by the Vice-Chancellor before attending
Council meetings.

In addition to the normal briefing by the University
Secretary to all Council members on meeting procedures,
arrangements are now being put in place for new members
to receive briefings from Financial Services, University
Planning, and the Office of Research and Development.
This augmented induction program is to ensure members
have a comprehensive understanding of the University’s
operations.

All documentation which forms the framework of
University governance is under review. Amendments to the
Curtin University Act to reflect changes in decision-mak-
ing and management structures have been submitted to
Council and every statute made under the Act, is being
reviewed. 

A new document protocol has been created to ensure all
policies and procedures are regularly reviewed so they are
kept up to date with current practices. Furthermore, all
revised statutes are to be rewritten in plain English. This

exercise will provide the University with clear, relevant poli-
cies that neither contradict nor overlap each other.

The Academic Senate is part of this overall review of
University policies, via a series of new sub-committees that
are being established. A general review of the academic sup-
port mechanisms and at what level activities should best be
located is also underway.

In line with Curtin’s commitment to becoming an
innovative and world-class university, and to direct its
resources to that end, Curtin adopted a series of measures
in 2003. 

• International benchmarking mechanisms began to be
established so that Curtin can clearly test its progress
in becoming a world-class university of technology.
The University also began developing strategic plans
within each area which align with and support the
University’s overall vision. Significant progress was
made on these plans in 2003.

• Work on a new budget model began for release in
2005 to further enhance the strategic alignment of
resources with the University’s aims and ready it for
the “Nelson reforms”.

• Strict performance monitoring from the Vice-
Chancellor through to the Heads of Schools has com-
menced. The University’s MCIG (Managing for
Continuous Improvement and Growth) program
became more widely accepted, with over 800 staff
having been trained in this management style in
2003.

• Further strategic improvement took place in 2003 in
the human resources area, with a two-tier program
offered at the University, targeted to its top 100 man-
agers. The program centred on the four themes of the
University’s Strategic Plan: Planning, Investing in
People, Managing Resources and Governance. Strand
A “Laying the Foundations” targeted new managers
and Strand B “Implementation and Review” targeted
experienced managers. 
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HIGHLIGHTS 
OF 2003

As part of a focus on the University’s academic process-
es to ensure their relevance, the academic promotions doc-
umentation requirements were revised to give an increased
importance to each academic’s links to the community,
industry and the professions. Aligning student teaching to
the University’s values, each Curtin student now has the
Curtin-endorsed graduate attributes incorporated into
each and every unit they take at this University.

The quality of service to our postgraduates has been
enhanced, with the position of Dean of Postgraduate
Studies having been made full-time, supervisor training
sessions having been increased to match the high-levels of
demand, and procedures concerning annual reports and
the Thesis Committee improved and disseminated. 

Finally, following a recommendation by AUQA, and as
a consequence of Curtin’s increasingly international pres-
ence, Curtin strengthened the induction and cross-training
of local and international staff to ensure a consistent teach-
ing culture and to strengthen procedures. 

Research & Development
The University continued its strong development of large
collaborative research initiatives with the opening of two
State Government Centres of Excellence, the Centre for
Sustainable Mine Lakes and the Centre for Applied
Organic Geochemistry, and the signing of three significant
cooperative agreements related to research in oil and gas,
the earth sciences and nanochemistry.

Curtin enjoyed success in the most recent round of the
Cooperative Research Centres program. This resulted in
Curtin joining, either as a core or supporting participant,
eight Centres with representation from research groups
across all five of the University’s teaching Divisions.

The million-dollar Western Australian Premier’s
Research Fellowships were awarded to Dr Julian Gale and
Professor John MacKenzie, with both Fellows to be hosted
by Curtin. Professors Gale and Mackenzie will commence
their initial four year appointments in 2004 in nanochem-
istry and biosecurity.

Curtin researchers were awarded Australian Research
Council (ARC) funding of over $6.5 million.

Curtin is a core participant and major node in the new
ARC Centre for Perceptive and Intelligent Machines in
Complex Environments. The local node of this Centre will
receive approximately $5 million in funding from the
ARC, State Government and the University over the next
five years. The node will be supported by the Department
of Computing.

A new round of the prestigious Curtin Research
Fellowship Scheme was announced for the appointment of
a further five Fellows. This scheme remains a major initia-
tive by the University to build research capacity.

The Advanced Clean Environment (ACE) laboratories,
part of the John de Laeter Centre of Mass Spectrometry,
were completed. The ACE laboratories will become a
unique facility for the analysis of highly specialised ice core
and atmospheric samples. The $2.8 million facility is being
funded by Curtin, the ARC and the University of Western
Australia (UWA). 

The second Sensitive High Resolution Ion Microprobe
(SHRIMP) was commissioned in September as part of the
John de Laeter Centre of Mass Spectrometry. This interna-
tionally significant facility is supported by the ARC, UWA,
the Geological Survey of Western Australia, Geoscience
Australia and the Commonwealth Government under a
Systemic Infrastructure Initiative Grant. The total cost of
the expansion to the SHRIMP facility was over $3.5 mil-
lion. 

Professor Daniela Stehlik was appointed to the Curtin
Chair in Stronger Communities within the Alcoa Research
Centre for Stronger Communities, and Professor Guy
Callender was appointed to the State Government spon-
sored Chair in Strategic Procurement. They join a strong
team of recent appointments to industry sponsored Chairs,
in areas such as e-Business, Hospitality and Tourism,
Hydrocarbon Research, Human Rights Education and
Transport. It is expected that new Chairs in Housing and
Urban Research, Urban Design and in Governance, will be
announced in 2004.

Awards and Recognition
Dr Eric Tan was appointed as Curtin’s new Chancellor. Dr
Tan is a surgeon, a businessman, and an internationally
recognised humanitarian.

Professor Aileen Plant was awarded the National Medal
of Honour by the Vietnamese Government in recognition
of her leadership of the SARS outbreak control program in
that country. During the height of the outbreak, Professor
Plant coordinated 12 experts in Hanoi, for the World
Health Organisation, working around the clock to moni-
tor SARS.

Professor Ted Snell was named WA Citizen of the Year
for Art, Culture and Entertainment.

Curtin launched the first-ever University-wide mass
media brand campaign – focussing on billboard, cinema
and TV advertising – conducted under the banner of
‘Curtinnovation’.
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HIGHLIGHTS 
OF 2003

Curtin was awarded the prestigious EOWA Employer
of Choice for Women Award 2003, repeating its 2002 suc-
cess. Curtin is committed to maintaining this achievement,
which demonstrates good business practice and will assist
in the attraction and retention of excellent and highly
skilled staff. 

Professor Jo Ward became the first woman to be
appointed as Dean of Science. Professor Ward will seek to
actively encourage other women to study science.

Dux of the Curtin Viticulture course, Elizabeth
Dawson, won the Talijancich Award. This award allows
her to work on a vintage in France.

Helen O’Keefe, a final year student in the Mining
Engineering/Commerce double degree at the Western
Australian School of Mines, won the Australian Institute of
Mining and Metallurgy’s most prestigious student award,
the GB O’Malley Medal.

Curtin won five of the prestigious Australian Research
Council Linkage grants, with researchers to work on fields
as diverse as wool prices to industrial explosives and wind
power.

Kofi Annan, the United Nations Secretary-General,
commended the Graduate Studies in Strategy and Defence
program offered by Curtin in collaboration with the
Australian National University.

Professor Colin Binns of the Division of Health
Sciences was named Senior West Australian of the Year.

Chemistry lecturer Dr Mauro Mocerino won the award
for Excellence in Science Teaching (Tertiary) in the WA
Premier’s Science Awards.

Tracey Hodgkins of Curtin Advantage was named
Business-Higher Education Round Table (B-HERT) Best
Entrepreneurial Educator of the Year.

Associate Professor Bill Cooper, from the Research
Institute for Cultural Heritage, and Stan Nowak, a former
sub-Dean of Engineering, were both awarded Medals of
the Order of Australia

American Fulbright Fellow, ecologist Robert Dunn,
chose to undertake his fellowship in the Department of
Environmental Biology. 

The Division of Health Sciences was designated a
Collaborating Centre for Environmental Health Impact
Assessment (EHIA) by the World Health Organisation
(WHO). 

The ‘OASIS’ (On-line Access to Student Information
Services) student portal became available to all students in
October 2003. OASIS provides Curtin with secure access
and delivery of online information to its many students.

OASIS also positions Curtin well to meet an increasingly
digital future. 

Professor Richard Nile, Director of the Australia
Research Institute, was short-listed for the 2003 WA
Premier’s Book Award for his history of Australian litera-
ture, The Making of the Australian Literary Imagination.

SBS screened John Curtin Undergraduate Scholar,
Sophie McNeill’s latest documentary Mohammed and
Juliet, a modern Australian tragedy. Sophie won the best
newcomer category of the Perth Press Club Awards for her
documentaries for SBS on the death of an asylum seeker in
custody, and the presence of nuclear powered US warships
in Australian harbours. 

Graduate Christian de Vietri won one of the Nescafe
Big Break awards for young artists. Christian planned to
shoot a video in Paris with the prize.

Danielle Atkinson from the Faculty of Built
Environment, Art and Design won the 2003 National
Dulux Colour Awards “Years 3-5 Undergraduate Degree
Course” category.

Another student from the Faculty, Julia Elton-Bott was
nominated for the prestigious International Design and
Advertising Student Award of the British Design and Art
Direction Group.

Engineering student, Andrew Pasquale, won the 2002-
2003 Siemens Prize for Innovation for the pocket-sized
braille-to-text translator he invented. Engineers Australia
(WA) also named Andrew as one of its “heroes” for 2003,
during Engineering Week. 

Further awards in this area came when the Western
Australian Premier, in his capacity as member for Victoria
Park, presented Iain Murray of the Department of
Electrical and Computer Engineering with a Lotteries
grant for use in the Cisco Access for the Vision Impaired
program. This program teaches networking to visually
impaired students using voice feedback and a Braille dis-
play of their input and the computers’ response.

Don Munro, Head of English from Willetton Senior
High School and editor of the English Teachers’
Association journal “Interpretations”, was appointed the
2003 teacher-in-residence in the Division of Humanities.
The teacher-in-residence program has provided a new
mode of professional development for Australian sec-
ondary school teachers and has already been hailed by the
national education summit as the “Curtin model”.

The Urban and Regional Planning programs were rated
equal first in Australia (along with the University of New
South Wales) by students.
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HIGHLIGHTS 
OF 2003

Professor David Jones from Curtin’s Department of Art
collaborated with Donaldson and Warn Architects to cre-
ate the new Western Australian Bali Memorial.

The University won the Red Cross Blood Service’s
“Summer Heroes” Blood Rush competition, by donating
the greatest volume of blood.

Three Curtin Business School students won full schol-
arships to the US-based Iaccoca Institute’s Global Village
program. The program trains young future leaders of glob-
al business from all around the world. 

The Graduate School of Business celebrated its tenth
anniversary. Also in 2003 The Economist’s Intelligence Unit
rated the School’s MBA program as one of the top 100 in
the world. 

The Graduate School retained its position with the only
five star MBA in WA (as reported in the Good Universities
Guide). 

Interior Architecture lecturer, Penny Forlano was invit-
ed to participate in the prestigious Milan Furniture Fair
with her, and partner Glen Oldfield’s, innovative carbon
fibre furniture. 

The Commonwealth Government pledged $8.5 mil-
lion to continue its support of the National Drug Research
Institute which is based at Curtin. 

Curtin Parks and Gardens’ curator Matthew Lunn was
awarded horticulture’s top national honour. Lunn was
named 2003 Horticulturalist of the Year by the Australian
Institute of Horticulture for his voluntary work. 

Professor Greg Craven was appointed as the University’s
new Chair in Government. 

Professor David Dolan was elected Deputy Chair of the
Australian Council of National Trusts.

Music lecturer Dawn Bennett was named as a 2003
National Flexible Learning Leader by the Commonwealth
Government.

One of the world’s most prestigious organisations for
science education research – the National Association for

Research in Science Teaching (NARST) bestowed its high-
est form of recognition on Curtin’s Professor Barry Fraser.
Professor Fraser, Director of the Science and Mathematics
Education Centre (SMEC), was awarded NARST’s 2003
Distinguished Contributions to Science Education
through Research Award.

Many members of the Curtin community won
Western Australian Centenary of Federation Medals for
their service to the community. Amongst them were:

• Archivist of the John Curtin Priministerial Library,
Kandy-Jane Henderson, for her archival services to
the community; 

• Chancellor Dr Eric Tan, for his advancement of
multiculturalism;

• Professor Tom Stannage for service to education and
the community;

• Dr Nonja Peters for her outstanding service in pre-
serving migrant heritages;

• Professor Joan Winch for her health care services to
the Aboriginal community.

New Initiatives and Alliances
The Temporary Protection Visas (TPV) Scholarship
Initiative was launched by the Vice-Chancellor in March
2003. Holders of TPVs have applied for refugee status on-
shore in Australia without already holding a valid visa, and
have been deemed to be refugees. As part of the University’s
commitment to social justice, Curtin now accepts up to
five TPV holders per year. This initiative was jointly devel-
oped between the University and the Association for
Services to Torture and Trauma Survivors.

The new Alcoa Research Centre for Stronger
Communities was launched at Curtin in July 2003. The
Centre will focus on local, national and global community
issues.

Curtin launched its new “Transition to Nursing” pro-
gram in 2003. The program exposes Year 11 and 12 stu-
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HIGHLIGHTS 
OF 2003

dents in high schools to nursing through structured work-
place learning while they are still at school. Students who
are successful in their placements and TEE program will be
guaranteed a place in Curtin’s nursing course without sit-
ting the TEE, having met the rigorous requirements of the
program. 

Work began on the Centre for Wine Excellence in
Margaret River. The Centre is located on the new Margaret
River Education Campus, which Curtin has collaborative-
ly established with the Department of Education and
Training, Edith Cowan University and the South West
Regional College of TAFE. 

The WA Premier, Dr Geoff Gallop, announced a new
scholarship scheme for Curtin’s Sarawak, Malaysia campus.
The scheme will see five of the top Sarawak students
awarded money each year to allow them to complete their
final year of studies in Australia. 

Curtin partnered with the African Virtual University
(AVU) to improve access to higher education in Africa in
2003 with a $5 million virtual education project. In part-
nership with the AVU, Curtin began to use the latest in
information and communication technologies to offer
business programs to students in a range of programs
across Africa, where the demand for quality higher educa-
tion is enormous.

An Aboriginal education initiative began at the Kal-
goorlie Campus through the Graham Farmer project. The
project offers support and guidance to students who display
academic abilities, encouraging them to strive for excellence
through specialised training in small study groups.

The International Writers’ Festival was revived through
sponsorship in 2003. The ten-day festival featured over
100 events, which Curtin and Perth International Arts
Festival staff organised. The festival had not been held for
three years prior to this.

Curtin along with fellow Australian Technology
Network (ATN) universities, launched the new ATN –
Research Staff Exchange program. This program provides

funding for ATN academics to visit other ATN universities
and collaborate with colleagues in these institutions.

The School of Management joined forces with the WA
Chinese Chamber of Commerce for its inaugural Leaders’
Forum. The forum, entitled Linking WA to the World –
International Education Networks focussed on Australia’s
links with Asia, and followed the visit of Chinese President
Hu Jintao to Australia.

Conferences and Events
As part of Cultural Diversity Day at Curtin, Haruhisha
Handa Chair Professor Jim Ife of the Centre for Human
Rights Education gave a thought-provoking and challeng-
ing address on the topic “How to Maintain Harmony in the
Current Climate of Fear”.

Cultural Diversity Day also featured a one day sympo-
sium entitled “Obesity in the Modern World – perspectives
from Japan and Australia”. This was a joint initiative by the
School of Public Health and Kagawa Nutrition University
of Japan. The two bodies have developed an important
relationship, a feature of which is regular joint symposia on
nutrition-related topics.

The Centre for Human Rights Education featured a
speech by Professor Johan Galtung, for its first public
event. Professor Galtung, widely known as the founder of
the academic discipline of peace research, addressed the
audience on “The Coming Decline and Fall of the American
Empire”.

In June, Curtin hosted the fifth signing ceremony for
the WA Cleaner Production Statement, administered
through the WA Sustainable Industry Group. The Group
is convened and facilitated through Curtin’s Centre for
Excellence in Cleaner Production. 

Curtin also hosted the “Re-searching Research Agendas:
Women, Research & Publication in Higher Education” con-
ference. The conference attracted participants from India,
Indonesia, Pakistan, South Africa, the United Kingdom,
New Zealand and Canada, as well as Australia.
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The International Telecommunications Society’s Asia-
Australasian Regional Conference was held in Perth as a
joint initiative of Curtin’s Communication, Economics
and Electronic Markets Research Centre and the
Australian Expert Group in Industry Studies of the
University of Western Sydney. 

The National Drug Research Institute held an interna-
tional symposium on preventing substance abuse in
Fremantle. A new publication on drug prevention, which
is the work of the Institute in collaboration with the World
Health Organisation, was launched during the sympo-
sium. 

The University hosted the 10th IEEE Mechatronics
and Machine Vision in Practice conference in late 2003,
attracting researchers from around the world. Mechatronic
engineering is the fusion of traditional mechanical sciences
with electronic control and intelligence. 

Curtin mourned the passing of Dr Haydn Williams in
May 2003. Dr Williams served as the inaugural Director of
Curtin’s antecedent, the Western Australian Institute of
Technology (WAIT) for 12 years. During his time as
Director, he saw the Institute grow to become a leader in
its field. WAIT later became the first of the Australian insti-
tutes of technology to achieve University status. 

The Hayden Williams Fellow, Professor Sidonie Smith,
funded by the Curtin trust Dr Williams established, gave a
public lecture in 2003 on human rights advancement top-
ics.

The WA Premier opened a new lecture theatre named
in honour of the University’s former Chancellor, the late
Harry Perkins, AO, at Curtin’s Sarawak campus, in
Malaysia. 

The fifth John Curtin Weekend in mid-October saw
250 Curtin Volunteers! participating in community service
projects in 16 regional communities. Volunteers planted
trees, cleaned up community farms and maintained his-
toric railway stations, amongst many other activities. 

The John Curtin Medal was awarded to two outstand-
ing Australians as part of John Curtin Day 2003. The
University honoured John Fawcett for his tireless work in
helping thousands of Balinese people to regain their sight
and Doug Paling of Foodbank for helping to feed the hun-
gry in WA. 

New research in humanities and social sciences from
across Australia was showcased in the seventh Annual
Curtin Humanities Graduate Research Conference –
Alchemies: Community Exchanges. The conference focused
on how research could contribute to the growth of indi-
vidual communities.

The Department of Chemical Engineering celebrated
its ‘coming of age’ after 21 years of operation. 

The Curtin Business School held its first Australia
Business Week (ABW) Program, a team-based commercial
competition, with students coming from as far away as
Broome, the Christmas Islands and Adelaide to attend. 

Curtin lecturer Glenn Jones was awarded a 2003
National Trainers Award for his innovations in hospitality
training and assessment with students in remote areas.

The fifth Sir Charles Court Young Leaders Program
2003 was held at the Curtin Bentley campus, with high
school students participating from all around Western
Australia. 
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Governance
The Council

The Council is the governing body of the University and
has such powers, consistent with the Curtin University of
Technology Act 1966, to discharge its functions and pro-
vide facilities for its staff and students, as it considers desir-
able.

The Act provides for a Council comprising of the
Chancellor, members appointed by the Governor in
Council, ex-officio members, co-opted members, mem-
bers elected by full-time elected academic staff, members
elected by the Curtin Student Guild Council and a mem-
ber elected by full-time general staff. In 2003, the Council
comprised of the following:

Chancellor

Mr RA (Richard) Tastula

Acting Chancellor until 2 March 2003

Dr EGC (Eric) Tan

From 3 March 2003

Term expires 2 March 2006

Members Appointed by the Governor in Council

Ms GM (Georgina) Carnegie
Term expires 31 March 2004

Tan Sri Datuk Amar Dr G (George) Chan Hong Nam

Term expires 31 March 2006

Ms M (Michele) Dolin
Pro-Chancellor from 1 April 2003

Term expires 31 March 2004

Dr B (Brian) Hewitt

Term expires 31 March 2006

Dr D (David) Karpin
Term expires 31 March 2004

Dr EGC (Eric) Tan
Concluded 2 March 2003 

Mr RA (Richard) Tastula (Pro-Chancellor)
Term expired 31 March 2003

Mr W (Wayne) Zekulich

Term expires 31 March 2006

Ex-Officio Members

Vice Chancellor

Professor LT (Lance) Twomey

Nominee of the Chief Executive Officer, Department of
Education and Training WA

Mr R (Ron) Mance

Term expired March 17 2003

Ms N (Norma) Jeffrey

From 18 March 2003

Chairperson, Kalgoorlie Campus Council

Mr R (Richard) Scallan
Term expired 31 March 2003

Vacant

1 April to 31 December 2003

Nominee of the Board, Muresk Institute 

Vacant to 18 February 2003

Adjunct Professor P (Peter) Browne

From 19 February 2003

Term expires 19 October 2005

Chairperson, Academic Senate

Associate Professor R (Robert) Dunstan
Term expired 31 March 2003

Associate Professor DM (Douglas) Yorke

From 1 April 2003

Term expires 31 March 2005 

Coopted Members

Mr D (Donald) Humphreys
Term expires 31 March 2005

Dr R (Ruth) Shean
Term expires 31 March 2005

Ms B (Barbara) Whittle
Term expires 31 March 2004

Member Elected by Alumni Association

Vacant
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Members Elected by Full-time Academic Staff

Associate Professor D (David) Charnock
Term expires 31 March 2004

Dr M (Malcolm) Innes-Brown

From 1 April 2003

Term expires 31 March 2005 

Associate Professor DM (Douglas) Yorke
Concluded 31 March 2003

Members Elected by Curtin Student Guild Council

Undergraduate

Mr T (Terence) Healy
Term Expired 30 November 2003

Ms K (Kristal) Mihal

From 1 December 2003

Term expires 30 November 2004

Postgraduate

Ms J (Jennifer) Lowe
Resigned 6 February 2003

Mr T (Timothy) Simmons

From 1 December 2003

Term expires 30 November 2004

Ms H (Hannah) Williams

From 7 February 2003

Term expired 30 November 2003

Member Elected by Full-time General Staff

Mrs J (Jennie) Walsh
Term expires 31 March 2004

Council 2003
In 2002, the Curtin University of Technology Council
maintained its practice of having business meetings in alter-
nate months and having one workshop during the year on
a selected theme. During the year the Council held six busi-
ness meetings. The workshop, described as a “Strategic
Conversation”, was held in May 2003 and brought togeth-
er the members of the Council and the senior officers of the
University. The “Conversation” explored the major changes
in the higher education sector in light of the Common-
wealth budget for 2003 – 2004, referred to as “the Nelson
Reforms”. In particular, the implications of the changes for
Curtin within the context of the University’s own strategic
priorities were explored. The workshop identified five
strategic priorities for the next two years, namely: quality
and reputation; financial management; focus (teaching and
research); marketing and new product development; and
Government (State and Commonwealth) relations. 

In recognition of the increasing expectations on govern-
ing bodies of universities to provide effective overview of
institutional operations, the Council reviewed the opera-
tions of its Executive Committee. The functions of the
Executive Committee, which were previously described in
general terms were re-expressed and enlarged to include
responsibility for the financial overview of the University’s
operations. The Executive Committee was also given
responsibility for performing the role of a nominations
committee to identify the competencies required of new
Council members and to provide advice to the Council on
appropriate nominees for appointment. In recognition of
its enlarged brief, the membership of the Executive
Committee was expanded to provide for the ex officio
membership of the Chair of the Audit Committee and up
to three members of the Council who are neither staff nor
students.

A significant activity of the Council during 2003 was a
comprehensive review of governance of University cam-
puses and entities outside Perth. Following extensive con-
sultation with stakeholders of the Muresk Institute, and the
Kalgoorlie-Goldfields area, the Council resolved in
October 2003 to recommend to the Minister for
Education and Training the repeal of sections of the Curtin
University of Technology Act 1966, dealing with the estab-
lishment of “branches” of the University; the governance
arrangements in “branches”; and the establishment, com-
position and functions of the Kalgoorlie Campus Council.
The Council also determined that following the amend-
ment to the Act, it would replace the Muresk Institute
Board of Management with the Muresk Institute Board;
and that it would replace the Kalgoorlie Campus Council
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with the Curtin Kalgoorlie Board. In recognition of the
University’s growing footprint within Australia and over-
seas, the Council also recommended to the Minister that
the current provision for the ex officio membership on the
Council of the Chair or nominee of the Muresk Institute
Board and the Kalgoorlie Campus Council be replaced
with a provision for “not less than two members to be
appointed by the Council, from amongst the Chairpersons
of Boards for Campuses or other designated organisation-
al entities of the University”. 

The first exhaustive review of the University’s Statutes
led to recommendations for the repeal of several Statutes
relating to the establishment and operation of some
Foundations and Funds; and the conduct of elections for
students and staff of the Muresk Institute and the
Kalgoorlie Campus. 

Council Meeting Attendance
During the year, Council members’ attendance at meetings
was as follows. Where a member was a member during the
year in more than one membership category, these are
combined in the table:

Council members AttendedPossible

Adjunct Prof P Browne 5 6
Ms G M Carnegie 3 6
Tan Sri Datuk Amar Dr G Chan Hong Nam 1 3
Assoc Prof D Charnock 3 6
Ms M Dolin 6 6
Assoc Prof R Dunstan 1 1
Mr T Healy 6 6
Dr B Hewitt 3 3
Mr H J Houghton 0 1
Mr D Humphreys 6 6
Dr M Innes-Brown 4 5
Ms N Jeffrey 2 5
Dr D Karpin 3 6
Mr R Mance 0 1
Mr R Scallan 1 1
Dr R Shean 5 6
Dr E G C Tan 6 6
Mr R A Tastula 1 1
Prof L T Twomey 5 6
Mrs J Walsh 4 6
Ms B Whittle 3 6
Ms H Williams 6 6
Assoc Prof D M Yorke 5 6
Mr W Zekulich 2 3

Under the Curtin University of Technology Act 1966
the Council may delegate all its powers, except the power
of delegation, to the Vice-Chancellor and such other bod-
ies as it may choose to for the proper management of the
University. The Council decided in 2000 to focus on the
following areas:

• Strategic positioning of the University

• Approval of five Governance Policies

• Resource Allocation/ Budget setting and monitoring
performance against Budget

• Quality assurance/ accountability of Senior
Managers

• Senior appointments and remuneration of the Vice-
Chancellor and Executive Managers.

The Council has delegated the day-to-day management
of the University to the Vice-Chancellor through Statute 6
and the academic and educational operational policies to
the Academic Senate. The Board and Council of the
University’s Branch and Campus exercise their roles under
the Curtin University of Technology Act 1966 in the inter-
ests of Kalgoorlie and Muresk respectively, subject to over-
sight by the Council.

To assist in the performance of their duties, the Council
has established the following committees:

• Executive Committee

• Audit Committee

• Academic Senate.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee of the Council is a sub-group of
the Council which was originally established to facilitate
Council decision-making in the interregna between bi-
monthly Council meetings. This original brief was extend-
ed in 2002, when the constitution of the Executive
Committee was changed to include responsibility for per-
forming the role of a Finance Committee. In recognition
of the critical relationship between the Council and the
Audit Committee in risk management, the constitution
was also amended to make the Chair of the Audit
Committee an ex officio member of the Executive
Committee. In this role, the Executive Committee received
budget papers from the Planning and Management
Committee, and worked with the University
Administration to prepare those in a form appropriate for
the Council to consider.
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During 2003, the membership of the Executive
Committee comprised

Chancellor, ex officio (Chair) 

Richard (Dick) Tastula (until end of February 2003)

Dr Eric Tan, (from March 2003)

Pro Chancellor, ex officio 

Ms Michele Dolin (from March 2003)

Vice-Chancellor, ex officio

Professor Lance Twomey

Chair, Academic Senate, ex officio

Associate Professor Robert Dunstan
(until end of March 2003)

Associate Professor Douglas Yorke (from April 2003)

Two members of the Council, appointed by the Council

Mr Henry Houghton (until end of March 2003)

Mr Donald Humphreys (from April 2003)

Dr Ruth Shean (from April 2003)

Dr Eric Tan (until end of February 2003)

Chair, Audit Committee, ex officio

Ms Michele Dolin

The Executive Committee met on nine occasions dur-
ing 2003, and was consulted by way of circular resolution
on one occasion. The most important functions performed
by the Executive Committee during the year related to:

• the review of draft budget documentation, and pro-
vision of advice to the Council on them

• review and advice to the Council on the policies on
Appointment, Performance and Remuneration of
Executive Managers and Appointment, Performance
and Remuneration of the Vice-Chancellor

• advice to the Council on amendments to the Curtin
University of Technology Act 1966 to change the
governance structures for Branches established under
the Act, and the Kalgoorlie Campus.

The inclusion of the ex officio membership of the Chair
of the Audit Committee enhanced the appreciation of the
Executive Committee to the issues raised by Internal Audit
Reports. A significant development was the inclusion of
the absence of “red” audits (red being a danger indicator in
the new internal audit “traffic light” system) as a perfor-
mance indicator for the Vice-Chancellor and Executive
Deans.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee reviews and makes recommenda-
tions to the Council on financial management, the systems
for internal control established by management and the
Council, and internal and external audit processes. The
Committee also oversees the systems set in place by man-
agement for risk management and compliance and receives
regular reports from the Internal Audit Area regarding the
audit program to ensure compliance with financial, regula-
tory and other legal requirements.

The Office of the Auditor General appoints the exter-
nal auditors, and both the external and internal auditors
have a direct line of communication with the Chair of the
Audit Committee. The Committee has input into the
appointment of the Director Internal Audit, approves the
Internal Audit Work Plan and reviews the adequacy of
existing audit arrangements.

In 2003, the following were members of the Audit
Committee:

Ms Michele Dolin, Chair 
Mr Donald Humphreys
Professor Michael Wood
Mr John Chandler
Mr Richard Tatsula (until 2 March 2003)

The Committee held seven meetings during the year,
with the Vice Chancellor, Director Internal Audit, Office
of the Auditor General representative, and University
Secretary also in attendance. Under its delegated functions,
the Committee was involved in the review of the 2002
audited financial statements and performance indictors for
the University, and the associated Management Letter
issued by the Office of the Auditor General. It also
endorsed a major upgrade to the format of internal audit
reporting and internal audit opinions in early 2003, rec-
ommended to the Council in November 2003 that a new
Internal Audit Charter be approved, and reviewed the
2004 Internal Audit Work Plan.

The Committee was heavily focused during the year on
gaining appropriate assurances in relation to the manage-
ment of risk throughout the University. Where necessary,
high risk issues and other matters of significance raised at
Committee level were brought to the attention of the
Council by way of the Chair’s report. The Committee, in
fulfilling its corporate governance responsibilities, also
sought to increase the breadth and depth of information
presented for review and discussion at each meeting.
Reports tabled regularly now include any activities or inci-
dents with material impact, fraud-related investigat-
ions, and the status of major outstanding internal and exter-
nal audit issues.
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Academic Senate
The Academic Senate is the principal non-executive body
of the University, established by Statute. It has a broad
charter to address any matter of academic and educational
significance, and to convey its views and advice to the
Council and the Vice-Chancellor on any matter of educa-
tional interest. Since 1997, it has been granted specific del-
egated functions by the Council in respect to approval and
accreditation of courses, academic and educational policies
and procedures, and the establishment and review of
Faculties, Schools, Research Institutes and Centres. The
Council has routinely sought the advice of the Academic
Senate on the matter of the University’s annual budgets.

In 2003, the Academic Senate had a total of 39 mem-
bers, consisting of the executive management, elected rep-
resentatives of staff and heads for each of the Divisions,
representatives of the Professoriate and Heads of Schools
Group, and representatives of academic and general staff
and student bodies. The Chair is an academic staff mem-
ber nominated by the total academic community of Curtin
and elected by the Senate itself.

In 2003, the Academic Senate had six standing com-
mittees which carried out much of the detailed work in
ensuring quality decisions with respect to admissions,
courses, student progress, assessment and feedback, gradu-
ate research progress and research funding of staff and
Schools. The Chair of the Academic Senate is a member of
the University’s Planning and Management Committee
which advises the Vice-Chancellor on strategic manage-
ment and planning issues.

The Academic Senate met on 12 occasions and held
three Forums. The Forums are designed to enable the total
Curtin community to be engaged in major proposals or
policy developments prior to their passage to approval. The
2003 Forums covered a range of subjects, but with a focus
on the University’s development in the future. The first
Forum dealt with the University’s consultancy policy, with
the remaining two exploring opinions on the University’s
future profile and how it may deliver its academic pro-
grams. 

During the year, the Academic Senate, as part of its rou-
tine business:

• approved a series of policies and procedures on inter-
national educational services, human resources,
grievance and complaint resolution;

• endorsed the Information Plan;

• approved the establishment of the Australia Research
Institute;

• established the Academic Senate Executive;

• approved Regulations governing research and
coursework doctoral degrees;

• received presentations and update reports to the:
- Internationalisation Plan;
- Information Plan;
- Research Management Plan;
- Teaching and Learning Plan
- Valuing Curtin Staff Plan; and the
- Physical Facilities Plan

• accredited 77 courses of study including 40 exit
courses, and a number of double degrees;

• approved a variety of structural changes to courses
and the discontinuation of previously established
courses for which there was no longer a demand;

• approved several collaborative programs;

• approved changes to the notional Tertiary Education
Ranks assigned to certain qualifications;

• approved the academic calendars for 2004-2008;

• approved the establishment of certain scholarships;

• approved an excellence in innovation and teaching
award;

• approved a trial of revised course approval and
accreditation process procedures; and

• approved non-standard study periods for 2004. 

In the year under review, it provided advice to the
Council and management on a range of issues including:

• provision of advice regarding the 2004 Budget;

• devolution of manangement; and

• staff development matters. 

The Academic Senate established a Working Party to
review and make recommendations relating to the
Academic Senate’s committee structure with the objective
of enhancing the policy focus of committee and Academic
Senate operations, potentially reducing the number of
committees, and streamlining committee operations. At
year-end, the Working Party’s work was not complete and
it is expected to report in 2004. 

During 2003, the following six committees assisted the
Academic Senate in its role: the Admissions and
Matriculation Committee, Courses Committee, Student
Progress Committee, University Graduate Studies
Committee, University Research and Development
Committee, and University Teaching and Learning
Committee. Each committee makes recommendations to
Academic Senate and has specific areas of responsibility
and delegated authority to act in matters within its terms
of reference. 
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Governance structure diagram (as at 31 December 2003)
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Organisartional Chart as at 31 December 2003 Council
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Management 
During the first half of 2003, the Vice-Chancellor initiat-
ed a review of the Vice-Chancellory Executive structure
ahead of the foreshadowed retirements of the Deputy Vice-
Chancellor Research and Development and the Senior
Deputy Vice-Chancellor. The review resulted in the dises-
tablishment of the position of Executive General Manager
and the re-constitution of the position of Deputy Vice-
Chancellor Research and Development as Pro Vice-
Chancellor. A new position of Pro Vice-Chancellor
Academic Services was also created. Appointments were
made to these two new positions towards the end of 2003.

The management responsibilities of the Vice-
Chancellor and Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor were rede-
fined with these two officers to work more closely togeth-
er as the most senior University officers. Positions which
had formerly reported to the Executive General Manager –
the General Manager Properties, and the General Manager
Corporate Communications – became direct reports to the
Vice-Chancellor/Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor. The
position of General Manager Financial and Commercial
Services which also reported to the Executive General
Manager was re-titled Chief Financial Officer and became
a direct report to the Vice-Chancellor.

Concurrently with these changes, the University
reviewed its consultancy arrangements, which during 2003
continued to be coordinated by its commercial arm Curtin
Consultancy Services. A decision was taken at the end of
2003 to discontinue the operations of Curtin Consultancy
Services as a separate company and to return consultancy
administration to university administration. These
changed arrangements were accompanied by a transfer of
responsibility for the oversight of consultancy operations
from the Pro Vice-Chancellor International and Enterprise
to the Pro Vice-Chancellor Research and Development. 

At the Divisional level, the former Division of
Engineering and Science became the Division of
Engineering, Science and Computing with effect from 1
January 2003. The disciplinary Departments were brought
together within Faculties of Science, and Engineering and
Computing respectively. The Division of Humanities did
a major review of its Schools and similarly amalgamated a
number of Schools into three major Faculties: Built
Environment, Art and Design; Media, Society and
Culture; and Education, Language Studies and Social
Work. The Division of Resources and Environment
replaced its Centre for Higher Education with the Centre
for Regional Education. The latter has the responsibility of
spearheading and coordinating the University’s extension
into rural and regional Western Australia. These structural

changes within the Divisions have created larger sub-enti-
ties with improved capacity to develop and grow, facilitat-
ed by more substantial budgets.
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6 STATEMENTS OF 
COMPLIANCE 

UNDER STATE GOVERNMENT GUIDELINES

The Government of Western Australia issued an
Annual Report Framework for public sector agencies

in June 2001. As an entity established by an Act of the
Parliament in Western Australia, this Report complies with
that framework for reporting.

Exemption from Treasurer’s Instruction 953

Curtin University of Technology applied for, and was
granted by Treasury, exemption from the provisions of
Treasurer’s Instruction 953, which requires publication of
estimates in the Annual Report. Exemption was granted on
the grounds that Curtin’s annual budget documents are
prepared as a separate major public document.

Prescribed Interests

Treasurer’s Instruction 903 requires Council members and
senior officers of Curtin University of Technology to
declare in the Annual Report any pecuniary interests in a
subsidiary, related or affiliated body of the University.
Declared interests of members of Council and senior offi-
cers as listed in the Annual Report are as follows:

Dr Eric Tan

• Director, Aquaceutics Pty Ltd, Member of Council
& Chancellor (March 2003 onwards). 

• Aquaceutics Pty Ltd funds a five-member marine
biotechnology research Consortium of which the
University is one member. Intellectual property aris-
ing from the identified research within the School of
Biomedical Science is owned in accordance with the
percentage contributions of the parties of the
Consortium.

• Aquaceutics Pty Ltd has contracted with Curtin
University for the provision of research support ser-
vices for Dr Zhang Chang Wu. Dr Wu is located in
the School of Biomedical Sciences and is undertak-
ing research for Aquaceutics Pty Ltd on microalgal
specimens. Intellectual property arising from the
research of Dr Wu is owned by Aquaceutics Pty. Ltd. 

• Dr Tan was listed as a partner investigator in an
application to the Australian Research Council for
funding under Round 2 of the ARC Linkage –
Projects (2004) Scheme. As the nominated industry
partner Aquaceutics Pty Ltd has committed to pro-
vide $69,356 in cash and $266,500 in kind to sup-
port the project if the application is successful. If
funding is secured the project will allow the devel-
opment of scale-up strategies for commercial-scale
cultivation of microalgae.

Professor Bevil Milton Glover

Acting Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and
Development), Board member, Neuromonics Ltd 

• As a Board member of Neuromonics Ltd, a compa-
ny in which the University has a minority share-
holding, Professor Glover holds 5,000 Series A
Preference Shares in the company as at 31 December
2003.

Adjunct Professor Peter Browne

Educational consultant, Member of Council

• Adjunct Professor Browne provided consultancy ser-
vices to Curtin in the area of regional education.
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Subsidiary Bodies of Curtin University of Technology

Company Office Bearers Term of Appointment Method of Appointment

Uni Services Professor Eric John Grimsey Indefinite Appointed by Kal P/L (Pty Ltd)
(Director) Uni Services Kalgoorlie Pty Ltd

Mr John Griffiths (Director) Until 23 July 2003 “  
(resigned 23 July 2003)

Ms Llesa Diane Hawke Indefinite “   
(Director & Secretary)

Mr Massimo Montisci Indefinite “  
(from 23 July 2003)

Curtin Consultancy Mr Stephen Phillips Indefinite Appointed by Directors of Curtin
Services (Chairman) Consultancy Services Ltd

Professor Jeanette Hacket Until 4 September 2003 “  
(Director) (resigned 4 September 2003)

Professor Paul Rossiter (Director) Until 18 July 2003 “  
(resigned on 18 July 2003)

Mr Massimo Montisci Indefinite “  
(appointed 4 September 2003)

Professor Bevil Milton Glover Indefinite “ 
(appointed 4 September 2003)



STATEMENTS OF COMPLIANCE 
UNDER STATE GOVERNMENT GUIDELINES

Reports on Customer Outcomes
Customer Group Outcomes

For the purposes of this Report, the term “Customer” is
deemed to include the students and staff of the University.
This Report identifies a number of means that the
University uses to seek out the views of its students and
staff. The outcomes are used by the University to review its
policies and procedures to ensure that valid criticisms and
concerns are addressed and overcome. Refer to Section 8
(Teaching and Learning) on surveys related to students.
Refer also to Section 11 (Staffing and Related Matters) on
staff surveys.

• The Disability Services Plan was reviewed in 2000
and regular monitoring is undertaken by the
University Counsellor (Disability) through an estab-
lished reference group.

• The University’s Ethics, Equity and Social Justice
Committee monitors Equal Employment
Opportunity outcomes. The University is recog-
nised as a preferred employer for women and in
2002 earned a two-year exemption from the need to
lodge yearly reports by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission because of its more than
satisfactory compliance in this area. (see Section 12
Responsible Corporate Citizenship). In 2003, the
Australian Government’s Equal Opportunity for
Women in the Workplace Agency named the
University one of the 100 “Employers of Choice for
Women” in recognition of its support for women
staff.

• The University’s diverse student and staff population
is recognised and celebrated through events con-
ducted throughout the year such as Cultural
Diversity Week. These are expanded upon in the
Community Relations part of Section 12
(Responsible Corporate Citizenship). In the year
under review, Curtin conducted a number of stu-
dent and staff development programs on cultural
awareness. The “Cultural Sensitivity Booklets” pro-
ject commenced in 2002 was continued, with three
additional booklets published. In 2003, the
University further reinforced its commitment to a
diverse employment profile, by the incorporation of
the following statement in all job advertisements: 

“Valuing Diversity and Affirmative Action.
Curtin places particular value on the develop-
ment of its staff and students as ethically respon-
sible citizens of the world. The University is com-
mitted to an informed respect for indigenous

peoples. It has an international outlook and val-
ues diversity. Applications are invited from
women and men who share the University’s val-
ues.”

• The Educational Services for Overseas Students Act
(2001) (C’th) stipulates requirements for institutions
offering their programs to overseas students. The
University’s activities have been audited and found
to be fully compliant.

• Complaints Handling. The University’s policies and
procedures provide avenues for students and staff
who are concerned about their treatment under
those policies and procedures to lodge complaints.
The handling of such complaints is expected to be
managed by those designated as responsible officers
in the relevant procedures. For this reason, no central
statistics are kept on the number of complaints
which are received and handled at the local level.
Within the central Administration, students and
staff may seek the assistance of the Office of Ethics,
Equity and Social Justice, the University Counselling
Service, Student Services or Staff Services to resolve
their issues. The University’s Grievance Resolution
Procedure has a well-articulated process for both stu-
dents and staff who are dissatisfied with the handling
of their complaints at other levels to have the matter
addressed by the Grievance Resolution Officer. In
2003, the Grievance Resolution Officer dealt with
98 formal grievances, of which 52 were from staff
and 46 from students. These figures reflect a 22.2
percent drop in the formal grievances raised during
2002. Specifically, they reflect a drop in formal griev-
ances raised of 29.4 percent from staff and 11.5 per-
cent from students.
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7 CURTIN IN 
FIGURES

The following information illustrates Curtin’s changing
student and staff profile in quantitative terms.

Student activity is expressed as counts of individual stu-
dents, or as the number of “equivalent full-time students”
(EFTSU). The latter is often referred to as “load”. Staff
resources are expressed as the number of full-time equiva-
lent (FTE) staff members employed. The reference dates
used for these student statistics is 31 August – which is the
end of the Commonwealth Department of Education,
Science and Training (DEST) reporting year, and for staff
resources, the record date is the DEST standard of 31
March. Where used, average annual percentage changes are
the compound rate. 

In 2003, for the first time, student data from Curtin’s
Sarawak campus are included in the student profile. This
inclusion is manifest in the increased fee paying interna-
tional off-shore enrolments and EFTSU. Student and staff
information for the Kalgoorlie Vocational Training and
Education Centre (VTEC) operations are also included.

Higher Education Student Profile

In 2003, during the DEST reporting year, Curtin enrolled
35,078 students of which 18,654 were full-time on-cam-
pus students, 15,444 were part-time on-campus students,
and 980 were external (distance education) students.
Overall, they generated a student load of 24,285 equivalent
full-time students (EFTSU).

Between 2002 and 2003 student numbers rose by 4.4
percent and student load (EFTSU) by 5.8 percent. The
number of full-time students rose 7.3 percent and part-
time students by 11.2 percent. However, the number of
external students more than halved.

Over the last 10 years student numbers at Curtin have
increased at an average rate of 5.6 percent annually, whilst
the EFTSU total has grown at an average of 5.7 percent
annually. The rate of growth over the period in full time
and part time was similar.

Figure 1 shows the relative size of the six academic
Divisions. Curtin Business School (CBS) is the largest,
enrolling 13,224 students in 2003 (37.2 percent of
Curtin’s total) and generating 33.9 percent of the total
EFTSUs. Since 1993 CBS has shown the most rapid
growth of all the Divisions with an average annual EFTSU
increase of 7.6 percent, due mainly to its rapid advance
into the international fee-paying student market. 

In 2003, 12,956 EFTSU (53.4 percent) of Curtin’s total
EFTSU were funded through the Higher Education
Contribution Scheme (HECS) and Commonwealth subsi-
dies; 8,776 EFTSU (36.1 percent) were international stu-
dents both on-shore and off-shore (including Curtin
Sarawak), with the remaining 2,554 EFTSU (10.5 percent)
being Australian fee-paying students and Australian research
students enrolled under the Commonwealth Government’s
Research Training Scheme.

Since 1993, postgraduate student enrolments have
grown at an annual average rate of 7.5 percent, rising from
3,923 to 8,065 in 2003. In comparison, the annual average
growth in undergraduate numbers has been slightly under
6 percent pa (from 16,525 to 28,574). Between 2002 and
2003, undergraduate student enrolments rose by 5 percent,
and postgraduates by just over 4 percent. Doctoral enrol-
ments (included in the postgraduate numbers above) con-
tinue to grow, rising from 214 in 1991 to 1,395 in 2003.
Rates of increase in EFTSU over the last 10 years have been
similar to those of enrolments, in all categories. 
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CURTIN IN 
FIGURES

Australian fee-paying postgraduate coursework enrol-
ments increased from 43 in 1993 to 3,776 in 2003. This
corresponds to a load increase from 17.3 EFTSU to
1503.1 EFTSU (see figure 2) and came at a time of reduc-
ing Commonwealth funded load in this area.

Since 1993, the number of female students enrolled
each year has grown at an annual average rate of 6.2 per-
cent. Male student numbers grew at a rate of 5.0 percent
pa on average over the same period. In 2003, 53.8 percent
of Curtin’s students were female, which is similar to the
2002 ratio.

The number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
student enrolments and EFTSU over the last 9 years has
increased at an average annual rate of 1.9 percent and 2.2
percent respectively. Numbers increased from 425 in 1994
to 503 in 2003, at which time these students comprised
1.4 percent of total enrolments and 1.6 percent of total
EFTSU.

Since 1993, the number of fee-paying international stu-
dents enrolled in Curtin courses, both on-shore and off-
shore, has on average grown by 16.5 percent annually.
Their numbers totalled 13,181 in 2003, representing more
than a third of all Curtin enrolments. Of these, 6,927 were
enrolled in off-shore programmes, mainly in Hong Kong,
Malaysia and Singapore.

In 2003 the largest nationality group amongst interna-
tional students was Malaysian with 3,616 enrolments (see
figure 3). Between 2002 and 2003, Malaysian student
numbers were boosted by the inclusion of Curtin Sarawak,
contributing substantially to an 86.3 percent increase in
students from that country (see figure 4). Indicative of the
diversification of nationalities enrolled at Curtin is the

growth of the catch-all ‘Other’ category which stood at
26.2 percent of international enrolments in 2003 com-
pared with 11 percent in 1999. Curtin draws students
from over 95 different countries each year.

At the Curtin University Kalgoorlie Campus, the
Vocational Training and Education Centre enrolled 3712
students generating 777,301 curriculum hours and
555,612 student contact hours in 2003. By mode of study,
29 percent were full-time students (based on a minimum
of 232 enrolled student curriculum hours per semester)
and 71 percent were part-time students.

VET Sector student numbers increased by 11 percent
from 3,357 to 3,712 between 2002 and 2003. ANTA-
funded delivery was 93% of curriculum hours, non-ANTA
funded delivery 0 percent and commercial activity consti-
tuted 7 percent of the total. 48 percent of VTEC enrol-
ments were female and 52 percent were male. Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander enrolments represented over 9
percent of the student body in 2003.

Staff Summary

Curtin employed 2,801 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff in
2003 (see table 1); with 1,304 classified as academic and
1,497 classified as general. The 2003 census showed a
reduction of 20 academic staff FTE and 2 general staff
FTE over the previous year. Curtin’s total staff FTE has
risen by 24 percent since 1994, with the rates of increase of
academic staff levels and general staff levels being similar
(see figure 5). 
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FIGURES

The proportion of continuing and fixed term academic
staff with a doctoral qualification has risen from 28 percent
in 1994 to 48 percent in 2003.

Between 1994 and 2003, the annual average rate of
growth for academic staff was 2.4 percent annually, while
student load (EFTSU) grew at an average of 6.3 percent
annually over the same period. This is reflected in Curtin’s
student load – academic staff ratio, which has increased
from 13.3 to 17.9 (calculation excludes Curtin Sarawak
EFTSU).

The creation of the Kalgoorlie Campus brought staff
from the Vocational Education and Training (VET) sector
into the University. In 2003, there were 117 full-time
equivalent staff in VET operations: 55 classified as acade-
mic and 62 general. (These data are not included in Table
1 figures.)
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Table 1: Curtin Higher Education Full Time Equivalent Staff 2002 � 2003 
by Classification and Appointment (As at 31 March each year)

Full or Fractional Time Staff Hourly Paid/ Total
Continuing/ Fixed Term/ Sessional Staff
Permanent Temporary

Classification 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003
Academic 671 691 366 339 288 274 1325 1304

General Staff 1102 1137 306 280 91 80 1499 1497

Total 1773 1828 672 619 379 354 2824 2801
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8 TEACHING AND 
LEARNING

Curtin University aspires to be a world class university
of technology and teaching and learning is one of the

highly valued core activities of the University. Throughout
2003, the University Teaching and Learning Committee
(UTLC) undertook to revise the current Teaching and
Learning Plan to enable the University to continue to meet
its vision and commitment to excellence in teaching and
learning. The revised Teaching and Learning Plan (2003-
2005) builds on the priorities and objectives of previous
plans and emphasises the central focus on student learning
outcomes to produce Curtin graduates who are strategic
and creative thinkers and who value life long learning. The
Teaching and Learning priorities identified for 2003-2005
will enable the University to address the government ini-
tiatives identified in the higher education reform package.
The new Curtin Teaching and Learning priorities are:

• Improving the quality of teaching and learning by
developing and applying a framework for demon-
strating teaching effectiveness

• Defining and implementing learning outcomes in all
teaching and learning programs

• Benchmarking teaching and learning programs to
improve course and unit design

• Expanding Curtin’s flexible teaching and learning
programs through innovative applications of tech-
nology

Major developments in Teaching and Learning

The following university initiatives contributed to Curtin’s
focus on improving the quality of Teaching and Learning
in 2003.

• The implementation of Academic Senate Forums
and UTLC initiatives throughout the year to
respond to the Commonwealth Government’s high-
er education reform package and proposal to intro-
duce a National Institute of Learning and Teaching
involved a large number of University staff in debates
about the future of Teaching and Learning at Curtin.

Further Academic Senate Forums focused on identi-
fying the future learning environments needed to
ensure quality teaching and learning and new facili-
ties to encourage innovative Teaching and Learning
at Curtin.

• The implementation of the new semester structure
throughout Curtin in 2003 was a major teaching
and learning initiative that involved all academic
staff in the reconceptualisation of the curriculum;
reviewing modes of delivery; and re-thinking assess-
ment and evaluation practices for all courses and
units. This major implementation activity was suc-
cessfully completed over the year and also saw the
introduction of new student Orientation Weeks in
both semesters to ensure students are appropriately
prepared for their learning experiences.

• The review and development of the implementation
of Graduate Attributes into Teaching and Learning
programs and units was incorporated into all Curtin
courses and units. This focus on student learning
outcomes will continue over the next three years as a
major Teaching and Learning initiative and priority
for the University.

• Curtin continued to design and implement innova-
tive new courses, degrees and double degrees to build
on the earlier phase of the consolidated teaching
policies and programs to ensure courses and pro-
grams meet the changing needs of Curtin students
and the business community. Aligned with these
new developments was the introduction of new poli-
cies, procedures and templates for new course devel-
opments managed by the University Courses
Committee. The new policies and procedures
should greatly enhance processes to assist the design,
development, implementation and administration
of new course development.

• The University continued to achieve success in the
development and implementation of new interna-
tional Teaching and Learning markets and programs
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through the delivery of new initiatives into South
East Asia. The negotiation of the successful African
Virtual University project funded through the
Australian Agency for International Development
(AusAID) and the World Bank has seen Curtin
offering a new Business Degree and Diploma in col-
laboration with five partner Universities in northern
Africa. This AVU project, co-ordinated through a
successful collaborative partnership between the
Learning Support Network, Curtin Business School,
School of Education, VTEC Kalgoorlie and Curtin
Consultancy Services, will also provide further
opportunities to assist the University expand the
provision of Teaching and Learning programs into
international markets in Africa.

• The Curtin On-line Learning Development
Committee (OLLD) continued its support of
Divisional initiatives to implement Curtin’s priority
to expand high quality flexible Teaching and
Learning programs. Throughout 2003, the OLLD
project has been developing a Curtin On-line
Learning Strategy which will provide a framework
for future University on-line learning initiatives to
ensure Curtin is meeting the flexible learning needs
of students enrolled in Curtin courses and units.

• Throughout 2003, the Academic Senate continued
to hold seminars to monitor and report on the iden-
tified University corporate measures for Teaching
and Learning. These seminars enabled the
University to monitor the implementation of
Curtin’s Teaching and Learning Plan priorities,
objectives and performance indicators and engage in
discussion and debate on how Curtin can continue
to improve on and achieve quality teaching and
learning outcomes throughout the University.

• The University Learning Effectiveness Alliance
Program (LEAP) projects continued throughout
2003 with three more projects successfully complet-
ing their planned activities. The University Teaching
and Learning Committee endorsed the expansion of
new LEAP initiatives in 2004 and a new round of
Divisional LEAP Project submissions has been
advertised to enable Divisions to address the revised
Teaching and Learning Priorities in the new
University Teaching and Learning Plan (2003-
2005).

The following section reports on the outcomes of
Teaching and Learning initiatives undertaken within each
of the four areas of the new Curtin Planning Framework.

Culture:
• Academic Senate Forums and debates on Teaching

and Learning initiatives and planning Curtin’s future
learning environment.

• Wide use of Curtin Annual Student Satisfaction
Data – providing student feedback on Curtin’s
Teaching and Learning programs.

• The increased number of IT support labs and facili-
ties now provided across the campus.

• Increased attendance by staff at Central, Divisional
and School Teaching and Learning Induction
Programs.

• Improved student Counselling services in regional
campuses.

• Enhanced central Divisional and School Teaching
and Learning staff development and support pro-
grams.

• Continued growth of student enrolments in
International programs, Open Learning Australia
Courses, Distance Education units in line with
Curtin’s improved flexible learning opportunities for
students.

• Revised Curtin Excellence & Innovation in
Teaching. Increased numbers of staff nominating for
the Curtin Teaching Excellence Awards.

• Ongoing work on enhancing cultural diversity
through the integration of indigenous and interna-
tional perspectives into Teaching and Learning cur-
riculum and programs and induction programs.

• Review of the Curtin learning environment under-
taken and teaching and learning facilities upgraded.

Core Activities
• Curtin’s flexible Teaching and Learning programs

have continued to expand the number of courses
and units offered through mixed mode and on-line
delivery.

• There has been a continued focus on curriculum
renewal through the identification and implementa-
tion of student learning outcomes. There have been
major revisions to some Teaching and Learning pro-
grams through the introduction of a common first
year in Engineering, Science and Computing, and
revisions to Curtin Business School programs.

• Curtin continues to expand its efforts to evaluate the
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effectiveness of Teaching and Learning through the
increased use of Student Evaluation of Educational
Quality, and the specific evaluation instruments
developed for Curtin Business School, Engineering
Science and Computing, and the Course Experience
on the Web in Health Sciences. A working party has
been developing a new student evaluation of teach-
ing process and instruments which will encourage
greater student feedback and an enhanced quality
improvement cycle in all Curtin Teaching and
Learning programs.

• The Division of Engineering, Science and
Computing has re-modelled the use of the Teaching
Quality Index to now focus on improving the qual-
ity of teaching in an innovative Divisional approach
to quality improvement.

• The introduction of increased quality assurance
processes by the International Office for all programs
delivered in international markets has been a major
initiative to address Teaching and Learning quality.

• Curtin continues to benchmark its annual Course
Experience Questionnaire and Graduate
Destination Survey results to monitor the effective-
ness of its Teaching and Learning programs. The
Learning Support Network, in collaboration with
the Divisions and their teaching areas, has intro-
duced an innovative program to improve the student
ratings on the CEQ and Curtin Annual Student
Survey (CASS) Teaching and Learning feedback
through its School-based approach to improving
Teaching and Learning quality.

Students and Clients
• The introduction of Orientation Weeks in Semesters

One and Two has been positively received by new-
to-Curtin students. This innovative university-wide
program, together with the introduction of the new
semester structure, has been a major achievement in
addressing student learning needs.

• Curtin has expanded its student learning support
programs and services through the collaborative
work of the Learning Support Network, and
through Divisional Student Support programs, and
continues to support large numbers of local and
international students at both undergraduate and
postgraduate levels.

• The expansion of the student computing laborato-
ries on campus has also been a major improvement
to student computing facilities and services at the
Bentlet Campus.

• Student participation rates in study support pro-
grams offered through the Learning Support
Network, Library and Information Services,
Information Services and the Office of Research and
Development have continued to increase.

• The introduction of the innovative Curtin First Year
Experience Programs have been an extremely suc-
cessful initiative ensuring positive student learning
experiences.

• The Curtin Annual Student Survey (CASS) results
demonstrated increasing student satisfaction with
the Curtin learning environment, Teaching and
Learning programs, and student support services.

• The University Teaching and Learning Committee
completed a major review of Recognised Prior
Learning (RPL) and developed more effective
processes for the articulation of TAFE programs into
Curtin programs.

Financial Security
• Student enrolments in undergraduate and postgrad-

uate courses have demonstrated further growth.

• Enrolments in Distance Education and Open
Learning Australia programs have also achieved
steady growth throughout 2003.

• Enrolments in International off-shore and on-shore
programs have increased.
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• Curtin continues to maintain its leading market
share for prospective Western Australian students
choosing Curtin courses as their first preference.

• Graduations and completion rates for undergradu-
ate programs and Higher Degree Research students
are increasing.

Excellence and Innovation in Teaching Awards 
(EITA) (2003)

These awards were reviewed in 2003 and modified to more
accurately address the priorities in Curtin’s Vision and
Mission Statement and revised University Teaching and
Learning Plan. In 2003, the following staff members
received a framed certificate from the Vice-Chancellor and
a $2000 prize:

• Peter Davis, Department of Construction
Management

• Dr Mark Ogden, School of Applied Chemistry

• Associate Professor Bill Lawrance, Department of
Electrical and Computer Engineering

• Lecturer Andrea Begley, School of Public Health

• Carmela Briguglio, Curtin Business School
Academic Development

• Senior Lecturer Peter Galvin, Graduate School of
Business

• Senior Lecturer David Lee Seng Kieong, Sarawak

• Internet Studies Team, Department of Media and
Information

• Centre for International Health Team

• Muresk Team

• Spatial Science Team, Department of Spatial
Sciences

In addition to these central teaching excellence awards,
a number of Divisions have introduced Divisional Awards
for teaching excellence and the Student Guild Excellence in
Teaching Awards continue to be well supported through-
out the University.

Teaching and Learning Issues and Challenges

In 2003, the issues which continued to challenge Curtin’s
efforts to improve the quality of its Teaching and Learning
programs and services included:

• Staff and student workloads;

• Developing more effective and high-quality student
assessment and evaluation processes and procedures
which more accurately reflect student achievement
of learning outcomes;

• The expanding number of new courses and pro-
grams being designed and delivered at Curtin;

• The implementation of a more effective quality
improvement cycle for all Teaching and Learning
programs, which includes regular student feedback
evaluating the quality of teaching;

• Improving the quality of flexible on-line learning
programs, units and support services, and the provi-
sion of appropriate recurrent resources for develop-
ing new Curtin on-line learning teaching and learn-
ing initiatives to ensure Curtin provides world class
IT programs;

• The provision of appropriate resources and support
services for the increasing number of Curtin’s region-
al student enrolments;

• Ensuring the quality of Curtin’s current and future
Teaching and Learning environment through appro-
priate resourcing of teaching facilities, venues, and
equipment;

• Catering for the diversity of learning needs of all
Curtin students to ensure high-quality learning
experiences for all undergraduate and postgraduate
students.



9 RESEARCH 
AND INNOVATION 

The University Research Management Plan 2001-2005
outlines the University’s strategy to develop key areas

of research strength that dovetail with emerging areas of
national and international significance. The continued
growth in the University’s research, research training and
commercialisation activities underscores the efficacy of the
research and development initiatives contained in the Plan.

In 2003, Curtin achieved impressive research outcomes
that further consolidated its position as a recognised
research institution. Broad areas of strength were empha-
sised in resources and energy, information technology and
communication, life sciences, developmental health and
liveable communities.

Research and Development Highlights
The following are some of the University’s key research
outcomes for 2003:

• In 2003 Curtin was successful in being awarded
funding for two inaugural Western Australian
Premier’s Research Fellowships. This Fellowship
Program aims to attract excellent researchers to WA
from overseas or interstate, to conduct research that
is internationally competitive and of specific benefit
to WA. Each Fellowship is worth $1 million over
four years. The inaugural Fellows, chosen from a
field of 13 applicants, were Professors Julian Gale
and John Mackenzie who will work in the areas of
nanochemistry and biosecurity respectively.

• Researchers from several Divisions are participating
in a new State initiative aimed at establishing a $60
million research centre in Western Australia. The
WA Government, through the Office of Science and
Innovation and in conjunction with the Premier’s
Science Council, established the Western Australian
Major Research Facilities program. Curtin is a pro-
posed participant in each of the ten shortlisted appli-
cations lodged in 2003.

• In October, Curtin opened the Centre for

Sustainable Mine Lakes (CSML). The CSML,
which investigates water quality issues and initiatives
to develop commercially viable approaches for using
mine lakes for tourism, fish farming, tree farming
and horticulture, is supported through a grant of
$1.7 million from the State Government’s Centres of
Excellence program. The Centre is a joint initiative
of Curtin, UWA, Edith Cowan Uinversity,
Murdoch University, Wesfarmers Premier Coal,
Griffin Coal Mining and Sons of Gwalia.

• The new Centre in Applied Organic Geochemistry
(CAOG) was launched in September. CAOG is a
collaboration between Curtin, UWA, Woodside
Energy and the Water Corporation. The centre,
which will conduct organic geochemistry research
primarily in petroleum exploration and water quali-
ty, is supported through a grant of $1.2 million from
the State Government’s Centres of Excellence pro-
gram.

• In September, a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) between Curtin, the AJ Parker Cooperative
Research Centre for Hydrometallurgy and the
Nanochemistry Research Institute was signed. The
MoU sets out the principles for the relationship
between the groups and opens further doors for
Curtin to develop its leading-edge capabilities in
technology development through molecular analy-
sis, modelling and characterisation.

• Researchers from Curtin, UWA, CSIRO and the
WA Museum established the Earth Sciences
Consortium in 2003 to further collaboration in the
geosciences. The consortium includes prominent
associate members including the Geological Survey
of WA, various Cooperative Research Centres and
other research centres.

• The University entered into agreements to facilitate
participation in eight new centres funded under the
Commonwealth’s Cooperative Research Centres
Program, which will lead to the attraction of at least
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$15 million in additional Commonwealth funding
into the University over seven years.

• In 2003 the National Drug Research Institute
(NDRI) was awarded an extension to its funding by
the Commonwealth Department of Health. The
new funding, which extends the support of the
Centre to 2008, is valued at over $8.5 million.

• Curtin researchers won Australian Research Council
funding worth $6.5 million from new awards for the
period 2004 – 2008. Five new Research Fellows were
appointed through the Curtin Research Fellowship
Scheme in 2003, bringing to over 30 the total num-
ber of Fellows currently supported. This scheme
continues to be recognised as one of the most presti-
gious and generous in the Australian higher educa-
tion sector.

• The new Australian Research Council (ARC) Centre
for Perceptive and Intelligent Machines in Complex
Environments was established in 2003 and builds on
Curtin’s research strengths in intelligent technolo-
gies. The Curtin node of the Centre will receive
approximately $5 million in funding from the ARC,
State Government and the University over the next
five years and is the only ARC research centre of its
type with a major node in Western Australia.
Monash University, the University of Melbourne
and the Australian National University will also par-
ticipate in the Centre.

• In September 2003, Curtin – together with UWA
and the CSIRO – signed an agreement to form the
WA Energy Research Alliance (WA ERA). Based at
the Australian Resources Research Centre at
Technology Park, the Alliance will work closely with
industry groups to generate solutions that enhance
outcomes and capabilities for the global oil and gas
industry. The participants share knowledge, skills
and facilities in areas such as sub-surface technology,
drilling and wells, energy facilities and energy sci-
ence. WA ERA will strengthen existing infrastruc-
ture and develop high-quality expertise to enhance
the reputation of WA as a major research and devel-
opment centre in the creation of new energy tech-
nologies.

• The new state-of-the-art Advanced Ultra-Clean
Environment Facility at Curtin was completed in
2003 and will be officially opened early in 2004. The
$2.8 million facility was funded by the Australian
Research Council, UWA and Curtin. The facility is
one of the few places in the world which provides
ultra-clean conditions, in which researchers can pre-

pare and analyse samples for a wide range of scientif-
ic programs, including highly specialised ice samples.

• A new Sensitive High Resolution Ion MicroProbe
(SHRIMP) was installed in 2003. Funded by the
Commonwealth Department of Education through
the Systemic Infrastructure Initiative, Curtin, UWA,
the Geological Survey of WA and the WA State
Government, the new microprobe was installed
alongside the Centre’s current SHRIMP, giving
Curtin two of only ten such instruments in the
world. The research made possible by these new
facilities at Curtin will greatly add to the quality of
the research undertaken for industry, particularly for
the important minerals and petroleum industries.
These facilities will also enable Curtin to maintain
and enhance its international profile in environmen-
tal and geochronology research.

• Curtin recognised the Science and Mathematics
Education Centre (SMEC) as an approved
University Research Institute. Being one of the
world’s largest research units in the field of science
and mathematics education, SMEC hosts one of
Curtin’s largest and most active research groups.

• The University continues to achieve excellent results
from its interaction with the Australian Institute for
Nuclear Science and Engineering (AINSE) with the
award in 2003 of five prestigious postgraduate schol-
arships to Curtin students. Curtin ranks first
amongst Australian universities in accessing this
AINSE program.

Recognition and Awards
As well as the above major developments, Curtin staff and
students continued to receive recognition in the area of
research and development. Some examples are:

• The WA Centre of Excellence in Industrial
Optimisation (WACEIO) has been awarded fund-
ing from the Chinese Higher Education Strategic
Initiative. The Curtin-based WACEIO, a collabora-
tive partnership with the University of Ballarat,
received approximately $161,000 of the $585,000
awarded by the Commonwealth Department of
Education, Science and Training. The funding will
establish and enhance research links between Curtin
and several Chinese universities, with a view to
building long-term collaborations on industrial opti-
misation projects. WACEIO is directed by Professor
Lou Caccetta and is housed within Curtin’s
Department of Mathematics and Statistics.
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• Professor Daniela Stehlik was appointed to the inau-
gural Chair in Stronger Communities at the launch
of the Alcoa Research Centre for Stronger
Communities in July, 2003. Professor Guy
Callender has taken up the State Government sup-
ported Chair in Leadership in Strategic
Procurement. Professor Greg Craven was named as
the University’s new Chair in Government. These
three respected academics join a strong team of
recent appointments to industry-sponsored Chairs,
in areas such as e-Business, Hospitality and Tourism,
Hydrocarbon Research, Human Rights Education
and Transport. It is expected that new Chairs in
Housing and Urban Research, and Urban Design,
will be announced in 2004.

• Professor Barry Fraser, Director of the Science and
Mathematics Education Centre, was the 2003 recip-
ient of the Distinguished Contributions to Science
Education Through Research Award. The award is
the highest honour given by the world’s most presti-
gious association for science education research, the
National Association for Research in Science
Teaching in the United States of America.

• Professor Colin Binns of the Division of Health
Sciences was named Senior West Australian of the
Year. Professor Binns also received the 2003 Public
Health Association (WA Branch) Award at the
Association’s AGM in September. Professor Binns
was recognised for his considerable contributions to
public health in Western Australia.

• Department of Applied Physics staff have been
recognised for their significant contributions to the
Commission of Atomic Weights and Isotopic
Abundances, a Commission within the
International Union of Pure and Applied
Chemistry. Dr Bob Loss, Professor Kevin Rosman
and Emeritus Professor John de Laeter have amassed
more than 32 years of membership between them,
holding key positions in the Commission. Professors

de Laeter and Rosman contributed significantly to
the Commission’s recent review article Atomic
Weights of the Elements: Review 2000, which refers
to 34 publications describing research carried out in
Curtin’s mass spectrometry laboratory.

• Chemical Engineering’s Dr Hari Vuthaluru secured
$250,000 for a major research program with PT
Berau Coal and ECN Netherlands. The project
addresses the remediation of ash-related problems
during combustion of high sodium coals. In addi-
tion, Dr Vuthaluru has received a further $100,000
from ECN Netherlands to set up a cost-shared PhD
scholarship for work in co-firing for the coal indus-
try.

• Dr Nigel Kirby – from the Department of Applied
Physics – has received an Australian Synchrotron
Research Program fellowship grant of around
$70,000 per year. The funding supports Dr Kirby’s
work in developing a better understanding of the
construction of bio-minerals, such as bones and
teeth, for use in developing synthetic materials for
treating a range of health problems.

• World attention focussed on the work of researchers
such as Professor Aileen Plant, who flew into Hanoi
to head up the World Health Organisation’s moni-
toring of the SARS outbreak. Professor Plant took
over from Dr Carlo Urbani, the doctor who identi-
fied SARS and who died from the virus in March
2003. Professor Plant is an internationally recog-
nised expert in the detection and monitoring of
infectious disease outbreaks.

Graduate Studies
Successful consolidation of initiatives from 2002 was a
major feature in 2003. The Enriching Postgraduate
Teaching and Learning Seminar Series coordinated by the
Office of Research and Development ran approximately
monthly and sessions were attended by 226 staff and 151
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Higher Degree by Research (HDR) students. The princi-
ples of the Best Practice Framework for the Facilitation of
Research 2002-2004 underpin this series and also offer
guidance for Divisional efforts to promote excellence in
supervision and other aspects of research training. The
Division of Humanities and the Curtin Business School
ran successful conferences during which HDR students
presented papers on their work. The Division of Health
Sciences also provided HDR students with the opportuni-
ty to display posters of their work at the Mark Liveris
Health Sciences Research Student Seminar.

The first full year of the Australian Technology
Network Learning Aptitudes Employment Program initia-
tive for generic skills training for HDR students saw 105
Curtin students enrolled in the six modules currently avail-
able. This project has underpinned continuing collabora-
tion between the Directors and Deans of Graduate Studies
in the ATN group of universities.

An innovation in 2003 was the awarding of eight
Curtin Completion Scholarships to assist students to com-
plete their thesis by converting to full-time enrolment.
They proved to be effective for distance and part-time stu-
dents who could visit Curtin to spend time with their
supervisor. These scholarships will be continued in 2004.

The number of students completing their research
degrees in 2003 was 216, a significant increase on the totals
of 126 for 2002 and 121 for 2001. In part, this has been
due to the perceived pressure to hasten completions since
the introduction of the Commonwealth Department of
Education, Science and Training’s Research Training
Scheme in 2000, which reduced the time allocation for
research degree completion by one year. A Letter of
Commendation from the Chancellor for the excellence of
their theses was sent to 11 percent of Higher Degree by
Research graduates.

At 31 August 2003, more than 85 percent of Curtin’s
enrolled higher degrees by research students are at the doc-
toral level, and a third are enrolled full-time. Commencer
load has not kept pace with the rate of completions in
2003, and Curtin is significantly under its target enrolment
for HDR load. The decision to offer full-fee waivers to
master by research students from 2004 may assist the
recovery of some master programs where fees for Australian
students have been a deterrent to enrolment.

Commercialisation
Under the Ownership of Intellectual Property policy, the
University implemented a formal process of notification
and assessment of Intellectual Property (IP), monitored

through the Intellectual Property Committee. In 2003
there were five formal declarations of IP and a total of 24
projects were under active management. There are cur-
rently 50 patents on the University Patents Register. Some
major outcomes for the year include the formation of two
new spin-off companies (Neuromonics Ltd and Cool
Energy Pty Ltd), a new licence agreement with QPSX
Communications Pty Ltd and the renegotiation of the
Curtin-Woodside Collaborative Research Agreement to
form the Woodside-Curtin Research Alliance.

Andrew Pasquale – who received his BSc in Electrical
Engineering from Curtin in 2003 – has been included in
the 2003 Engineers Australia Heroes honour roll. Pasquale
was named for his development of a prototype portable
scanner that converts Braille to English text. The scanner
will assist teachers who can’t read Braille but have blind stu-
dents in their mainstream classes. Last year, Pasquale won
the WA category of the 2002-2003 Siemens Prize for
Innovation.

Associate Professor Don Ibana, who leads WASM’s
Nickel Hydrometallurgy Research Group, has successfully
conducted a plant trial that tested the use of antiscalants in
controlling calcium precipitation in the Direct Solvent
Extraction (DSX) of nickel, a widely favoured processing
technique. The research addresses one of the major prob-
lems hindering the optimisation of DSX and could have a
significant impact on the use of DSX and the productivity
of the nickel industry. Associate Professor Ibana carried out
the research in collaboration with a Kalgoorlie nickel 
producer.
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International Office

Under the direction of the Pro-Vice Chancellor
(International and Enterprise), Professor Jeanette

Hacket, the International Office (IO) has responsibility for
University-wide leadership, planning, support and coordi-
nation of Curtin’s international activities, including policy
formulation and monitoring, quality assurance, student
recruitment and admissions, onshore student support ser-
vices, and alternative pathways for University entry. The
IO also assists Divisions to develop international networks
and partnerships for the delivery of offshore programs and
to provide opportunities for international experiences to
Curtin staff and students. The IO is certified to ISO
9001:2000 for all of its operations.

Curtin increased its international onshore enrolments
in 2003 (by around 1000 to 6487 (headcount), and sig-
nificantly increased enrolments from the developing mar-
kets of China, Africa, and Europe. Curtin is the third
largest Australian higher education provider to interna-
tional students. The IO provides central coordination for
international marketing and recruitment through:

• development and execution of the International
Marketing Plan in consultation with Divisions
through the International Marketing Management
& Review Group;

• facilitation of Country Reference Groups for review
and strategic planning of activities in specific coun-
tries/regions;

• recruitment and management of agents worldwide
(318 in 2003);

• participation in and coordination of international
recruitment exhibitions in collaboration with
Divisions;

• client relationship management via an E-Service
Centre;

• delivery of on-going training for Divisional staff par-
ticipating in offshore recruitment activities;

• production of the International Prospectus for stu-
dent recruitment.

The IO made more than 7700 offers (up more than
1400) to international students in 2003. Admissions ser-
vices for prospective students include:

• information on courses, fees and entry requirements,
including visas and health insurance;

• processing applications for enrolment;

• assessment of qualifications and prior learning, in
consultation with Divisions as required;

• issuing offers, invoices and Confirmation of
Enrolment letters;

• advice on alternative pathways to Curtin.

Curtin increased its enrolment by 30 to 157 Australian
Development Scholarship students from a range of devel-
oping countries in the Asia-Pacific region in 2003 – 51 of
them new students. The IO AusAID team provides a com-
plete package of enrolment, settlement and support ser-
vices, including:

• liaison with overseas posts regarding applications,
arrivals, departures, award variations;

• enrolment, settlement, academic support and advi-
sory services for students

• monitoring student progress and satisfaction rates;

• oversight of student relationships with Curtin staff
and services;

• contractual reporting and liaison with AusAID’s
Canberra Office.

An increasing number of both outbound and inbound
students undertake Study Exchange and Study Abroad.
Inbound Study Abroad numbers increased around 11 per-
cent from 231 in 2002 to 261 in 2003. Services provided
include:

• regular small group seminars to inform students of
opportunities for outbound international mobility;

• online advice, enrolment procedures, credit transfer
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and counselling for inbound and outbound stu-
dents;

• assisting Divisions in the preparation of UMAP
(University Mobility in the Asia Pacific) applications,
and finalisation and implementation of contracts if
successful.

The planning and development of relations with over-
seas universities is managed through the IO which drafts
and arranges approval of memorandums of understanding
(MoUs) for student exchange, study abroad, staff
exchange, and academic/research cooperation (for Schools,
Divisions, or University-wide). Forty-six MoUs for
Academic Cooperation or Student/Staff Exchange across
12 countries were signed in 2003.

Quality assurance and compliance issues in internation-
al education grow more complex by the day – and poten-
tially more expensive if there are failures in the system. The
International Office plays a key role in ensuring that the
University meets its obligations under Curtin’s own policies
and the regulations of Australian and International govern-
ments, through: 

• review and coordination of approvals for documen-
tation required under the International Education
Services (IES) Policy for assessment of new interna-
tional programs delivered through a collaborator.
Fourteen new contracts were signed in 2003. A sig-
nificant agreement was with the African Virtual
University;

• Annual Reviews under the IES Policy of Curtin’s
programs delivered to international students
through collaborators. Reviews were undertaken on
53 programs in 2003;

• information campaigns and training for Curtin staff
on the implications and obligations under the
Education Services for Overseas Students (ESOS)
Act;

• maintaining registration of all Curtin courses on the
Commonwealth Department of Education, Science
and Training CRICOS register;

• monitoring ESOS compliance of all publications for
international students.

Curtin Sarawak
Following the official opening of the new campus in
September 2002, the Curtin Sarawak campus consolidat-
ed operations at Lutong with staff and students settling
into the new campus environment. Two new courses were
offered in 2003, the Bachelor of Technology (Computer
Systems Networking) and the Bachelor of Arts (Mass

Communication). One new stream within the Bachelor of
Commerce, in Tourism Management and Marketing was
also offered. Engineering courses advanced another year,
with the campus now having final year classes in Chemical
Engineering and Electronic & Communication
Engineering, while Computer Systems Engineering and
Electrical Engineering students moved into third year and
Civil and Mechanical Engineering were offered at second
year level.

A graduation ceremony was held in May 2003 with 52
degree students graduating. In 2003, the first group of
Engineering students completed of their degrees, namely
eight Chemical Engineering and four Electrical
Engineering students, while about 80 Commerce students
completed their course.

The total number of students for 2003 was 1410 com-
pared to 964 in 2002.

The quality and experience of the Sarawak Campus
staff continues to increase, with current staff numbers at 80
academic and 104 general. Over 80 percent of tertiary aca-
demic staff are involved in research activities.

The Premier of Western Australia visited the campus in
May, at which time a ceremony was held to name the main
lecture theatre the “Harry Perkins Lecture Theatre” in
recognition of the contribution the late Chancellor made
to the establishment and growth of the Sarawak Campus. 

Curtin International College
Curtin International College (CIC), on the Bentley cam-
pus, is operated collaboratively with a private provider. The
College offers a range of Certificate and Diploma courses
that articulate to degrees in Curtin’s Divisions. Upon com-
pletion of a Diploma, students receive advanced standing
of up to one year. The College continues to grow in
strength with an enrolment of 1,334 (head count) in
Semester 1 2003 compared with 938 (head count) for the
same period in 2002. The administrative and IT facilities
of the College were expanded in 2003 ensuring facilities are
adequate for future growth. To date, since the establish-
ment of CIC in 2000, over 800 CIC students have articu-
lated into degree programs.
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RELATED MATTERS

Staff Matters
1 Enterprise Bargaining
Curtin staff are employed under the provisions of two sep-
arate Certified Agreements. The term of each of the
Agreements has expired and the University commenced
bargaining with the relevant unions with a view to certify-
ing new Agreements for the coming three-year period. As
a sign of good faith, and because the details of further
Agreements could not be finalised prior to the new higher
education legislation, the University granted a three per-
cent salary increase to all employees on October 1 2003,
with the view that this would form part of any increases
negotiated in the new Agreements. 

There has been some ongoing uncertainty during 2003
in the area of workplace relations because of the
Commonwealth Government’s higher education reforms
and the impact on workplace relations. It is expected that
the clarification received in the legislation finalised at the
end of 2003 will see the way clear to progress the agree-
ments in a timely manner. Negotiating committees repre-
senting management and unions are hopeful of finalising
new Agreements in 2004.

Curtin is committed to maintaining a motivated and
competitive workforce. The Quality of Working Life
Survey has provided negotiating committee members with
a valuable resource to consider when looking at reforms
that are warranted. The workload issue is an important one
to consider along with maintaining a family-friendly work-
ing environment so that ‘life balance’ is valued. The issue
of workplace flexibility is also being addressed in the dis-
cussions.

2 ‘Valuing Curtin Staff ’ Plan
The University’s ‘Valuing Curtin Staff ’ Plan sets a blue-
print for leadership and people management strategies to
ensure we have a distinctive competitive edge and the
desired people capabilities to meet the University’s objec-
tives. The plan encompasses strategies to:

• Attract and retain key excellent staff;

• Develop an internationally focussed workforce;

• Promote University values and ethical principles;

• Support innovation and continuous improvement;

• Invest in staff development and skills training.

The plan received a commendation in the 2002 AUQA
review and progress on specific objectives and initiatives is
reviewed regularly by the executive committees. A presen-
tation to the Academic Senate in December 2003 was very
well received and there is clear evidence that staff have
adopted the intent of the Plan.

3 Quality of Working Life Survey
In the later part of 2002, and as part of the Valuing Curtin
Staff Plan strategy, the University conducted a survey offer-
ing every staff member the opportunity to present their
views on key aspects of their work and work environment.
Just over 83 percent of the University’s general staff and 68
percent of the academic staff indicated they were satisfied
with their job at Curtin – overall a very pleasing outcome
given the enormous changes both within the higher edu-
cation sector and at Curtin in the past few years. The dif-
ference in experience for academic and general staff was
evident throughout the survey results with academic staff
tending to respond more negatively. This is consistent with
other similar survey findings across the higher education
sector. The issues raised by employees have been discussed
in the relevant committees and are being addressed in var-
ious ways.

The main issues raised and which are now receiving
attention are:

• concern with workload (particularly for academic
staff); 

• dissatisfaction with opportunities for promotion and
career prospects; 

• concern with organisational change and trust in
senior management;

• insufficient feedback to assist effective work perfor-
mance and development;

• concern with the level of recognition and support for
quality teaching; and

• lack of time to conduct research of a high standard.

Reports will be provided to Academic Senate on the
progress of the above ‘hot topics’ with additional surveys as
required to explore some matters in greater detail. 

Student Matters
4 Higher Education Information Management
System (HEIMS)
During 2003, Student Services had a significant involve-
ment in national discussions on the Commonwealth
Government’s higher education reforms, and in particular
the government’s proposed Higher Education Information
Management System (HEIMS). HEIMS will have a sig-
nificant impact on the University in 2004 and 2005, with
an ambitious implementation schedule for several far-
reaching changes.

Curtin is represented at the HEIMS Senior Executive
Group (Professor Jane den Hollander) and the HEIMS
System Advisory Committee (Mr John Langsford) and
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maintains contact with members of the HEIMS Business
Advisory Committee. 

Curtin’s main interactions with HEIMS will be in four
main areas:

• Allocation and validation of Commonwealth
Higher Education Student Support Numbers for
Commonwealth supported students;

• Management of Student Learning Entitlements
(SLEs);

• Statutory reporting of student enrolment, load and
liability information; and 

• Provision of course, unit and fee information for the
HEIMS Public Portal.

The changes to statutory reporting will be significant
and there is likely to an additional financial impost to be
borne by the University.

5 Amenities and Services Fee (ASF)
The Amenities and Services Fee (ASF) was implemented at
Curtin at the beginning of 2003. Despite difficulties,
inevitable when any new legislation is implemented, the
University invoiced and collected fees from enrolled stu-
dents and has since passed these funds onto the Student
Guild as required. In total 27,854 students were invoiced,
$2,136,618 was received by the University with $137,691
(2052 students) remaining outstanding.

While all of this was achieved, implementation in this
first year was not without difficulties. It was agreed at the
outset that a review of the first year of implementation
would take place and hence a report is due to be presented
to the University Council at its first meeting in 2004.

The major issue of contention with the ASF has been
the Administrative Charge levied by the University to cover
the cost of collection of fees. Whilst there is a need to be
reasonable, there is also a need to recoup the full costs of
collection so as to ensure cost neutrality and safeguard
against the re-direction of recurrent Commonwealth
Funds from their intended purpose. The Administrative
Charge for 2003, taking into account initial start-up costs,
was $130,000.

In 2003, there were 98 applications for payment by
instalment/special arrangements based on hardship. All
applications were successful. Additionally, 37 students were
charged an ASF in 2003 but chose to opt out of the
Student Guild resulting in $3115 being withheld from the
Student Guild.

6 New Semester Structure Project
During 2003, a new semester structure was introduced. It
was accompanied by substantial curriculum reform. Just

over 6,000 active units were reviewed to ensure they could
be taught in the new 12-week semester structure and to
update unit outlines and other information. Most
Divisions also reduced the number of units (not courses)
offered. Additionally, the academic calendar was reorgan-
ised to better meet the learning needs of Curtin students.
This project encompassed a significant and critical reform
agenda and the teaching staff in particular are to be com-
mended for their work in achieving a successful outcome
for the University.

Alongside the new structure the Student Relations port-
folio was developed to ensure that the issues related to first
year transition and implications of the curriculum reform
would be addressed. This has resulted in the development
of an orientation and O-week program, resulting in over
6,000 new-to-Curtin students attending orientation activ-
ities during semesters one and two. These included acade-
mic and social activities as well as access to an O-week web-
site (recently cited nationally as an exemplar of best prac-
tice). The program has since been reviewed and improve-
ments implemented for the 2004 academic cycle.

7 eServices to students
In November 2003, a major improvement to the delivery
of electronic services to Curtin students was implemented.
At 8 am on Saturday 1 November, the new student web
portal – OASIS – went live.

OASIS – Online Access to Student Information
Systems – was developed to provide students with a single
gateway to electronic services provided to them by the
University. This project involved extensive consultation
with stakeholders across the University, including student
input, and was the result of a comprehensive planning
process over the preceding 12 months. OASIS was deliv-
ered on time and on budget.

The new Official Communication Channel within
OASIS provides a secure, reliable and cost-effective means
of communicating with students and will become the pri-
mary means of communication in the future.

In addition, all students have been provided with a per-
sonal email account within OASIS and can access their stu-
dent record, including enrolment and results information,
and learning management systems. Enhancements to
OASIS and the services provided are being implemented
on an ongoing basis.

The implementation of OASIS is a major advance in
delivering state of the art eServices to Curtin students.
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12 RESPONSIBLE 
CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

Curtin’s values, as espoused in its Vision and Mission
statement in the 2000 - 2005 Strategic Plan, reflect its

commitment to social justice, ethical behaviour, responsive
and responsible links with the wider community, cultural
diversity, and an informed respect for Indigenous peoples.
During 2003, Curtin continued to show its commitment
to these values in a variety of ways, from its selection
processes through to active partnering with organisations
which share its values.

Of significance in this area is the fact that in 2003,
Curtin was again named as one of the 100 organisations
(selected from some 2,600 organisations) cited as
Employers of Choice for Women by the Commonwealth
Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency
(EOWA). This nomination is given to women-friendly
companies with Equal Opportunity programs that recog-
nise and facilitate the advancement of their female work-
force. In accordance with an exemption won in 2002, the
University did not make a report for the year, under the
Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Act
1999 (C’th). This exemption was granted by the Equal
Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency in
recognition of the University’s efforts to achieve equal
opportunity for female staff.

Ethics, Equity and Social Justice
Curtin’s Guiding Ethical Principles provide the basis upon
which Curtin pursues achievement of its Vision, Mission
and Goals. The adoption of these principles articulates
ways in which the University and its members may coex-
ist, cooperate and collaborate to form a community in
which everyone’s rights are observed and protected. 

Curtin’s commitment to ethical behaviour and social
justice is included within its Mission and outlined in sev-
eral other University-wide statements, including an Ethics
and Social Justice Commitment Statement, a
Reconciliation and Commitment Statement, a Student
Charter, an Indigenous Employment Strategy and an
Aboriginal Education Strategy. The objectives of these doc-
uments include respect for the unique circumstances of

and contributions made by Indigenous Australian people;
achieving equality of opportunity in education and
employment for all; recognition of the rights, and respect
for the dignity of all individuals; and enhancing diversity in
gender, age, culture, beliefs, attitudes, language and social
circumstances.

Curtin recognises the vital role played by women in the
workplace and acknowledges the unique challenges
women face within the work environment. In keeping
with our vision to be a leading edge, world-class university
of technology, Curtin is firmly dedicated to promoting
equal opportunity for women. The University achieves this
by continually developing, implementing and reviewing
proactive employment initiatives that advance the work-
place for women. 

Curtin was awarded the prestigious EOWA Employer
of Choice for Women Award in 2002 and again in 2003.
Curtin is committed to maintaining this achievement,
which demonstrates good business practice and will assist
in the attraction and retention of excellent and highly
skilled staff. This is crucial in such a competitive market-
place and particularly in attracting women to Western
Australian universities.

The Office of Ethics, Equity and Social Justice (EE&SJ)
has developed and implemented the University Ethics,
Equity and Social Justice Operational Plan with objectives
that will develop and sustain a culture that:

• Supports an ethical, equitable and socially just envi-
ronment that is free from discrimination and harass-
ment; 

• Values diversity and supports a culturally and socially
diverse student and staff population; and

• Ensures a culturally and socially diverse staff popula-
tion by providing human resource management
processes that reflect the principles of ethics, equity
and social justice, and by providing affirmative action
initiatives to enhance diversity in the workplace.

A range of policies have been developed and imple-
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mented to promote equal opportunity and these are con-
tinually reviewed and updated, as are policies relating to
recruitment and selection. 

EE&SJ has helped develop and facilitate training to
ensure staff and students are aware of their rights and
responsibilities in relation to the elimination of discrimina-
tion and harassment. 

The University has in place a grievance resolution pro-
tocol and trained Harassment Contact Officers and
Grievance Conciliators in each Division are available to
provide advice and/or conciliation to students and staff.
EE&SJ also provides advice and guidance as requested.

Of particular note in 2003 were the following develop-
ments:

• Advertisements for vacant positions now include the
following statement:

“Valuing Diversity and Affirmative Action. Curtin
places particular value on the development of its staff
and students as ethically responsible citizens of the
world. The University is committed to an informed
respect for Indigenous peoples. It has an international
outlook and values diversity. Applications are invited
from women and men who share the University’s val-
ues”.

• A pro-active partnership with the Department of
Employment and Workplace Relations to increase the
number of Indigenous Australian staff in the
University, in both academic and general staff posi-
tions. The Structured Training and Employment
Projects (STEP) aims to facilitate the employment of
22 Indigenous Australian staff between 2003 – 2006;

• Academic promotion workshops and interviews were
held and targeted at women in particular; 

• The Office of Equal Employment Opportunity (WA)
undertook an EEO Climate Survey at Curtin. Issues
relevant to women were analysed, including parental
leave, flexible work patterns, work and family, securi-
ty and harassment. Many of these issues are embedded
in the Certified Agreements for both general and aca-
demic staff and the EE&SJ continues to negotiate on
these matters as Agreements are renegotiated;

• In addition, staff were invited to provide input into
Curtin’s response to the Commonwealth Government
Issues Paper, “Pregnancy Enquiry: Inquiry into
Pregnancy and Work” and to identify issues of con-
cern to women at Curtin;

• EE&SJ produced and distributed a range of informa-
tional material throughout the University to commu-

nicate Curtin’s Guiding Ethical Principles, Equal
Opportunity Policy, Diversity Policy, and other guide-
lines and initiatives relating to ethics, equity and social
justice. This is in keeping with EE&SJ’s ongoing
efforts to educate University members about their
rights and responsibilities within these areas. 

• A new Parenting Room was established and this ini-
tiative is ongoing;

• Relevant policies were reviewed and monitored as part
of EE&SJ’s ongoing evaluation;

• Training was provided for members of selection pan-
els on appropriate selection processes to ensure proce-
dural fairness in selection exercises;

• EE&SJ implemented a number of courses for staff
and students designed to promote awareness of equi-
ty and diversity issues;

• Assistance and advice was provided to students and
staff seeking clarity on whether their concerns consti-
tuted grievances;

• EE&SJ actively promoted employment of people
from target equity groups throughout the University;

• HEEP grants were available to support initiatives con-
tained in the Ethics, Equity and Social Justice Plan, for
new programs to support access and retention of stu-
dents from target equity groups;

• Temporary Protection Visa (TPV) Scholarships were
established to assist refugees – a marginalised group –
access to higher education. This accords with the
University’s long-standing, formal commitment to
ethics and social justice and enhances Curtin’s human-
itarian role in the local and international community;

• Cultural Sensitivity Notes were published to assist
staff in understanding the complexities of the many
different societies and cultures of the world. The first
publications developed in the series were for Saudi
Arabia, Oman and United Arab Emirates. This pro-
ject is ongoing.

• EE&SJ coordinated presentations to staff about the
cultural sensitivities of specific countries. These
formed part of the training requirement for staff
involved in international marketing activities.

• The AVCC Senior Women’s Register was maintained
and continues to be an excellent tool for sourcing
appropriately skilled women. 

• The Vice-Chancellor continued to champion the pro-
motion and celebration of the achievements of
women. Performance reviews of senior managers and
line managers were linked to their area’s outcomes in
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relation to performance indicators in the University’s
Strategic Plan, including issues for women in the
workplace and the elimination of discrimination and
harassment; and

• To support the Managing for Continuous
Improvement and Growth (MCIG) process, Work
Development Plans were developed. These plans are
designed to clarify expectations and support provided
to staff by managers to ensure management are made
accountable for the support and development of their
staff.

Ethics, Equity and Social Justice Events
Curtin’s ongoing activities in support of its values and pro-
motion of student and staff diversity included the follow-
ing:

International Women’s Day
This is an occasion for women across the world to come
together to celebrate the gains women have made to access
their current position and to take action on relevant issues.
Around 80 students and staff attended a breakfast to hear
a guest speaker, award-winning Australian author, human
rights activist and social commentator, Hanifa Deen, who
spoke on the topic, “Invisible Women: Outside the Pages of a
Feminist Textbook”.

Cultural Diversity Day 
Curtin again celebrated the annual Cultural Diversity Day
on 21 March. In 2003, this day fell on the International
Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination. A series
of events, including a breakfast, cultural performances,
music, displays and international food stalls took place.

Cultural Diversity Day was opened by the Vice-
Chancellor, Professor Twomey, at a breakfast where
Professor Jim Ife, the inaugural Dr Haruhisa Handa
Professor of Human Rights Education within the Division
of Humanities, spoke on the topic, “How to Maintain
Harmony in the Current Climate of Fear”.

The new Temporary Protection Visa Scholarship was

launched. Prizes were awarded for the Staff Cross-Cultural
Curriculum Competition and Student Cross-Cultural
Writing Competition. Cultural Sensitivity Notes for Saudi
Arabia, Oman and the United Arab Emirates were
launched.

There was a symposium “Obesity in the Modern World –
Perspectives from Japan and Australia” held in the BankWest
Theatre.

Refugee Week 
A range of events were held on campus on 22 October to
observe Refugee Week 2003. These events helped to raise
awareness of the global plight of refugees and included
information displays, a screening of a post-war Afghanistan
documentary, “Return to Kandahar” and a presentation by
highly-regarded international aid worker, Phil Sparrow.

International Day of people with a
DisABILITY 
Curtin celebrates this day annually and in 2003, EE&SJ
coordinated a series of events in partnership with the
Counsellor (Disability), the Student Guild, the
Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering and
students. The guest speaker, Pryia Cooper, a John Curtin
Medallist and Curtin graduate, delivered a motivational
speech to students and staff in attendance. A group for stu-
dents with disabilities – “Equal Footing” – was launched
and activities were provided in the laboratory at the
Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering.

2003 Clare Burton Memorial Lecture
Dr Louise Morley presented the 2003 Clare Burton
Memorial Lecture on “Sounds and Silences: Gendered
Change in Higher Education” 

ATN WEXDEV 2003 Research Conference
This two-day conference hosted by the University on 25-
27 June 2003 and organised by the Curtin Leadership
Program provided an opportunity to assess current research
on gender and academic work. Major issues facing women
as researchers – late entry into academic life, conflicting

42



RESPONSIBLE 
CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

demands, concentrations in fields with limited access to
major funds and less access to powerful networks were the
themes of the conference. The conference offered oppor-
tunities to hear reflections on careers and practical sessions
to develop individual capacity.

Annual Ethics Lecture 
The Annual Ethics Lecture 2003 was presented by The
Hon Chief Justice David Malcolm AC. He presented to a
large audience on, “Justice, Business and Ethics: In Search of
Business Ethics”. 

Ethics, Equity and Social Justice Prize
The annual Ethics, Equity and Social Justice Prize is award-
ed to the section of the University which has made the
most outstanding contribution towards improving ethical
practice, equity for students and staff and/or social justice
in the previous year in one of the priority areas identified
in the University’s Ethics, Equity and Social Justice Plan.
The specific focus for the 2003 Ethics, Equity and Social
Justice Prize was for initiatives that provided students with
a strong ethics, equity and social justice perspective in
learning outcomes.

The high quality of the entries received led to the prize
being awarded to two submissions in 2003. The recipients
were:

• The School of Public Health, in recognition of its
proactive initiative in providing students with a strong
Ethics, Equity and Social Justice perspective in learn-
ing outcomes through its Health Science
Communication unit; and

• The Department of Art, in recognition of its respon-
siveness and inclusiveness in creating a learining env-
iornment for the profoundly deaf.
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The University recognises that a move to a more strate-
gic and integrated approach to communication is

integral to the realisation of its Vision, Mission and Goals.
The Corporate Communications plan reflects and
acknowledges that universities are under increasingly close
scrutiny, and the focus on quality issues means that uni-
versities have to be more accountable. In addition, the
rapid increase and development of technology means that
the extent and level of communication between the
University and its stakeholders has increased. Curtin must
position itself to respond to these changes and demands,
and the following activities reflect some of the steps taken
to enhance the communication and partnership functions
of the University.

• A three-year University-wide marketing plan was
developed and endorsed by the Planning and
Management Committee, the first time such a plan
has been passed. As part of this Plan, the role of
University Marketing has been more clearly defined
in relation to Divisional marketing activities, with
University Marketing now given primary responsi-
bility for brand management, and Divisions focus-
ing on student recruitment.

• The first-ever University-wide mass media brand
campaign – focusing on billboard, cinema and TV
advertising – was conducted under the banner of
‘Curtinnovation’. Pre- and post-campaign research
showed a high level of awareness of the campaign
after only a relatively short space of time. It also
showed that the campaign has been enormously suc-
cessful in removing uncertainties in the market place
about what differentiates Curtin from other Western
Australian universities. 

• A university-wide communications strategy was
developed.

• A comprehensive brand hierarchy project was begun
to look at how the Curtin brand is used to promote
the University’s different offerings to its different
audiences to best manage reputation and risk.

• A major review and expansion of the University’s
media policy was undertaken to ensure that staff are
clear about their roles and responsibilities when deal-
ing with the media. This will help to manage the
potentially significant risk associated with the man-
agement of the University’s public profile. 

• A program was developed to establish a range of
opportunities for the senior executive to meet with
colleagues from the corporate and government sec-
tors in order to raise the profile of Curtin and its pro-
grams.

• There were increased efforts to link research oppor-
tunities to suitable corporate or government partners
and to liaise and promote the industry funded pro-
fessorial chairs within Curtin to both the University
community and external clients.

• A significant program was undertaken to market and
promote the regional campuses concept to the cor-
porate and government sectors.

• A successful campaign was undertaken to raise sub-
stantial funds to build the innovative and unique
scheme to enhance and develop the experience of
first year students within the Division of
Engineering, Science and Computing by establish-
ing an Engineering Studio concept.

• 2003 saw the consolidation of the rebirth of
CurtinFM and a consolidation of the station’s
finances. The station has worked within the para-
meters of its six-year approved University Business
Plan. Expenditure was within budget estimates and
income exceeded expectations, primarily through
the generation of additional sponsorship income.
The target of some $300,000 was exceeded and the
income for the year from this source was approxi-
mately $500,000.

• During 2003 the finalisation of the full conversion
of CurtinFM from an AM station to an FM station
occurred. This was a prolonged process. However,
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the station commenced broadcasting on full FM
power in August. This was very warmly received by
all associated with the station, especially listeners and
sponsors and has certainly assisted the station to
attract new listeners and sponsors.

• Alumni Relations expanded the use of the Raiser’s
Edge database as a tool for better managing events
and relationships with alumni, organisations, and
friends to Corporate Communications, Office of the
Vice-Chancellor, and Health Sciences’ Divisional
Office. Commitment was received from Curtin
Business School, the Muresk Institute, the
Graduations and Careers areas of Student Services,
and Curtin Advantage to implement Raiser’s Edge in
2004. Complementing this was the end of a 12-
month process to import data from previous systems
to the current system, enabling us to ascertain the
area of study for past graduates. The trickle down
effect to the Divisions was an average 114 percent
increase in known courses of study for alumni.
Alongside this, Alumni Relations continued to drive
the process to increase valid addresses with the result
that valid addresses increased from 22,563 to 53,937
(June to June); the average increase in valid address-
es for the Divisions was a significant 154 percent.

• Taking advantage of the University’s designation as
an Income Tax Exempt Charity, Alumni Relations
led the move to register the University under
Australia Post’s two-year-old program of domestic
Charity Mail – the first university in Western
Australia to do so. The program offers the University
a substantial cost savings for mail – from $0.45/piece
to as little as $0.30/piece. Alumni Relations benefit-
ed with a postage savings of $34,000 in 2003.
Coupled with this, by utilising our partners for over-
seas mailings, another $16,000 was saved. It is
expected that the University as a whole could bene-
fit in 2004 with savings of $250,000+ if these mea-
sures are introduced University wide.

• Alumni Relations completed an 18-month process
to develop a strict set of policies and procedures gov-
erning Alumni Networks (ie Chapters and
Branches). Among other things, these new policies
and procedures provide direction on how such
groups may be established, purposes and require-
ments for such groups, operational issues including
fiduciary responsibilities and relationship between
them and the University, issues of insurance and lia-
bility, event planning protocols, and matters pertain-
ing to information sharing and storage. Prior to this,

the University’s Alumni Networks Program had
operated without defined policies and procedures.

Community Relations
Curtin works extensively with the local and wider com-
munity in a bid to find creative solutions to social and
community problems. Many areas of Curtin work with
community groups, and one of these is Corporate
Communications. Some of the community outreach activ-
ities contributed to by the Corporate Communications
group included:

• A highly successful Open Day – the University’s first
in more than 12 years – which brought more than
15,000 visitors to the Bentley campus from all sec-
tors of the community and showcased its courses
and facilities. Broad support has been shown for
making this an annual event and an Open Day will
be held in 2004. 

• Two editions of the University’s new magazine,
CITE, were published in 2003, following the launch
of the publication in December 2002. The maga-
zine’s visually arresting style and its focus on issues of
broad relevance to the general public marks a signif-
icant shift in the way the University promotes itself
to the external community, and is proving highly
successful with its target audience of business, com-
munity groups, government and the general public.

• The University held a highly successful and memo-
rable John Curtin Medals ceremony, recognising the
significant contribution of members of the commu-
nity whose work reflects the values of the University’s
namesake, John Curtin. This year the medals were
awarded to John Fawcett for his humanitarian work
with the sick and poor in Indonesia, and Foodbank
WA Manager Doug Paling, who collects previously
wasted food around the State and distributes it to the
needy. 

• The University “officially” participated in the City to
Surf Fun Run, encouraging the wide participation of
staff in this major public fundraising event, and
building staff morale through the collective wearing
of ‘Curtinnovation’ t-shirts. Nearly 500 staff and
associates competed under the Curtinnovation logo
The aim is to double this number in 2004.

• The Development team worked with the Division
of Humanities to drive the successful appointment
of the Chair in Stronger Communities to the Alcoa
Research Centre and to assist in progressing oppor-
tunities and alignment of the Chair with industry
and government sources. 
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• The Development Office secured sponsorship for
the international travel component of the John
Curtin Scholars program to enable the students to
access this element of the program during their time
at Curtin.

• The Development Office continued to work with
various areas to develop and enhance campus devel-
opment opportunities with the government and cor-
porate sectors in order to encourage these agencies to
align with the University.

• CurtinFM continued to proudly support a whole
range of community groups from interviews on air
to on air promotions of their work. Some groups
that were supported included, Carers WA, Grow
WA, Fire and Emergency Services, Santa’s workshop,
wheel chairs for kid and, Balga Cares.

• 2003 was the first year of the collaborative agree-
ment between Retirees WA and CurtinFM through
the presentation of the “seeking solutions” Access
Program. This collaboration is working well and is
an important conduit to this particular demograph-
ic for both the Station and Retirees WA.

• CurtinFM had between 60-70 volunteers who
assisted with all facets of the Station’s operations each
week, both on air and off air. 2003 saw many new
volunteers join the ranks, many of whom had been
students who were looking to gain valuable experi-
ence in the media.

• In an effort to increase/improve communication and
connectedness with our stakeholders, Alumni
Relations initiated and implemented CurtinLINK
Plus, an email newsletter. Providing a more regular
and timely complement to the twice-yearly
CurtinLINK magazine, CurtinLINK Plus was pro-

duced and distributed to alumni, friends and staff six
times to overwhelming and glowing feedback. In
doing so, the Office saw an increase in attendance at
events and activities, increased take up of services
and benefits, and increased contact with the Office.
The service also helped further Curtin’s Vision and
Mission by enhancing awareness of research and
development, teaching and learning, internationali-
sation, and student and staff achievements. 

• Supporting the University’s strategic priority of
wealth generation and working to advance a culture
of philanthropic support, Alumni Relations estab-
lished the University’s first-ever Annual Fund
Program through a variety of solicitation means and
under a number of newly developed processes and
protocols. Through this, the Office acquired 52 new
donors and over $16,000 in donations. Within this,
the Office also initiated the University’s first ever
Alumni Annual Appeal. Piloted with the Division of
Engineering, Science and Computing, the direct
mail program converted 37 alumni from non-
donors to donors and raised $2815, an average gift
of $76. 

• Alumni Relations continued to grow the number of
services and benefits available to alumni. Primarily
focusing on those for which alumni have indicated a
desire, the Office introduced Internet access for
alumni; staged 32 network events and activities;
established Chemical Engineering and Applied
Geology Networks; introduced CurtinLINK Plus;
enhanced career services and the alumni website;
and, concluding two years of efforts and negotia-
tions, introduced electronic library access for alum-
ni. As a result, alumni library memberships increased
by 607 percent. 
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Compliance

As a publicly funded University, Curtin is accountable
to the Commonwealth Government for the funds

which the Commonwealth provides for the running of the
University. As a public entity established under an Act of
the Parliament of Western Australia, the University is
accountable to the State Government. Under both these
sets of relationships, and as a body corporate, the
University is subject to hundreds of Commonwealth and
State Laws.

Compliance with the large number of legislative instru-
ments, as well as the University’s own policies and proce-
dures, is a responsibility of all individual staff. The
University’s responsibility is to raise the consciousness and
appreciation of individual staff, of the importance of com-
pliance and the risks to the University, and to themselves as
individuals, of an infringement of key legislation.

The University has particular obligations towards all
members of its community under the Occupational Safety
and Health Act 1984 (WA). Compliance with this Act is
facilitated by EduSafe – a shared service between Curtin
and Murdoch University. The University is committed to
providing and maintaining high standards of safety and
health in the workplace. During 2003, a strategic plan was
established to further develop and continually improve the
University’s safety management systems. A major policy
review was commenced, hazard management systems were
reviewed and a training needs analysis was completed.
Elected Safety and Health Representatives for identified
physical or organisational locations were fully trained and
supported to undertake their roles and responsibilities in
the workplace. A comprehensive website was also devel-
oped providing staff with key information associated with
incident reporting, emergency procedures, managing haz-
ardous substances, workers’ compensation and injury man-
agement.

During 2003, particular effort was invested in the ongo-
ing education of staff and students on the obligations of the
Copyright Act 1968 (C’th). A comprehensive website was
collaboratively developed by staff in Library and
Information Services and Corporate Risk and Compliance
area to provide staff and students with a single point of ref-
erence on issues associated with copyright and intellectual
property.

The changes to copyright law, that specifically address
the electronic communication of information, continue to
significantly impact upon the University, which relies
increasingly on the Internet and electronic media to con-
duct its affairs. Strategies to combat possible infringements

have included the dissemination to all areas of the
University’s revised Copyright Procedures, which are being
continuously improved in response to changing academic
needs, and the inclusion of relevant information in student
orientation materials.

A project team was established to begin the move
towards compliance with the State Records Act 2000
(WA). In 2003, Curtin’s Recordkeeping Plan (a require-
ment of the Act) was approved in principle by the
University’s Planning and Management Committee.
Adraft Recordkeeping Plan was forwarded to the State
Records Office for approval in accordance with the Act.
Additionally, Records Management Procedures were
approved and a Recordkeeping Manual developed. A
University Disposal Authority was also fully developed and
submitted to the State Records Office. All employees of the
University must comply with the Act and become aware of
their individual responsibilities toward keeping records.
Awareness and training sessions have been planned and
will be made available to all staff during 2004.

Risk Management
Work continued on the development of a University-wide
Risk Management Plan. During 2003, the University
Secretary and staff from Corporate Risk and Compliance
conducted individual interviews with all Heads of School
to gather information on operational and strategic-level
risks. The feedback was analysed and will form the basis of
a consolidated risk register. In 2004, all Executive
Managers will also be interviewed for their input into the
development of the institutional risk register.

Business continuity and disaster recovery plans were
been developed and are in place for each of the three major
administrative IT systems (ie finance, student administra-
tion and human resource management). Separate risk
management plans have also been established for IT secu-
rity, international collaborative ventures, governance and
compliance.

The increasing awareness of the need to approach the
planning of all activities and events from a holistic risk
management perspective, as opposed to having an over-
dependence upon the University’s insurance portfolio, con-
tinued to be communicated to all staff. There is a need to
effect a culture shift in this regard at every level of manage-
ment – a difficult undertaking in a highly devolved organ-
isational structure such as exists at Curtin. The Corporate
Risk and Compliance area continued to be available to
assist staff with the management of their risks.
Presentations were held to educate staff on the provisions
and limitations of the University’s insurance policies and
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the subsequent need to formally assess the risks and man-
age them to reduce or eliminate the likelihood and possi-
ble consequences.

In the latter half of 2003, the University’s Governance
website was reviewed and redesigned. The site was updat-
ed to reflect current areas of policy development and inte-
grate old and new policy formats. Supporting processes
were established to promulgate University policies and pro-
cedures promptly through the website. Work is continuing
to establish the site as the single, authoritative source of
University policies and procedures. A major review of
University policy and procedures commenced in 2003 in
recognition of the need to ensure their clarity and appro-
priateness for present day operations.

Reports on other Accountability Issues 
Information Statement: The University is required to
report annually to the Information Commissioner for
Western Australia. The University has complied with this
requirement and submitted its Annual Report for 2003 to
the Commissioner.

Waste Paper Recycling: Prior to the introduction of any
legislation or Government guidelines, Curtin had adopted
its own Social Justice Commitment Statement of which
environmental responsibility is one of the primary compo-
nents. Recycling of waste paper is seen as part of the
University’s commitment to sustainable development.
Under the State Government’s Waste Paper Recycling
Contract, key statistics are maintained by the relevant gov-
ernment agency. A total of 191.4 tonnes was recycled from
January to December 2003.

Reports to the Anti-Corruption Commission
During 2003, the University submitted the report in accor-
dance with the requirement under Section 14(2) of the
Anti-Corruption Commission Act (1988) (WA).
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CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting
users to access Curtin University of Technology’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of Curtin
University of Technology for the financial year ended 31 December, 2003.

Lance Twomey

Vice-Chancellor

Dated this 7th day of May 2004
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Introduction

Curtin’s efficiency and effectiveness Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs) demonstrate the University’s

progress towards attainment of its desired outcomes in
Teaching and Learning and Research and Development.
These focus primarily on the University’s higher education
operations and are found in Section A.However in Section 

B KPIs for Curtin’s Kalgoorlie based vocational training
and education programs are also provided.

The KPIs are analysed as measures of effectiveness and
efficiency that reflect performance in terms of Curtin’s
Teaching and Learning and Research and Development
goals. 

The following diagram summarises the approach,
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A Higher Education

B Vocational Education &
Training

A1 Teaching and Learning

A2 Research and Development

A1.1 Effectiveness

A2.1 Effectiveness

B1 Effectiveness

A1.2 Efficiency

A2.2 Efficiency

B2 Efficiency

and the following definitions are adopted:   

• Effectiveness measures the extent to which
outcomes have been achieved

• Efficiency measures the resources used to
attain a certain level of output.

Data for the last three to four years are provided to illu-
minate trends. As some of the indicators are prone to sig-

nificant yearly changes attributable to small number dis-
tortion, it is advisable to seek evidence of underlying per-
formance change in the trend rather than the direction of
the most recent year’s data. It should also be noted that
although for some measures Divisional and other cate-
gories data are provided, the Key Performance Indicators
focus on the overall University performance. 
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Employment & Study Destinations of New First Degree
Graduates

Perceived Teaching Quality – Course Experience
Questionnaire

Subject Load Pass Rate

Estimated Program Completion Rate

Research Higher Degree Enrolments as a Percentage of Total
Enrolments 

Teaching and Learning Expenditure per EFTSU

Teaching and Learning Expenditure per Successful EFTSU

Graduate Productivity Rate

Research Performance Index (RPI) Points by Range of
Research Programs

Institutional Grants Scheme (IGS): Comparison between
Curtin and all Australian Universities

All Research Funding: Comparison between Curtin and the
Averages for ATN and all Australian Universities

Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) Funding: Comparison
between Curtin and all Australian Universities

Number of Research Publications: Comparison between
Curtin and the Averages for ATN and all Australian
Universities

Research Expenditure and RPI Points

Research Performance Index Points per FTE Academic Staff
RPI

Research Funding per 10 FTE Academic Staff: Comparison
between Curtin and the Averages for ATN and all Australian
Universities

Research Publications per 10 FTE Academic Staff:
Comparison between Curtin and the Averages for ATN
Universities and all Australian Universities.

Graduate Quality

Teaching Quality

Student Progress
& Achievement

Student Progress
& Achievement

Input

T&L Expenditure

T&L Expenditure 

Student Progress
& Achievement

RPI Output

IGS Funding

Research Funding

Research Funding

Research
Publications

Resource Use

Productivity

Comparative
Research Funding

Research
Publications

A1 Teaching and Learning (T&L)

A2 Research and Development (R&D))

Ref Name Output/Objective

A1.1 Effectiveness

A1.2 Efficiency

A2.1 Effectiveness

A2.2 Efficiency 

The KPIs are aggregated from Course, School and Divisional levels. Within Curtin the indicators are monitored both
as time series and comparative measures.  
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Section A – Higher Education

A1 Teaching & Learning

While Curtin’s intended Teaching and Learning out-
comes are summarised as

to achieve excellence in teaching and learning, devel-
oping graduates as lifelong learners and equipping
them to make a positive contribution to society

the evolving planning framework adopted by Curtin in
2000 enables these outcomes to be re-conceptualised
according to the following themes:

Culture Enhanced development of Curtin as
an innovative and reflective learning
community

Core Activities Establishment of high quality pro-
grams in a flexible learner-centred
environment

Clients Provision of learning opportunities
and services that exceed the expecta-
tions of students and client groups

Financial Security Increased flow of resources to educa-
tional programs and efficient use of
those resources.

The refinement of measures appropriate to these themes is
ongoing. Nonetheless, measures of Curtin’s Core Activities
are recognisable in the effectiveness indicators A1.1 c, d
and e, and the Client theme is picked up in indicator a and
b. The efficiency indicators under A1.2 address financial
security in terms of how resources flow towards meeting
student needs.

Data on graduates’ movement to employment or further
study serve to gauge outcomes in terms of how effectively
Curtin graduates have been prepared both to make a posi-
tive contribution to society and for a world in which learn-
ing continues for life. Subject load pass rates and estimated
program completion rates are effectiveness indicators that
lend support to outcome measures such as graduate desti-
nations. They act as indicators of teaching delivery and
learning effectiveness. Nevertheless, these indicators do not
have the same ease of interpretability as do those for gradu-
ate destinations. This is particularly true of the estimated
program completion rate, which is sensitive to small number
distortions or changes in program delivery and structure. 

Strategies continue to be pursued aimed at improving
performance in the key areas of graduate employment,
progress to future study and graduates’ satisfaction with
their preparation. In the long run these initiatives are like

ly to impact in the Course Experience Questionnaire
(CEQ) and Graduate Destinations Survey (GDS) indica-
tors.

A 1.1 Effectiveness Indicators

Quality of Graduates
(a) Employment and Study Destinations of New First

Degree Graduates (GDS)

This indicator measures Curtin’s effectiveness in both
assisting students to reach their full potential and in pro-
ducing graduates held in high professional and personal
regard who are of practical value to the community.

The small decrease in the percentage change of gradu-
ates in their ‘mode of choice’ in 2003 compared to the pre-
vious three years cannot yet be assessed as significant. It
may be reversed in 2004 or reflect the marked increase in
the number of respondents to this survey from the previ-
ous year.

Curtin’s 2003 GDS response rate stands at 71%, simi-
lar to that for 2002.

The employment and study destinations of graduates in
the first year following completion of their courses provide
an indication of how well Curtin meets individual, State
and national needs. That success in gaining employment
or entry into higher or further education is considered a
valuable indicator is evident from its use by the
Commonwealth Department of Education, Science and
Training (DEST) in the publication Characteristics and
Performance Indicators of Australian Higher Education
Institutions, 2000.

Table 1 uses GDS returns to summarise the major
activities of new first degree (ie bachelor, bachelor honours,
and diploma) graduates from the University measured at
30 April in each year of the series and compares these with
the average from the national Graduate Careers Council of
Australia (GCCA) survey.
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Quality of Teaching
(b) Perceived Teaching Quality – Course Experience

Questionnaire (CEQ)

The 25 item Course Experience Questionnaire (CEQ)
– included with the annual Graduate Destination Survey
(GDS) conducted by the Graduate Careers Council of
Australia (GCCA) and sent to all graduates – provides out-
come measures of teaching and learning excellence. The
CEQ asks graduates to rate their perceptions using six
aspects of their recently completed course: good teaching;
clear goals and appropriate standards; appropriate assess-
ment; appropriate workload; generic skills; and overall sat-
isfaction. Graduates’ perceptions of the extent to which
they have developed Generic Skills, and their Overall
Satisfaction, are especially pertinent to the University’s pur-
suit of excellence in teaching and learning.

In the years 2000 to 2003, CEQ data for all universities
were analysed by the Australian Council for Educational
Research (ACER) on behalf of the GCCA. Students assign
scores across a range from -100 to +100 against each crite-
rion. A score of -100 corresponds to complete disagreement

with the criterion, while at the other extreme +100 would
mean complete agreement. These can be found in Table 2.  

A marked increase in the response rate to this survey has
been achieved. The percentage of students in broadly satis-
fied overall is stable, with 91% of students falling into this
category in 2003. The one sub category in which a small
but consistent decrease on ratings is evident is ‘Clear Goals
and Standards’. This is being addressed as part of the out-
comes based learning priority in the 2003-5 Teaching and
Learning Plan. For some years Curtin registered a negative
score against ‘Appropriate Workload’ promoting imple-
mentation strategies to address this perception, the impact
of which are now becoming evident. These strategies are
being further strengthened.
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Table 1 Employment and Study Destinations Of New First Degree Graduates* 2000 � 2003

Australian Citizens and Permanent Residents only

2000 2001 2002 2003

Activity Curtin All** Curtin All Curtin All Curtin All

% % % % % % % %

Full-Time Work 54% 55% 60% 56% 56% 53% 54% n/a

Full-Time Study 27% 24% 21% 23% 21% 24% 22% n/a

Not Working, Seeking FT Work 5% 4% 5% 4% 6% 5% 7% n/a

PT Work, Seeking FT Work 7% 6% 7% 7% 7% 7% 8% n/a

PT Work, Not Seeking FT Work 4% 6% 5% 6% 6% 6% 5% n/a

Not Working, Seeking PT Work 0% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% n/a

Unavailable for Work/Study 3% 4% 1% 3% 3% 4% 3% n/a

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% n/a

% Graduates in Mode of Choice*** 83% 84% 84% 84% 82% 82% 79% n/a

Total Number of Respondents 1,301 56,773 1,645 57,938 1,630 59,629 2,337 n/a

Response Rate 55% n/a 55% n/a 70% n/a 71% n/a

Rounding errors may occur
* Data are taken from the 2000 � 2003 national Graduate Destination Surveys conducted by the GCCA of all graduates. In

common with 90% of other institutions Curtin supplements GCCA survey data (using internal student records) by includ-
ing the number of graduates who go on to further study at Curtin.

** All refers to All Australian Universities.
*** Definition: The percentage of new first degree graduates working in the mode of their choice as a percentage of the

total number of graduates seeking work. Mode of Choice means that they elect to be in full or part time-time work.
National data for 2003 are not yet available
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Student Achievement and Progress 
The indicators Subject Load Pass Rate and First Year
Undergraduate Retention Rate measure the University’s
teaching effectiveness, another pointer to excellence in
teaching and learning.  Sound curriculum design, appro-
priate assessment practices and good pedagogy should sus-
tain pass rates while minimising completion times. Within 

these indicators are measures of quantity and timeliness.

(c) Subject Load Pass Rate (SLPR)

This indicator is the percentage of assessed subject load
measured as Equivalent Full-Time Student Units (EFTSU)
in each of the 2000 to 2003 academic years for which stu-
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Table 2 Perceived Teaching Quality � Course Experience Questionnaire (CEQ) 2000 � 2003

CEQ Scale 2000 2001 2002 2003

Curtin All Curtin All Curtin All Curtin All 

Good Teaching 13 13 14 13 14 15 17 n/a

Clear Goals and Standards 23 21 22 21 20 19 19 n/a

Appropriate Assessment 21 30 28 29 22 26 21 n/a

Appropriate Workload -1 6 -2 6 0 7 1 n/a

Generic Skills 38 34 34 34 39 36 39 n/a

Overall Satisfaction 38 38 32 38 36 38 36 n/a

Percent Broad Agreement (1)

Overall Satisfaction 90% 90% 88% 89% 93% 90% 91% n/a

Number of Respondents 1,802 58,438 1,928 58,354 2,123 59,482 3,922 n/a

Response Rate 50% n/a 50% n/a 52% n/a 79% n/a

* Since 1998, where a student has undertaken a double major they have been able to complete two Course Experience
Questionnaires.  The 2003 survey saw 3,221 returns for single major programs and a further 701 for double majors

** All refers to All Australian Universities.
National data for 2003 are not yet available
(1) Broad agreement includes responses of 3, 4 and 5 on a 5-point scale where 5 is strongly agree, so eliminating dis-

agree and disagree strongly.

Table 3 Subject Load Pass Rate (SLPR) by Branch of Learning* 2000 � 2003

Student Load Passed as a Percentage of Student Load Assessed

Branch of Learning 2000 2001 2002 2003

% % % %

Humanities 86% 84% 85% 86%

Social Studies 90% 88% 90% 89%

Education 93% 91% 93% 94%

Sciences 88% 88% 89% 88%

Mathematics, Computing 81% 82% 82% 82%

Visual/Performing Arts 90% 90% 90% 91%

Engineering, Processing 85% 85% 85% 85%

Health Sciences 96% 95% 95% 95%

Admin, Business, Economics, Law 89% 88% 89% 89%

Built Environment 91% 91% 92% 93%

Agriculture, Renewable Resources 90% 92% 89% 88%

Curtin University of Technology 89% 88% 89% 89%

* Data are derived from the Commonwealth annual student statistical collections. The Subject Load Pass Rates presented
in the table exclude Higher Degree by Research student load.

All 2003 data are preliminary
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dents were awarded a passing grade (Table 3). The rate can
be influenced by the learning support provided in the dis-
cipline area in which students are enrolled. No similarly
defined national statistics are available for comparison. 

(d) Estimated Program Completion Rate (PCR)

Based on re-enrolment figures, the PCR estimates the
proportion of undergraduate commencing students who
will successfully complete a program of study. Tables 4A
and 4B below provide these data for award courses of three
and four years’duration respectively. The rates can vary
from year-to-year with small numbers having a particular-

ly distorting effect. So too can changes to the structural
arrangements under which programs are offered.

A loose basis for comparison is afforded by a DEST
study1 offering ‘predicted’ completion rates for the 1992
and 1993 cohorts in 1999. Relevant rates for the 1993
cohort are: Architecture, Building – 65%; Arts,
Humanities and Social Sciences – 58%; Business,
Administration, Economics – 63%; Health – 79%;
Education – 71%; Engineering, Surveying – 59%; and
Science – 58%. The overall DEST rate for the 1993 cohort
is 64%.The rates for both cohorts are broadly comparable.
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Table 4A Estimated Program Completion Rate for 3 year Courses by Broad Field of Study*

2000 � 2003

Estimated Percentage of Undergraduate Commencing Students 
who will Complete a Program of Study

Broad Field of Study 2000 2001 2002 2003

% % % %

Architecture, Building 81% 71% 82% 60%**

Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences 65% 62% 73% 70%

Business, Administration, Economics 81% 79% 84% 84%

Health 76% 80% 81% 76%

Science 66% 66% 67% 72%

Curtin University of Technology 73% 73% 79% 78%

* Data are derived from the Commonwealth annual statistical collections of student enrolments as at 31 March. The per-
centages shown relate to full-time, internal students who were either commencing or continuing an undergraduate course
as at 31 March of the previous year, and who either had graduated, withdrawn, or were still continuing a course of study
at 31 March of the current year.  

** As the three year programs are being phased out, the small numbers variation issue impacts significantly on this partic-
ular sub-category.

Table 4B Estimated Program Completion Rate for 4 year Courses by Broad Field of Study*

2000 � 2003

Estimate of the Percentage of Undergraduate Commencing Students 
who will complete a Program of Study

Broad Field of Study 2000 2001 2002 2003

% % % %

Architecture, Building 72% 73% 60% 73%

Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences 70% 64% 76% 67%

Education 67% 63% 71% 69%

Engineering, Surveying 70% 67% 76% 77%

Health 79% 75% 82% 83%

Science +++��- +++��- +++��- 77%

Curtin University of Technology 74% 70% 77% 76%

* Data are derived from the Commonwealth annual statistical collections of student enrolments as at 31 March. The per-
centages shown relate to full-time, internal students who were either commencing or continuing an undergraduate course
as at 31 March of the previous year, and who either had graduated, withdrawn, or were still continuing a course of study at
31 March of the current year.
+++ Insufficient completions.

1 DEST, Undergraduate Completion Rates: An update, December 2001, http://www.deset.gov.au/highered/occpaper/01f/default.htm
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Input
(e) Research Higher Degree Enrolments as a Percentage

of Total Enrolments

One of Curtin’s educational strategies consistent with its
aim to raise the University’s research profile is to increase
research higher degree enrolments and EFTSU beyond 5%
of total enrolments and EFTSU. In so doing, Curtin meets
students’ demand for lifelong learning opportunities while
contributing to the national and international stocks of 

knowledge. Tables 5A and 5B, representing enrolments
and EFTSU respectively, show that the broad trends
accord with this aim.  Noteworthy are the increase in
Doctoral enrolments, which can be set against a trend
decline in those undertaking Masters by Research degrees,
and the rising share of Doctoral EFTSU expressed as a per-
centage of total research EFTSU, from 77% in 1999 to
88% in 2003. 
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Table 5A Research Higher Degree Enrolments by Level

And Total Research Enrolments as a Percentage of Total Curtin Enrolments: 1999 � 2003

(see* on Indicator (d) Table 7)

Research Higher Degree 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Masters 293 246 251 274 247

Doctoral 853 998 1123 1213 1403

Total Research 1146 1244 1374 1487 1650

% of Total Enrolments 4.4% 4.6% 4.7% 4.8% 5.1%

Note that 2002 data for Curtin�s Miri enrolments are included for the first time in the Total Enrolment denominator and so
may have a deflationary impact on the 2002 percentage compared to 2001.  

Table 5B Research Higher Degree EFTSU by Level 

and Total Research EFTSU as a Percentage of Curtin�s Total EFTSU 1999 � 2003

(see* on Indicator (d) Table 7)

Research Higher Degree 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Masters 187 132 158 158 110

Doctoral 617 626 726 766 814

Total Research 804 758 884 924 924

% of Total EFTSU 4.3% 4.2% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2%

Note that 2002 data for Curtin�s Miri enrolments are included for the first time in the Total EFTSU denominator and so may
have a deflationary impact on the 2002 percentage compared to 2001. 
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A1.2 Efficiency Indicators

Teaching and Learning Expenditure

(f) Teaching and Learning Expenditure per EFTSU

(g) Teaching and Learning Expenditure per Successful
EFTSU

Teaching and Learning expenditure relates to the teach-
ing of award course programs. The two indicators report-
ed in Table 6A show: (i) the average cost of teaching each
Equivalent Full-Time Student Unit (EFTSU) as defined in
the Commonwealth annual statistical collections; and (ii)
the average cost of teaching each successful EFTSU. Both
of these provide an insight into the efficiency with which 

monies directed towards the Teaching and Learning goal
have been spent. Table 6B shows the comparison after
adjusting for inflation.

It is important to note that average expenditure per
EFTSU is largely dependent upon the mix of disciplines
taught by an institution. Curtin’s high representation of
laboratory-based courses raises service delivery costs when
compared to institutions where non-laboratory based
courses feature more prominently. Also, Curtin incurs
higher than average costs in supporting the delivery of
regional higher education services through its major invest-
ments in Kalgoorlie, Northam and Esperance. 
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Table 6A Teaching and Learning Expenditure at Historical Cost

2000 � 2003

Expenditure & EFTSU details 2000 2001 2002 2003

(1) Actual Expenditure ($�000) $261,839 $297,802 $300,532 $312,896

(2) Total Taught EFTSU 18,546 19,709 20,886 22,184

(3) Successful EFTSU 16,339 17,324 18,547 19,677

Indicator (i) Teaching and Learning 

Expenditure ($)/EFTSU $14,118 $15,110 $14,389 $14,105

Indicator (ii) Teaching and Learning 

Expenditure ($)/Successful EFTSU $16,025 $17,190 $16,204 $15,901

Note: 
a Teaching and Learning Expenditure reported above excludes that for the Kalgoorlie VET sector. All University

Expenditure is now reported:  (i) on Teaching and Learning or Research and Development, in line with the University�s
goals; and (ii), consistently with the University�s Financial Operating Statement. For these reasons, the data may differ
from those shown in earlier Annual Reports.

b Both 2002 EFTSU and Expenditure data reported in the table include, for the first time, information on Miri that may dis-
tort the time series.

c Total T&L expenditure for 2000-2002 has been revised in accordance with advice from the Office of the Auditor General.

Table 6B Teaching and Learning Expenditure at Constant Dollar Value

2000 � 2003

Expenditure & EFTSU details 2000 2001 2002 2003

(1) Actual Expenditure ($�000) $280,169 $311,913 $307,639 $312,896

(2) Total Taught EFTSU 18,546 19,709 20,886 22,184

(3) Successful EFTSU 16,339 17,324 18,547 19,677

Indicator (a) Teaching and Learning 

Expenditure ($)/EFTSU $15,107 $15,826 $14,729 $14,105

Indicator (b) Teaching and Learning 

Expenditure ($)/Successful EFTSU $17,147 $18,004 $16,587 $15,901

Cost Adjustment Factor 1.085211 1.108650 1.134358 1.161183

Note:
a Cost Adjustment Factors in the Table are extracted from Appendix C, page 1, of DEST Higher Education Report for

2004 � 2006 Triennium and can be used to convert historical cost figures to December 2003 price levels.
b Both the 2002 EFTSU and Expenditure data reported in the table include, for the first time, information on Miri that may

distort the time series.
c Total T&L expenditure for 2000-2002 has been revised in accordance with advice from the Office of the Auditor General.  
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Student Progress and Achievement
(h) Graduate Productivity Rates

These rates show changes over time in the output of
graduates for every 10 full-time equivalent staff. Table

7A provides the rates for undergraduate and postgraduate
coursework students, where the numerator is based on
graduate numbers and the denominator on ‘teaching’ and 

‘teaching and research’ staff only. 

Table 7B shows Postgraduate Research productivity
rates with the data disaggregated to the Masters and
Doctoral levels. The numerator uses completions rather
than graduations (see the footnote to Table 7B) while the
denominator is restricted to staff eligible to supervise
research students.
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Table 7A Undergraduate and Postgraduate Coursework Degree 

Productivity Rates* 2000 � 2003

Graduations per 10 FTE Academic Staff**

2000 2001 2002 2003

Undergraduate 51.0 55.6 56.5 62.2

Postgraduate Coursework 12.2 14.3 21.0 22.0

* For each year shown (X) graduates (the numerator) are taken as those receiving awards in the period 1 April, year X-1,
to 31 March in year X. Thus for 2002 there would have been 55.4 graduates for every 10 FTE teaching in the period 1
April 2002 to 31 March 2003.

** Included in the denominator are staff from all funding sources categorised as �teaching� or �teaching and research�.  An
average of the staff in the current and previous two years is taken.

Table 7B Research Higher Degree Productivity Rate 2000 � 2003

Research Higher Degree Completions per 10 full-time equivalent Academic Staff*

2000 2001 2002 2003

Masters 0.58 0.74 0.54 0.91

Doctoral 1.54 1.16 1.47 2.37

All Research 2.12 1.89 2.02 3.29

* Staff data comprise a three year average of teaching and research academic staff of Lecturer B level and above in acad-
emic organisational units only and from all funding sources. Hourly paid academic staff are excluded. These staff data
are derived from the Commonwealth annual statistical collections.  
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A2 Research & Development

The University is committed to excellence in research
and development, monitored in terms of improve-

ments to existing research and development activities as
well as the growth in new activities. Measures such as
research funding, an indicator of the means with which to
improve the output from the University’s research and
development activities and publications, enable an assess-
ment of absolute and year-to-year performance change.
These indicators can also be compared with those for other
universities to determine Curtin’s relative performance and
are thus presented here alongside averages for the universi-
ties in the Australian Technology Network (ATN)1 and the
broad spectrum of Australian universities. The research
funding and publications indicators presented below signal
the University’s performance in relation to Curtin’s goal:

to strive for excellence in research and development,
resulting in creative solutions to significant problems.

This is pursued mindful that the University conceives as
part of its mission the need to “search for innovative appli-
cations of technology in all fields”. 

Research funding is considered an important measure
of performance throughout the university sector given that
the awarding of a research grant or contract demonstrates
favourable assessment of the overall merits of both prior
and present research performance and achievements, and
of anticipated successful future contributions and out-
comes.   The ability to generate research funds is an impor-
tant measure of the esteem in which funding agencies and
peers hold an institution’s research effort.  The allocation of
further or new research funding is also recognition by the
assessors that the University has a record of effective appli-
cation of resources to achieve specific research objectives.
The assessment for research funds allocation is by rigorous
peer review for “National Competitive Research Grants”;
by local, State, and Commonwealth Governments for
“Other Public Sector” research funding; by industry for
“Industry and Other” funding; and jointly by industry and
the Commonwealth Government for Cooperative
Research Centre (CRC) funding.  The assessment process
includes expert review of the proposed piece of research
having regard to the level of collaboration with other
organisations, the advancement of knowledge, and the

degree of innovation and value to the community, business
or industry.

As with the indicators for Teaching and Learning, those
applying to Research and Development may be assessed in
terms of Curtin’s planning framework in which indicators
of performance are presented for the key themes of Culture,
Core Activities, Clients, and Financial Security emerge.  At
present KPIs A2.1 i-l, and A2.2 n and p, each measuring
aspects of research funding performance, are aligned with
the Financial Security and Client themes, while A2.1 i and
m, and B2 o and q, are measures of performance in respect
of Core Activities. The KPIs also reflect Commonwealth
policy change that brings together the Research Quantum
and the Small Research Grants Scheme to form the
Institutional Grant Scheme (IGS) from 2002.

A2.1 Effectiveness Indicators
Data for five performance indicators that assist in demon-
strating how effectively the University is meeting its
Research and Development Goal are presented below. One
indicator (i) uses the University’s Research Performance
Index (RPI), which measures the quantity, quality and
impact of research outputs and outcomes; three indicators
(j), (k) and (l) show the quantity of research funding; while
another indicator (m) shows research publications.

Research Performance Index
(i) Research Performance Index Points by Range of

Research Programs

This indicator uses Curtin’s RPI as a measure of the
Institution’s effectiveness in undertaking research. The
index rewards research and development undertaken in
partnership with government, commerce, industry, profes-
sional organisations and other institutions.

The University’s Research and Development
Committee gathers data on the University’s research effort
as the basis for distributing research funds within Curtin.
These research performance data are subjected to a careful
peer review process before they are accepted as a reliable
basis for funds allocation3. The data are allocated point
scores with the aim of achieving a balance between research
inputs and outputs. The aggregate of RPI points is there-
fore considered to be a relevant measure of the University’s
progress toward achieving its research objectives. Outputs
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2 The ATN universities consist of the five major former Institutes of Technology across Australia: Queensland University of Technology;
University of Technology, Sydney; Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University; the University of South Australia and Curtin
University of Technology.

3 Publications’ and financial data comply with the DEST return substantiation requirements.
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include acknowledged achievement in obtaining grants;
scholarly achievements by way of refereed journal articles;
published books; conference papers and other professional
achievements, and postgraduate research student supervi-
sion to completion. Research inputs relate to research
funding, although the ability to generate research funds is
also an important measure of research outcome as noted
above.

As a guide to the allocation of RPI points, 50 points, for
example, is the research funding equivalent to receiving a
peer-reviewed national competitive research grant of
$3,300 or it is the output research equivalent to publishing
an article in a high status refereed journal with an interna-
tional or national editorial board. The indicators carry a
one-year time lag because RPI point data for a given calen-

dar year cannot be subjected to the peer review process
until that year has been completed. As such, the latest avail-
able data are for 2002.

Annual reviews of the RPI scheme by the University’s
Research and Development Committee have progressively
made it a more effective instrument, better capturing
research excellence, scholarship, and productivity rather than
simply reflecting the amount of general research activity.  

Table 8 shows RPI points by research area for the years
1999 to 2002.  Yearly fluctuations in RPI levels for research
components result from higher (or lower) research perfor-
mance and from the commencement of new research
efforts within programs and the phasing out of other pro-
grams. 
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Table 8 RPI Points by Range of Research Programs 1999 � 2002

RPI Points

Research Program 1999 2000 2001 2002

Public Health & Rehabilitation 43,401 59,721 65,952 59,951

Exploration Geosciences 33,457 26,520 33,975 40,586

Cultural & Regional Studies 18,600 17,506 26,287 27,182

Education 25,181 21,816 18,785 24,173

Environmental Management 28,099 34,485 34,554 35,245

Engineering Technology 20,874 22,349 18,264 17,772

Telecommunications Research 19,115 15,772 14,723 10,891

Mining & Minerals Technology 23,907 36,048 33,015 27,418

Biomedical Science & Technology 20,338 20,827 17,450 21,404

Enterprise Effect. & Econ. Performance 22,556 27,123 21,981 18,376

Cognitive Science & Cognitive Ergonomics 17,694 11,333 8,076 8,102

Marine Science & Technology 11,523 11,470 11,296 11,781

Information Systems & Technology 11,549 9,502 9,245 13,195

Agribusiness 0 0 1,039 2,536

Curtin University of Technology 296,294 314,471 314,642 318,612

Institutional Grant Scheme
(j) Institutional Grant Scheme Allocation: Comparison

between Curtin and all Australian Universities

The IGS was implemented on 1 January 2002 and
comprises funding previously allocated under the Research
Quantum and Small Research Grant Scheme. It is distrib-
uted across universities by a performance-based formula
comprising research income, 60 per cent, and publications,
10 per cent, using two most recent years’ data and higher 

degree research student places (measured in EFTSU), 30
per cent, using the previous year’s data. The Research
Quantum (RQ) was that component of the Operating
Grant used to support research activities other than those
directly linked to teaching and research training. The IGS
is considered a key national research performance indica-
tor. Curtin improved its national ranking from 17 in 2003
to 16 in 2003.
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Table 9 Institutional Grant Scheme ($�000) Funds and Percentage Shares 2002-2003 and

Research Quantum Institutional Percentage Shares 2001

Ranking According to % IGS Share in 2003
IGS Research 

Quantum
2003 % Share % Share % Share

($�000) 2003 2002 2001

University of Melbourne (M) 29,812 10.7 11.0 11.5

University of Queensland (M) 28,337 10.2 9.9 10.1

University of Sydney (M) 27,085 9.8 10.0 10.4

University of New South Wales (M) 25,438 9.2 9.4 9.9

Monash University (M) 19,280 6.9 6.9 7.2

Australian National University 16,568 6.0 6.1 3.0

University of Western Australia (M) 16,141 5.8 5.8 6.4

University of Adelaide (M) 15,295 5.5 5.6 5.9

Flinders University of SA (M) 7,032 2.5 2.6 2.7

University of Newcastle (M) 7,023 2.5 2.6 2.7

University of Tasmania (M) 7,012 2.5 2.4 2.4

La Trobe University 6,273 2.3 2.3 2.2

Macquarie University 6,245 2.2 2.3 2.3

Griffith University 6,092 2.2 2.1 2.0

University of Wollongong 5,387 1.9 2.0 2.0

CURTIN UNIVERSITY 5,224 1.9 1.8 1.8

Queensland University of Technology 4,876 1.8 1.8 1.9

Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology 4,548 1.6 1.6 1.6

University of South Australia 4,521 1.6 1.6 1.6

Murdoch University 4,254 1.5 1.5 1.5

James Cook University 3,853 1.4 1.4 1.4

University of New England 3,842 1.4 1.4 1.5

University of Technology, Sydney 3,590 1.3 1.2 1.2

University of Western Sydney 3,173 1.1 1.1 1.1

Deakin University 2,929 1.1 1.0 0.9

Swinburne University of Technology 1,742 0.6 0.6 0.6

University of Canberra 1,701 0.6 0.6 0.6

Victoria University of Technology 1,656 0.6 0.6 0.6

Edith Cowan University 1,425 0.5 0.5 0.5

Southern Cross University 1,240 0.4 0.5 0.5

Northern Territory University 1,233 0.4 0.5 0.5

Charles Sturt University 1,208 0.4 0.4 0.4

Central Queensland University 969 0.3 0.3 0.3

University of Southern Queensland 897 0.3 0.3 0.3

Australian Catholic University 478 0.2 0.2 0.1

University of Ballarat 474 0.2 0.2 0.1

Australian Maritime University 265 0.1 0.1 0.1

Melbourne College of Divinity 143 0.1 0.0 0.0

University of Sunshine Coast 128 0.0 0.0 0.0

University of Notre Dame, Australia 105 0.0 0.0 0.0

Bond University 60 0.0 0.0 0.0

Batchelor Inst Indig Tertiary Educ 10 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total 277,564 100.0 100.0 100.0
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Table 9, providing IGS allocations by university, is
ranked according to each institution’s share of the total IGS
for 2003. Definitional changes mean that the RQ data for
2001 offer only a loose comparison. Curtin sits midway in
this ordering in which the ATN universities are identified
through use of italics, the Western Australian universities
with bold type, and those with medical schools and sup-
porting departments with the letter ‘M’. This last group of
universities have the advantage of enhanced access to
National Competitive Research Grants schemes (for exam-
ple, medical research funding through NH & MRC).
They include the University of Western Australia, the only
Western Australian university performing at a higher level
than Curtin. Curtin’s IGS allocation should be assessed in
this context.

Research Funding
(k) All Research Funding: Comparison between Curtin,

the Average of all ATN Universities, and the Average
of all Australian Universities

In Table 10 the indicator All Research Funding uses
allocations by source to demonstrate the level of research
undertaken at Curtin in 2000, 2001, and 2002 compared
with the ATN and all Australian universities’ averages.
Evidence of outcomes in relation to the Research and
Development goal can be demonstrated by Curtin’s con-

tinued overall success in relation to the ATN average, and
its sustained performance against the All Australian average
as gauged by percentages ranging between 84% and 87%
during the years 2000-2002. 

(l) Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) Funding:
Comparison between Curtin and all Australian
Universities

Table 11 expands upon the Cooperative Research
Centre Funding data shown in Table 10. This demon-
strates the amount of applied collaborative research at
Curtin and particularly reflects the University’s commit-
ment to collaboration with external organisations in
research and development, technology transfer and inno-
vation. Success in CRC Funding is thus an expression of
the University’s stated goals insofar as these are to be under-
pinned by ‘productive partnerships’.

Established through the Commonwealth Government’s
Cooperative Research Centres Program, CRCs link public
and private sectors across Australia, bringing together a
wide range of expertise and facilities, with a focus on new
and innovative research, leading to competitive technolog-
ical applications. Commonwealth CRC funding data dif-
fers from those for the other sources insofar as it covers the
financial rather than the calendar year.  
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Table 10 All Research Funding ($�000): Comparison between Curtin, the Average of all ATN

Universities and the Average of all Australian Universities 2000 � 2002

Source of 2000 2001 2002
Research Funding Curtin ATN All Curtin ATN All Curtin ATN All

Australian Competitive 
Research Grants 5,380 4,643 10,814 5,518 4,741 11,920 4,566 4,500 12,697

Other Public Sector 
Research Funding 3,791 4,266 3,823 6,480 4,934 4,768 8,558 6,415 5,434

Industry & Other Funding 
for Research 8,631 6,337 7,512 9,671 7,408 9,379 9,588 6,515 10,162

Cooperative Research 
Centre Funds# 4,209 1,945 1,843 3,571 1,780 1,907 4,443 2,242 2,221

Other Sources (ie Research 
Quantum & Research 
Infrastructure) 4,877 4,271 6,893 5,057 4,535 7,383 6,084 5,387 9,168

Total 26,888 21,463 30,885 30,297 23,398 35,356 33,239 25,058 39,682

* ATN refers to the average of all ATN Universities.
** All refers to the average of all Australian Universities.
Research funds data for National Competitive Research Grants, Other Public Sector Research Funding and Industry &
Other Funding for Research are collected via the Commonwealth�s Finance and Publications Research Data Collection
and made available to institutions by the Australian Vice-Chancellors� Committee (AVCC). CRC data are obtained for all
Australian universities from the Department of Education, Science and Technology (DEST). Except for CRC data, which
are reported for financial years, financial data are for calendar year periods.
# For further information see Table 12.
Data for 2001have been retrospectively revised by DEST.
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Table 11 DEST CRC Funding ($�000) Financial Year 2002/2003
% DEST CRC Funding Financial Years 2000/2001, 2001/2002 and 2002/2003

University Ranking According to % Share in 2002/2003

02/03 % Share % Share % Share

($�000) 02/03 01/02 00/01

University of Queensland 12,954 13.9 14.8 13.7

Monash University 7,483 8.0 5.4 5.5

University of New South Wales 7,451 8.0 7.9 15.2

University of Sydney 6,308 6.8 9.8 4.6

James Cook University 5,821 6.2 7.0 5.1

University of Melbourne 5,401 5.8 8.2 5.6

University of Tasmania 5,039 5.4 4.3 4.9

CURTIN UNIVERSITY 4,443 4.8 4.5 5.2

University of Adelaide 4,117 4.4 4.5 5.4

Griffith University 3,957 4.2 3.9 2.6

Murdoch University 3,873 4.2 2.8 1.8

Australian National University 2,998 3.2 3.1 3.1

Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology 2,936 3.1 2.0 1.5

University of Western Australia 2,321 2.5 1.4 2.3

University of Canberra 2,060 2.2 1.6 2.5

Swinburne University of Technology 1,948 2.1 2.3 2.2

Queensland University of Technology 1,927 2.1 2.4 1.7

University of Wollongong 1,818 1.9 1.3 1.1

University of New England 1,656 1.8 2.3 1.9

University of South Australia 1,591 1.7 1.8 3.0

La Trobe University 1,045 1.1 0.8 0.8

University of Newcastle 1,026 1.1 1.5 2.7

Northern Territory University 1,006 1.1 1.3 1.0

Charles Sturt University 837 0.9 0.8 0.6

Flinders University of SA 831 0.9 0.6 0.9

Southern Cross University 556 0.6 1.0 0.9

Victoria University of Technology 437 0.5 1.0 0.6

Macquarie University 416 0.4 0.5 0.8

Deakin University 395 0.4 0.4 0.2

University of Technology, Sydney 312 0.3 0.4 0.7

University of Central Queensland 220 0.2 0.3 0.1

Edith Cowan University 57 0.1 0.0 0.0

University of Western Sydney 54 0.1 0.1 0.0

Australian Catholic University 0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Australian Maritime College 0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Bond University 0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Institute of Advance Studies 0 0.0 0.0 1.7

Melbourne College of Divinity 0 0.0 0.0 0.0

University of Ballarat 0 0.0 0.0 0.0

University of Notre Dame, Australia 0 0.0 0.0 0.0

University of Southern Queensland 0 0.0 0.0 0.0

University of Sunshine Coast 0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total 93,294 100.0 100.0 100.0
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Research Publications
(m) Number of Research Publications: Comparison

between Curtin, the Average of all ATN Universities,
and the Average of all Australian Universities

Research publications are considered an important mea-
sure of research performance throughout the university sec-
tor. The publication of a piece of research demonstrates
that referees, expert in the appropriate field, have judged
the work worthy of acceptance and dissemination. The
number of publications produced is a measure of the 

quantity and quality of research and development under-
way or completed.

Table 12 gives Curtin’s performance in respect of the
Publications indicator over the period 2000 – 2002 using
averages for the ATN and all Australian universities as
benchmarks. The publication rate is recovering from the
low of 2001. The rising staff/student ratio and consequent
increase in teaching workloads may be impacting on the
time staff have to write for publication.
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Table 12 Number of Research Publications: Comparison between Curtin, Average of all ATN

Universities and Average of all Australian Universities* 

2000 � 2002

2000 2001 2002

Publication Type Curtin ATN** All*** Curtin ATN All Curtin ATN All

Books 7.0 6.6 9.1 10.5 4.8 9.7 5.0 6.8 13.4

Book Chapters****
Journal Articles
Conference Publications 595.0 565.9 595.7 538.2 575.9 610.8 588.6 667.0 691.6

Patents# n/a n/a n/a 0.0 1.6 1.2 n/a n/a n/a

Total 602.0 572.5 604.7 548.7 582.3 621.6 593.6 673.7 705.0

* Research publications data, like research funding data, are collected via the Commonwealth�s Finance and Publications
Research Data Collection and made available to institutions by the Australian Vice-Chancellors� Committee (AVCC).

** ATN refers to the average of all ATN Universities.
*** All refers to the average of all Australian Universities.
**** For 2001 DEST collapsed the three thereto separately reported counts for Book Chapters, Journal Articles and

Conference Publications into one count; renamed �Authored Research� as �Books�; and introduced the new classifica-
tion �Patents�

# Collection discontinued by DEST in 2002
n/a � not applicable  

A2.2 Efficiency Indicators
Data relating to four performance indicators that show the
efficiency with which the University is meeting its Research
and Development Goal are presented. Two indicators: (n)
Research Expenditure and Research Performance Index (RPI)
Points, and (o) the Research Performance Index Points per
FTE Academic Staff, use the University’s own Research
Performance Index; the third (p), Research Funding, is self
explanatory; and the fourth (q) details Research Publications
performance.

Research Performance Index (RPI)

(n) Research Expenditure and Research Performance
Index Points

Research expenditure shown in Table 13 comprises
expenditure from funds specifically provided for research, 

including infrastructure funds. In line with the University’s
Goal statement, expenditure can only be on activities sup-
porting either the Research and Development (R&D) or
Teaching and Learning Goals. Two indicators reflect the
University’s performance in respect of R&D. These are
Research Expenditure, and Curtin’s internal Research
Performance Index (RPI). The RPI is based approximately
50% on research income (weighted to encourage perfor-
mance in specific grants) and 50% on non-financial
research performance indicators, such as research publica-
tions, postgraduate completions and conference presenta-
tions. The financial aspect of the RPI therefore has a rela-
tionship to research expenditure whilst the non-financial
aspects do not. The two indicators may therefore be
expected to change at differing rates as they are measuring
different aspects of research performance.  
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(o) Research Performance Index Points per FTE
Academic Staff

Table 14 links RPI points and the University’s full-time
equivalent (FTE) research staff as a ratio of points per FTE
academic4.

These data are impacted by the capping of the amount
of funding available for distribution under the RPI scheme
and the improved accuracy of staff classification in 2002. A
number of staff formerly classified in a category that was
not included in the estimation of the denominator for this
measure, are now correctly counted as contributing to
research. Related measures indicate that staff research per-
formance is not declining.

Research Funding
(p) Research Funding per 10 FTE Academic Staff:

Comparison between Curtin, the Average of all ATN
Universities, and the Average of all Australian
Universities

Table 15 compares Curtin’s research funding perfor-
mance per 10 FTE academic staff with the averages for the
ATN and all Australian universities. Curtin’s funding of
$420,000 per 10 FTE remains above the ATN average.
Given the impact of the increased denominator in this cal-
culation (as explained for Table 14), the 2002 results are
satisfactory.
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Table 13 Research Expenditure at Historical and Constant Cost Levels

and Research Performance Index Points, 1999 � 2003

Year 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Actual Research Expenditure ($�000) $38,015 $46,601 $50,916 $52,672 $59,402

Cost Adjustment Factor 1.066707 1.085211 1.108650 1.134358 1.161183

Constant Research Expenditure ($�000) $41,382 $49,863 $53,329 $53,918 $59,402

RPI Points 296,294 314,471 314,642 318,612 n/a

NB Cost Adjustment Factors in the Table are extracted from Appendix C, page 1, of DEST Higher Education Report for
2004 � 2006 Triennium and can be used to convert historical cost figures to December 2003 price levels.
All University Expenditure is now reported: (i) on Teaching and Learning or Research and Development, in line with the
University�s goals; and (ii), consistently with the University�s Financial Operating Statement. For these reasons, the data
may differ from those shown in earlier Annual Reports.
n/a � not currently available
RPI points are partly determined by expenditure data. The determinants of RPI points are more fully described in the nar-
rative accompanying Table 8.
Total research expenditure for 1999-2002 has been revised in accordance with advice from the Office of the Auditor
General.  

Table 14 RPI Points per FTE Academic Staff* 1998 � 2002

Year 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

RPI points 296,698 296,294 314,471 314,642 318,612

FTE Academics* 742 767 682 716 793

RPI points/FTE Academic 400 386 461 440 402

* Academic research staff are defined as Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) academic staff from all funding sources in academic
organisational units only, and include teaching & research staff with a level of Lecturer B or above and research-only
academic staff at all levels. Hourly paid academic staff are excluded.

4 A discontinuity in the time series emerged with the introduction of the HORACE human resources system that allowed, from 2000, data
to be drawn from the system according to staff by function.  Beforehand, this exercise had relied on annual survey returns. Additional
work has beensubsequently undertaken from 2001 on to ensure staff are correctly classified in HORACE.
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Research Publications
(q) Number of Research Publications per 10 FTE

Academic Staff: Comparison between Curtin, the
Average of all ATN Universities, and the Average of all
Australian Universities

Research publications per 10 full-time equivalent (FTE)
academic staff at Curtin are provided in Table 16 and com-
pared with the publication rates for ATN and all Australian
universities. All staff data are derived from the 

Commonwealth annual statistical collections. The defini-
tion of academic research staff is identical to that used for
efficiency indicators (o) and (p). 

Table 16 shows that in respect of the number of
research publications per 10 FTE Academic staff, Curtin is
in line with the ATN average. Once again the increase in
the staff denominator impacts on the data.

68

Table 15 Research Funding ($�000) per 10 FTE Academic Staff: 

Comparison between Curtin, the Average of all ATN Universities and the 

Average of all Australian Universities 2000 � 2002*

2000 2001 2002

Source of Research Funding Curtin ATN** All*** Curtin ATN All Curtin ATN All

National Competitive Research Grants 79 64 133 77 64 137 58 58 137

Other Public Sector Research Funding 56 56 52 91 65 64 108 80 80

Industry & Other Funding for Research 127 87 87 135 99 100 121 83 104

Cooperative Research Centre Funds 62 27 26 50 24 25 56 28 29

Other Sources (ie Research Quantum 
& Research Infrastructure) 72 59 83 71 60 88 77 69 112

Total 396 293 381 424 312 414 420 318 462

* FTE Academics are from all funding sources in academic organisational units and include the category of teaching &
research staff with a level of Lecturer B or above and research only academic staff at all levels. Hourly paid academic staff
are excluded. All staff data are derived from the Commonwealth annual statistical collections.
** ATN refers to the average of all ATN Universities.
*** All refers to the average of all Australian Universities. 

Table 16 Number of Research Publications per 10 FTE Academic Staff*: 
Comparison of Curtin, Average of all ATN Universities and 

Average of all Australian Universities, 2000 � 2002

2000 2001 2002 

Publication Type Curtin ATN** All*** Curtin ATN All Curtin ATN All

Books 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2

Book Chapters
Journal Articles
Conference Publications 8.7 7.8 8.3 7.5 7.7 8.5 7.4 8.5 8.8

Patents n/a n/a n/a 0.0 0.0 0.0 n/a n/a n/a

Total 8.8 7.9 8.5 7.7 7.7 8.7 7.5 8.6 9.1

* FTE Academics are from all funding sources in academic organisational units and include the category of teaching &
research staff with a level of Lecturer B or above and research only academic staff at all levels. Hourly paid academic
staff are excluded.

** ATN refers to the average of all ATN Universities.
*** All refers to the average of all Australian Universities.
n/a � not applicable 
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Curtin’s desired outcome in respect of Vocational Skills
Formation and Development is 

to supply quality teaching and skills formation services
to both meet customer needs and provide education
and training for employment in the region 

The indicators appearing in box above and described
below assist performance assessment.

B1 Effectiveness Indicators
(r) Percentage of Graduates Satisfied with Courses

Table 17 covering the years 2000 – 2003, signals the
extent to which Curtin met individual student needs in
terms of skills formation outcomes through provision of
training services, and as assessed as part of a nationally con-
ducted Graduate Survey.

(s) Employment Rate of Graduates

Table 18, showing the proportion of graduates in
employment in the year following their graduation, indi-
cates the extent to which the desired outcomes were suc-
cessfully achieved in terms of an employable and adaptable
workforce5. Historically, comparative State and National
data suggest that Curtin is on par in terms of employment
outcomes, while performing better if the measure is unem-
ployment. The indicator Not in Labour Force masks grad-
uates’ willingness to work and also needs to be considered
in light of data for graduates enrolled in further study
(Table 19).
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Table 17 Graduate Satisfaction 2000 � 2003

2000 2001 2002 2003

Curtin (88%) N/A (79%) 73%
(73%)

State (79%) N/A (77%) 78%
(77%)

National (80%) N/A (78%) 79%
(78%)

Note: Bracketed percentages represent estimates prepared by the National Centre for Vocational Education and Research
(NCVER), provided to the Western Australian Department of Training and Employment (WADOT), and were intended as a
better measure of the full year�s outcomes given the data collected in June. No estimate was provided by WADOT in
2001. Unbracketed percentages generated from actual rather than estimated responses.
Curtin VTEC registered a response rate of 29% based on 200 responses. The percentage outcomes should not be inter-
preted as representative of the population.
Rounding errors may occur.

B1 Effectiveness

B2 Efficiency

Ref Name Output/Objective

r

s

t

u

Percentage of Graduates Satisfied with Courses

Employment Rate of Graduates

Graduates in Further Study

Expenditure per Student Curriculum Hour

Graduate
Satisfaction

Employability

Eligibility

Resources Use

5 The TAFE 2003 Student Outcome Survey of 2002 graduates, who were in paid employment as at 30 May 2003, was conducted by I-view
on behalf of the National Centre for Vocational Education Research.
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(t) Graduates in Further Study

The proportion of graduates who enrol in further study
provides another measure of effectiveness in achieving the
desired outcome of meeting customer needs. Table 19 pro-
vides these data for the period 2000 – 2003, with Curtin
benchmarked against State and National data6. Note that
respondents may also be in work whilst engaging in further
study.
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Table 18 Graduates� Employment and Unemployment Rates 2000 � 2003

2000 2001 2002 2003

No. % No % No. % No. %

Employed 

Curtin 76 73% N/A N/A 105 (79%) 159 81%

(78%) (79%)

State 4056 73% N/A N/A 4357 (72%) 4085 73%

(74%) (73%)

National 30732 76% N/A N/A 30109 (73%) 29996 75%

(76%) (74%)

Unemployed

Curtin 7 7% N/A N/A 16 (10%) 16 8%

(6%) (10%)

State 661 12% N/A N/A 776 (12%) 657 12%

(11%) (12%)

National 4754 12% N/A N/A 5305 (13%) 4785 12%

(11%) (13%)

Not in Labour Force

Curtin 21 20% N/A N/A 15 (10%) 19 10%

(16%) (10%) 

State 845 15% N/A N/A 992 (15%) 772 14%

(14%) (13%)

National 5176 13% N/A N/A 5795 (14%) 4556 11%

(12%) (11%)

Note: Bracketed percentages represent estimates prepared by the National Centre for Vocational Education and Research
(NCVER), provided to the Western Australian Department of Training and Employment (WADOT), and were intended as a
better measure of the full year�s outcomes given the data collected in June. The non-bracketed results for 2000 and 2003
are consistent with those for 1999. No estimate has been provided by WADOT in 2001. 
Unbracketed percentages generated from actual rather than estimated responses.
Curtin VTEC registered a response rate of 29% based on 200 responses. The percentage outcomes should not be inter-
preted as representative of the population.
Rounding errors may occur.  

6 Source: 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 Student Outcomes Survey.
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B2 Efficiency Indicator

(u) Expenditure per Student Curriculum Hour

Table 20 records expenditure and Student Curriculum
Hours (SCH). Ratios of Expenditure to SCH, with the 

numerator definition altered to reflect Teaching or Non-
Teaching Costs respectively, are shown together with an
overall Total Cost per SCH indicator. 
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Table 19 Graduates Enrolled in Further Study 2000 � 2003

2000 2001 2002 2000

Curtin 38 (36%) N/A N/A 44 (29%) 45 34%

(32%)

State 2238 (40%) N/A N/A 2624 (42%) 1576 44%

(45%)

National 15348 (38%) N/A N/A 16238 (40%) 10729 42%

(43%)

Note: Bracketed percentages represent estimates prepared by the National Centre for Vocational Education and Research
(NCVER), provided to the Western Australian Department of Training and Employment (WADOT), and were intended as a
better measure of the full year�s outcomes given the data collected in June. No estimate has been provided by WADOT in
2001. 
Rounding errors may occur.
Unbracketed percentages are generated from actual rather than estimated responses.
Curtin VTEC registered a response rate of 29% based on 200 responses. The percentage outcomes should not be inter-
preted as representative of the population. The percentage outcomes should not be interpreted as representative of the
population. 

Table 20 Expenditure per Student Curriculum Hour 2000 � 2003

2000 2001 2002 2003

Total Student Curriculum Hours 737,917 738,674 814,338 778,501

Total T&L Expenditure $11,471,216 $11,196,442 $12,860,042 $14,065,597*

Teaching Expenditure per Student Curriculum Hour $8.41 $8.79 $9.60 $11.28

Non-Teaching Expenditure per Student Curriculum Hour $7.13 $6.37 $6.19 $6.76

Total Teaching Expenditure per Student Curriculum Hour $15.55 $15.16 $15.79 $18.04

Student curriculum hour data are preliminary pending validation by Western Australian Department of Training and
Employment.
Note that 2002 and 2003 figures include non-teaching expenditure so as to fully reflect operational efficiency.
Total T&L expenditure for 2002 has been revised in accordance with advice from the Office of the Auditor General.
* Total T&L expenditure includes $6.435m of other non-teaching related expenditure.
Rounding Errors may occur. 
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CERTIFICATION STATEMENTS
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE
LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS

We hereby certify that during the period 1 January 2003 to 31 December 2003 that Curtin University of
Technology has operated within the provisions of the Curtin University of Technology Act (1966) and has also
complied with the Financial Administration and Audit Act (1985) and all other relevant written laws.

Eric Tan L T Twomey David Menarry

Chancellor Vice-Chancellor Acting Principal Accounting Officer

Dated this 7th day of May 2004

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REQUIRED BY DEST

I declare that:

• at the time of this certification there are reasonable grounds to believe that Curtin University of Technology will
be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due; and

• the amount of Commonwealth financial assistance expended during the financial year ending 31 December
2003 was for the purpose(s) for which it was provided.

L T Twomey

Vice-Chancellor

Dated this 7th day of May 2004



CERTIFICATION STATEMENTS

CERTIFICATION OF 2003 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We hereby certify that the annual financial statements of Curtin University of Technology and the accompanying con-
solidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Administration
and Audit Act (1985) from proper accounts and records.

(i) In our opinion the annual financial statements present fairly the financial transactions for the period 1 January 2003
to 31 December 2003 and the financial position of Curtin University of Technology as at 31 December 2003.

(ii)At the date of signing we are aware of no circumstances which would render any particulars included in the annu-
al financial statements misleading or inaccurate with the exception of the issues relating to the student fees and the bank
reconciliation as disclosed at note 1 (w) to the financial statements which are currently being investigated and resolved
and are fully provided for as at 31 December 2003.

Eric Tan

Chancellor

L T Twomey

Vice-Chancellor

David Menarry

Acting Principal Accounting Officer

Dated this 7th day of May 2004
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Curtin University of Technology

Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2003

Economic Entity Parent Entity
[Consolidated] [General University]

Note 2003 2002 2003 2002
$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

Current Assets
Cash Assets – Unrestricted 6 22,448 14,089 22,059 13,425
Receivables 8 21,838 22,219 20,529 22,093
Inventories 7 2,319 2,423 2,312 2,416
Other Financial Assets – Investments 9 36,083 27,000 36,113 27,000
Other 10 13,155 13,736 14,434 13,642
Total Current Assets 95,843 79,467 95,447 78,576

Non-Current Assets
Receivables 8 61,852 73,430 61,852 73,430
Other Financial Assets – Investments 9 13,986 21,320 13,986 21,350
Property, Plant and Equipment 11, 38 525,583 528,166 525,545 528,122
Other 10 710 721 710 741
Total Non-Current Assets 602,131 623,637 602,093 623,643

Total Assets 697,974 703,104 697,540 702,219

Current Liabilities
Payables 12 12,031 9.913 11,840 9,145
Interest bearing liabilities 13 599 580 599 580
Provisions 14 37,365 29,998 37,283 29,918
Other 15 23,735 25,805 23,646 25,740
Total Current Liabilities 73,730 66,296 73,368 65,383

Non-Current Liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 13 26,867 27,683 26,804 27,618
Provisions 14 78,581 91,157 78,581 91,549
Total Non-Current Liabilities 105,448 118,840 105,385 119,167

Total Liabilities 179,178 185,136 178,753 184,550

Net Assets 518,796 517,968 518,787 517,669

Equity
Reserves 16 101,162 101,353 101,162 101,353
Retained Profits 34 417,634 416,615 417,625 416,316
Total Equity 518,796 517,968 518,787 517,669

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Curtin University of Technology

Statement of Financial Performance

For the Year ended 31 December 2003

Economic Entity Parent Entity
[Consolidated] [General University]

Note 2003 2002 2003 2002
$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

Revenue from Ordinary Activities
Commonwealth Government Financial Assistance 17 123,978 117,310 123,978 117,310
Higher Education Contribution Scheme
- Commonwealth Payments 18 52,755 46,944 52,755 46,944
- Student Contributions 18 10,920 11,365 10,920 11,365
Postgraduate Education Loan Scheme 2(a)(v) 7,894 3,962 7,894 3,962
State Government Financial Assistance 19 15,316 13,844 15,316 13,844
Superannuation
- Deferred Government Contributions 1(i)(ii) 1,039 601 1,039 601
- Commonwealth Supplementation 17 6,518 5,923 6,518 5,923
Fees & Charges 20, 2(a)(iii) 119,711 110,693 119,711 110,693
Investment Income 21, 2(a)(iv) 4,505 1,995 4,505 1,995 
Consultancy and Contract Research 22 14,846 13,787 9,305 8,696 
Other Revenue 23 38,786 41,264 41,577 40,144 
Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities 396,268 367,688 393,518 361,477 

Expenses from Ordinary Activities
Employee Benefits 24 229,958 216,298 228,752 214,458
Depreciation & Amortisation 25 20,274 19,188 20,258 19,166
Buildings & Grounds 27 16,028 15,051 16,044 15,027
Bad and Doubtful Debts 29 7,282 550 7,281 549
Other Expenses 30 119,190 112,497 117,357 108,061
Borrowing Cost Expense 26 2,708 2,479 2,708 2,453
Total Expenses from Ordinary Activities 395,440 366,063 392,400 359,714

Net Operating Result 828 1,625 1,118 1,763

Net increase in asset revaluation reserve 16 – 5,818 – 5,818 

Total Changes in Equity Other than those Resulting 
from Transactions with Owners as Owners 828 7,443 1,118 7,581

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

79



Curtin University of Technology

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Year ended 31 December 2003

Economic Entity Parent Entity
[Consolidated] [General University]

Note 2003 2002 2003 2002
$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Inflows
Commonwealth Financial Assistance and Contributions 178,044 170,624 178,044 170,624
Higher Education Contribution Scheme Student Inflows 10,920 11,365 10,920 11,365
Postgraduate Education Loan Scheme 7,573 3,962 7, 573 3,962
Fees & Charges 115,638 106,558 115,643 106,559
Donations & Bequests 1,944 1,063 1,944 1,005
Interest 4,400 1,995 4,400 1,995
Trading Entities 12,598 14,209 11,234 14,443
Other Operating Revenue 31,133 39,368 30,036 33,024
Outflows
Payments to Employees (215,064) (218,204) (214,247) (215,963)
Payments to Suppliers (132,977) (137,269) (131,076) (133,689)
Interest Paid to WA Treasury Corporation (2,636) (2,508) (2,636) (2,482)
Net GST (733) 517 (746) 515
Net Cash provided by/(used in) Operating Activities 33 10,840 (8,320) 11,089 (8,642)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Inflows
Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 1,438 573 1,438 574
Proceeds from Sale of Investments – 20,230 – 20,231
Proceeds from Repayments of Loans made 10 40 30 19
Outflows
Outflows for Property, Plant and Equipment (17,178) (34,314) (17,171) (34,280)
Outflows for Investments (1,558) – (1,559) –
Net Cash used in Investing Activities (17,288) (13,471) (17,262) (13,456)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Inflows
Proceeds of borrowings: – Other – 19 – –
Outflows
Repayment of borrowings to WA Treasury Corporation (796) (561) (796) (562)
Net Cash used in Financing Activities (796) (542) (796) (562)

Cash Flows From Government
Inflows
Appropriations, Financial Assistance and Subsidies 15,603 13,844 15,603 13,844
Net Cash from Government 15,603 13,844 15,603 13,844
Net increase/(decrease) in Cash Held 8,359 (8,490) 8,634 (8,816)
Cash at the Beginning of the Financial Year 14,089 22,579 13,425 22,241
Cash at the End of the Financial Year 6 22,448 14,089 22,059 13,425

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Accounts 

1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements. Unless otherwise stated these
policies are consistent with those adopted in the preceding year. 

a Basis of Preparation 

i The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration and Audit Act (1985). The
financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Consensus Views as applied by Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of
these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. The Financial
Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing preparation of financial
statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards and UIG Consensus Views. The modifications are
intended to fulfil the requirements of general application to the public sector, together with the need for greater disclo-
sure and also to satisfy accountability requirements. If any such modification has a material or significant financial effect
upon the reported results, details of that modification and where practicable the resulting financial effect are disclosed in
individual notes to the financial statements.

ii Subject to the exceptions noted in the paragraphs below, the financial statements have been drawn up on the basis of his-
torical cost principles.

iii The accrual basis of accounting has been applied.

iv The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention and do not take
account of changes in either the general purchasing power of the dollar or prices of specific assets except as disclosed below.

b Principles of Consolidation

The column headed “Parent Entity” discloses the results of the general fund and all related operations of that fund. The column
headed “Economic Entity” incorporates the results of all funds, related operations and controlled entities of the University. Details
of controlled entities are disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements.

All inter-entity balances and transactions have been eliminated. Where an entity either began or ceased to be controlled during
the year, the results are included only from the date control commenced or up to the date control ceased.

c Valuation of Property Plant and Equipment

The valuation methodology employed for each asset class is:

i Freehold and leasehold land were independently valued during 2001 by the Valuer General’s Office, 18 Mount Street,
Perth, Western Australia in a valuation which included all holdings other than land held for staff housing in Northam
and Kalgoorlie. 

Native Title Claims have been lodged with the National Native Title Tribunal in respect of a portion of the above men-
tioned land, being crown land vested in the University, including the Kalgoorlie and Bentley campuses. 

ii Library books acquired in the four years prior to 31 December 2003 have been recognised at cost. The asset is included
in the asset class ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

iii Commercial computer software valued at greater than $1,000 has been recorded and valued at its historical cost. Internally
developed software is not capitalised. Rather, it is expensed in the year of development.

iv Buildings at valuation includes assets which were independently valued during 2001 by independent valuers Ralph Beattie
Bosworth Pty Ltd. The valuation is carried out every 3 years and is on the basis of depreciated capital replacement value.
Purchases since that date have been recorded at cost under the Buildings at Fair Value class (ie using cost for building pur-
chases since the last revaluation is used as the value which closely approximates the current capital replacement value).

v The starting date for the depreciation of constructed buildings is determined by their date of practical completion.

vi Work in progress on buildings represents the costs associated with the construction of buildings which have not yet
reached their date of practical completion.

vii Computer equipment and other plant (other than personal desktop computers ) are shown at historical cost less depre-
ciation. Personal desktop computers costing less than $5,000 are fully expensed in the month of purchase. Items costing
less than $1,000 are also expensed in the year of acquisition.

viiiMotor vehicles are shown at cost less accumulated depreciation (University depreciation policy for Motor Vehicles
changed in 2002. Please refer note 1(f) “Depreciation and Amortisation of Non-Current Assets”).

ix An independent valuation of the University’s Art collection was undertaken over the period September to December 2002
by Christie’s Australia Pty Ltd. The valuation encompassed all significant items held across Curtin campuses in addition
to those housed in the University’s dedicated art precinct, the John Curtin Gallery. The valuation was carried out with
full inspection. Items were valued at ‘Double Low Auction Estimate’ method, reflecting prices estimated to be paid at
auction to replace any totally lost item with a comparable work.
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d Investments, Foreign Currency Deposits and Overseas Bank Accounts

Investments other than shares are stated at market value as at 31 December 2003. Unlisted shares are stated at historical cost unless
there has been a permanent diminution in value, in which event a recoverable amount write-down has been made. Listed securi-
ties are stated at market value. 

In prior years, listed securities were valued at lower of cost and net realisable value. The change in valuation method has resulted
in an increase in net operating result increase of $156,000 for 2003.

Foreign currency deposits and overseas bank accounts are expressed in their Australian dollar equivalent as at balance date. All
translation of foreign currencies to Australian dollars were determined as the average of buy and sell rates available on the close of
business at balance date.

e Leased Assets

All financial leases are treated in accordance with the provisions of Australian Accounting Standard AAS 17 “Leases”. Assets
acquired under finance leases have been included as non-current assets in the statement of financial position. Finance leases effec-
tively transfer from the lessor to the lessee all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased property.

When an asset is acquired the finance lease is brought to account by capitalising, at the beginning of the lease term, an initial asset
and liability equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments. Assets subject to finance leases have been amortised by
systematic charges against operating expenses over the periods which are expected to benefit from the use of those assets. Lease
payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction in the lease liability.

All operating lease payments are charged as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

f Depreciation and Amortisation of Non-Current Assets 

Not all property, plant and equipment is depreciated. The following rates and/or methodologies apply: 

• Leasehold land and improvements amortised over the 99 year life of the lease 
(Vickery House) 

• Freehold land not depreciated 

• Buildings on freehold land depreciated over the useful life of the assets 
(including transportables) 

• Computer equipment (including software) 25% pa reducing balance method 
(other than personal desktop computers) 

• Works of Art not depreciated 

• Motor Vehicles As from 1 July 2002 (effective date for the phasing out of Sales Tax
and replacement of GST), vehicles have been depreciated at the
rate of 20% pa straight line. 

• Other plant and equipment 12.5% pa reducing balance method 

• Library Books total acquisitions in the third-year preceeding the current year are
depreciated at a rate of 100%. No depreciation applies to books
purchased in the three years prior to 31 December 2003.

Profits and losses on disposal of non-current assets are taken into account in determining the result for the year. 

g Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value with allowances being made for obsolete stock where consid-
ered necessary. Cost is assigned on a weighted average basis. 

At Muresk, the livestock is valued on the basis of average cost whilst the hay and grains are valued at the lower of cost and net real-
isable value. 

h Special Reserves

Special reserves are created for funds which are retained for expenditure on specified items in future years.

i Employee Entitlements

Employee entitlements are accounted for in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1028 “Employee Benefits”.

i Provisions for Annual and Long Service Leave

Amounts expected to be paid to employees in respect of their pro rata entitlements to long service leave and annual leave
at current remuneration rates are accrued in accordance with the following methodology:

• The actual annual leave balance owing to each employee at balance date (31 December 2003) is accrued at rates
expected to satisfy the entitlement when leave is taken at a future date. This rate therefore incorporates any increase
which will arise from: 

– anniversary increments within salary range; 

– anticipated increases arising through enterprise bargaining agreements. 
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• Long service leave entitlements owing to employees are based on an actuarial valuation performed by independent val-
uers. They are measured at the present value of estimated future cash outflows to be made by the University for ser-
vices provided by employees up to the balance date. Provisions include employee on-costs. 

ii Superannuation 

Unfunded Superannuation:

The liability for superannuation charges incurred under the Superannuation and Family Benefits Act pension scheme,
together with the pre-transfer service liability for employees who transferred to the Gold State Super scheme, are provid-
ed for at balance date. In 2003, the University commissioned PricewaterhouseCoopers to perform an annual actuarial val-
uation of its potential unfunded liability with respect to the University’s invalid pension fund and supplementary pension
fund of the Curtin University of Technology Superannuation Scheme 1968-1993.

The University’s obligation to meet unfunded Government Employees Superannuation Board State superannuation enti-
tlements is accounted for as a liability with the corresponding amount receivable from the Commonwealth Government
treated as a receivable. Independent valuations are carried out on the provision each year. Annual valuations which result
in provision movements are included under Deferred Employee Benefits for Superannuation in the Employee Benefits
Note 24. Corresponding movements in the receivable due from the Commonwealth are recorded as revenue under
Deferred Government Contributions for Superannuation in revenue from Superannuation in the Statement of Financial
Performance. 

Funded Superannuation:

The University makes superannuation contributions on behalf of eligible staff to the UniSuper Award Plus (formerly
TESS) and UniSuper DBP/ICP plans. These amounts are disclosed under ‘Employee Benefits’ in the Statement of
Financial Performance. Assets and liabilities of the UniSuper plans are disclosed in those entities’ financial statements.

j Endowment and Trust Funds

Endowments are received by the University to fund research activities, scholarships, donations, prizes and lectures. Being restrict-
ed investments, these funds are held in trust and are not available to the University for general expenditure. 

k Insurance

Treasurer’s Instructions issued under the authority of the Financial Administration and Audit Act (1985) require the Principal
Accounting Officer to ensure that there is an appropriate level of insurance cover over all insurable risks, and to review such insur-
ance arrangements prior to renewal.

The University has acquired appropriate cover through an appointed insurance broker for all relevant risks with the exception of
limited self insurance arrangements. Due to the minor nature of this self insurance scheme no provisions are made in the finan-
cial statements for internal coverage of this risk.

l Amenities and Services Fee

The University is required by State legislation to impose an annual amenities and services fee in 2003. That portion of the fee col-
lected from Curtin Student Guild members is passed on to the Student Guild after deducting an amount to cover University
administrative charges. The portion of the fee collected from non-Student Guild members is applied by the University for the ben-
efit of students on such amenities and services as social, cultural and sporting activities, student welfare and advocacy etc. The fee
has been introduced for the first time in its present form in 2003.

m Income Tax

The University is exempt from income tax.

n Fringe Benefits Tax 

The University is liable to pay fringe benefits tax, and it is included in expenditure reported.

o Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

The University receives GST on certain non-tuition fee revenue items and pays GST on assessable items. In the Statement of
Financial Position, GST paid is recorded as a receivable while outputs are recorded as a liability. The amounts are not netted off. 

p Receivables 

Accounts receivable are recognised at the amounts receivable as they are due for settlement no more than 30 days from the date
of recognition. Collectibility of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are writ-
ten off. An allowance for doubtful debts is raised where doubts as to collection exist.

q Accrued or Prepaid Salaries

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the end of the last pay period for
that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. The University considers the carrying amount 
approximates net fair value. If the payroll is paid on a date prior to the end of both the end of the financial year and the fortnightly
payroll cycle which overlaps the year end, the amount prepaid which relates to the following reporting period is treated as a 
current asset.
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r Payables

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the University becomes obliged to make future payments as a result
of a purchase of assets or services. Payables are generally settled with a 30 day term.

s Interest-bearing liabilities

Bank loans and other loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received. Borrowing cost expense is recognised
on an accrual basis.

t Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rates in existence at the dates of the transactions. Foreign cur-
rency receivables and payables at reporting date are translated at exchange rates current at reporting date.

u Bad and Doubtful Debts

Bad debts are written off in the year when they become uncollectable.

v Revenue 

Operating grants and Higher Education Contribution Scheme actually received in 2003 which relate to the 2004 year of opera-
tions have been recognised as a liability at reporting date. 

w Student Debtors and Bank Reconciliation

The University did not achieve a full reconciliation of the student debtors account to the general ledger during the year and could
not satisfy itself as to the recoverability of the debts outstanding. However, since July 2003, the University has set aside significant
resources to manage and resolve the issues relating to student debts. All uncollectible amounts are fully provided for as at 31
December 2003.

The reconciliation of the University bank account to the general ledger was not effective during the year. However the University
has since set aside considerable resources to investigate and clear the unmatched items.

x Rounding

All dollar amounts presented in the Financial Statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand.

y Comparatives

Comparative amounts reflect the figures as presented in the Financial Statements for 2002. Note 17 has been adjusted to reflect
the correct allocation of the grant revenue.

2 Comparisons of Current with Previous Year Actual
a Revenue from Ordinary Activities

i Commonwealth Government Financial Assistance

There was additional funding from the Commonwealth for 2003 due to:

– additional student places within funded load;

– over enrolments funding of $1.636 million (2002 – $0.742 million)

In addition, extra DEST funding was received for Workplace Reform initiatives ($2.64 million) and capital development
pool funding for the Margaret River Centre for Wine Excellence ($2.090 million)

ii State Government Financial Assistance

The 10.6% increase to $15.315 million resulted from grants received for the WA Centre for EMC Technology and the
WA Centre for Evidence Based Nursing.

iii Fees & Charges

Income overall rose by 8.14% for 2003 due predominantly to the increase in international on-shore fee paying students
by 790 EFTSU to 5,031 EFTSU as at 31 August 2003. The overall increase was realised notwithstanding a reduction in
income from offshore programs influenced by the SARS epidemic and economic downturn in Asian countries. A net
adjustment of $1.937 million to the fee-paying student income, for corrections to student accounts in 2000 to 2002, was
made as identified by the Student Fees Project team.

iv Investment Income

Higher prevailing interest rates on investments and a negotiated increase for the rate payable on the University’s general
operating accounts were the main contributing factors to greater investment revenue for 2003. The investment appreci-
ation from unit trusts (Zurich and Vanguard) amounted to $0.067m in 2003.

v Postgraduate Education Loan Scheme (PELS)

An increase in PELS and BOTPLS to $7.894 million (2002 – $3.962 million)
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b Expenses from Ordinary Activities

i Employee Benefits

Employee Benefits Salaries costs increased by $13.66m compared to 2002 due to the following factors:

– a 3 per cent increase in salaries from October 2003.

– there were some redundancies and severance payouts across the University.

– appointment of new professors (higher salaries costs)

– decrease in the valuation of the provision for unfunded superannuation of $10.279m.

ii Bad and Doubtful Debts

The increase in Bad and Doubtful Debts is primarily due to the significant increase in provision for doubtful debts for
student debtors from 1999 to 2002 of $7.724 million, which was identified from the Student Fees Project (refer to note
3(ix)).

iii Other Expenses

A significant proportion of this increase can be attributed to increase in internet charges, computer equipment leases or
purchases relating to new research contracts and general computer upgrades ($2.025m). Also, included are $1.59m addi-
tional purchases of non capitalised equipment and $2.456 million of prior year adjustment on unfunded superannua-
tion.

3 Explanatory Statement on Significant Variations Between Budget Estimates 
and Actual Results
The financial management of the University is devolved to the Deputy Vice-Chancellor, the Pro Vice-Chancellors, Chief Financial
Officer, University Secretary, Executive Deans and Directors of Branches/Campuses. Throughout 2003, the University has con-
tinued to develop and improve its budget setting process for all its activities in addition to the University’s main Teaching and
Research programs.  At the time of budget setting process, the budget was set as an estimate for the areas to use as an operation
benchmark for 2003.  During 2003, the Divisions/Schools/Areas had the capacity to revise the budget to provide a better com-
parison with the actual performance of the areas. There were no explanatory notes to variances in the original budget versus actu-
al balance sheet as these are mainly due to internal adjustments and methodology applied during the budget setting process.  As
a result, there were no significant variances.

The following notes are in respect of the 2003 University budget as approved by Council and the actual outcomes as disclosed in
these financial statements.

Revenue from Ordinary Activities

i Commonwealth Government Financial Assistance – Teaching
(Budget $163.266m, Actual $173.336m, Variance $10.07m)

The additional funding is due to over enrolments ($1.636 million), $2.641 million Workplace reform monies from
Department of Education, Science and Training (DEST), increase in DEST capital development pool funding ($2.09 mil-
lion) for Margaret River Centre for Wine Excellence (MRCWE) and $3.1 million funding for Away From Base which were
not part of the 2003 budget.

ii Fees and Charges
(Budget $9.332m, Actual $14.035m, Variance $4.703m)

Fees and charges is $4.703 million higher than budget are mainly due to the increase in summer school fees ($0.405m),
extension fees ($1.313m), student examination fees ($0.593m), and amenities and services fees of $2.336m.

iii Investment Income
(Budget $3.154m, Actual $4.505m, Variance $1.351m)

Increase in actual interest rate during the second half of 2003 has resulted in the investment earnings being higher than fore-
cast.

iv Fee Paying Student Income
(Budget $111.591m, Actual $109.151m, Variance ($2.440m))

The significant decline in fee income is mainly due to a decrease in students enrolled in Off-shore programs, particularly in
Singapore and Hong Kong. The unforeseen factors such as SARS and the Asian economy downturn have contributed to the
reduction in student numbers from these countries.

Expenses from Ordinary Activities

v Salaries – Academic Staff
(Budget $113.715m, Actual $125.16m, Variance $11.445m)
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Salaries – General Staff
(Budget $98.004m, Actual $107.836m, Variance $9.832m)

Variations in salary expenditure (excluding the decrease in the valuation of the provision for unfunded superannuation of
$10.279m) against budget represent additions to and expenditure understatements on programs and activities not included
in the original budget. These additions are primarily due to an increase in activities associated with an increase in revenue
streams. There were some redundancies and severance payouts across the University that were not budgeted in 2003. Also,
appointment of new professors and three per cent increase in salaries from October 2003 were not budgeted in 2003.

vi Travel & Transport
(Budget $10.736, Actual $12.056m, Variance $1.320m)

The variation is mainly due to increase in travelling associated with teaching and research activities.

vii Computing Costs
(Budget $14.940m, Actual $18.642m, Variance $3.702m)

A significant proportion of this variance can be attributed to the increase in internet charges, computer equipment leases,
purchases relating to new research contracts and general computer upgrades.

viii Advertising
(Budget $2.747m, Actual $3.987m, Variance $1.240m)

Increase in University-wide marketing activities including advertising media and production, recruitment and other promo-
tional activities.

ix Bad and Doubtful Debts
(Budget $0.133m, Actual $6.725m Variance $6.592m)

The increase in Bad and Doubtful Debts is primarily due to the significant increase in the provision for doubtful debts for
student debtors from 1999 to 2002 to $7.724 million, which was identified from the Student Fees Project.

Provision as identified by the Student Fees Project $7.664m

Add: Amounts identified for write-off in 2004 $0.060m

Total $7.724m

4 Resources Received Free of Charge 
Part of the site upon which the University is located, namely the Bentley campus, Western Australia is held in trust, in perpetu-
ity. On 4 December 1968, by virtue of the provisions of Section 33 of the Land Act 1933-1968, the Governor directed that
Reserve No. 27142 vest in and be held by the University in trust for its present objects and purpose. The University has power
under the direction to lease the whole or any portion of the land for any term not exceeding 21 years, or with approval of the
Governor, for a longer term.

5 Controlled Entities 
Name Legal Status Place of Proportion Cost of Contribution to

Incorporation Held Investments Group Results 
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

% % $ $ $000’s $000’s

Uniservices Proprietary Western 100 100 30,100 30,100 (53) 28
Kalgoorlie Pty Ltd Company Australia 
(ACN 009 332 334) Limited by
(formerly School of Shares 
Mines Services 
Pty Ltd ) 
Curtin Consultancy Company Western 100 100 – – 271 (165)
Services Ltd Limited by Australia 
(ACN 008 751 175) Guarantee 
The financial results of the controlled entities listed above have been consolidated in the University’s financial statements. 
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Economic Entity Parent Entity
[Consolidated] [General University]
2003 2002 2003 2002

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

6 Cash Assets
Cash at Bank

BankWest General Account 18,431 10,813 18,431 10,812

BankWest Salaries Imprest Account 700 700 700 700

Bankwest Salary Packaging Trust Account 1,078 300 1,078 300

BankWest Bookshop Account 1,807 1,563 1,807 1,563

BankWest (Curtin Consultancy Services Ltd) 389 628 – –

BankWest (Uniservices Kalgoorlie Pty Ltd) (2) 34 – –

Total Cash at Bank 22,403 14,038 22,016 13,375

Cash Imprests

Petty Cash Imprests 24 30 22 29

Cashiers Imprest 21 21 21 21

Total Cash Imprests 45 51 43 50

Total Cash Assets – Unrestricted 22,448 14,089 22,059 13,425

7 Inventories
Bookshop – Trading stock 1,470 1,737 1,470 1,737

Resource Centre – General maintenance stores 161 – 161 – 

Curtin Alumni – Memorabilia 246 60 246 60

Printing Services – Printing supplies 187 250 187 250

Kalgoorlie Campus – Teaching resources 34 20 34 20

Muresk – Hay 39 30 39 30

Muresk – Grain 24 43 24 43

Muresk – Chemicals/Fertilisers 8 82 8 82

Muresk – Wool – 12 – 12

Muresk – Sheep on hand 133 138 133 138

Muresk – Cattle on hand 10 44 10 44

Uniservices Kalgoorlie Pty Ltd – Catering stock 7 7 – – 

2,319 2,423 2,312 2,416

8 Receivables
General Debtors 14,987 12,237 13,675 12,106

Student Fee Debtors 9,884 7,171 9,884 7,171

Commonwealth Government – Unfunded State Superannuation 67,036 77,313 67,036 77,313

91,907 96,721 90,595 96,590

less Allowance for Doubtful Debts – Student Fee Debtors* (7,724) – (7,724) –

less Allowance for Doubtful Debts – General Debtors (493) (1,072) (490) (1,067)

Net Receivables 83,690 95,649 82,381 95,523

* 2003 balances include a significant increase in the allowance for doubtful debts of $7.724 million for student debtors from 1999
to 2002,  (refer to note 3 (ix)), and a correction of $0.8m to account for the understated 2002 balance. Corrections to the net
value of $1.937 million were made in 2003 to the student debtors for incorrect enrolments as identified by the Student Fees
Project team.
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Economic Entity Parent Entity
[Consolidated] [General University]
2003 2002 2003 2002

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s
Current

Gross Debtors 24,871 19,408 23,559 19,277

less Allowance for Doubtful Debts (8,217) (1,072) (8,214) (1,067)

Commonwealth Government – Unfunded State Superannuation 5,184 3,883 5,184 3,883

21,838 22,219 20,529 22,093 

Non-Current

Commonwealth Government – Unfunded State Superannuation 61,852 73,430 61,852 73,430 

Total Receivables 83,690 95,649 82,381 95,523

9 Other Financial Assets
Listed Securities (at fair value)

Shares 60 – 60 – 

Unlisted Securities (at cost)

Shares in Controlled Entities – – 30 30

Fixed Deposits 15,340 17,006 15,340 17,006

Equity Shares 360 71 360 71

15,700 17,077 15,730 17,107

Total Unrestricted Investments 15,760 17,077 15,790 17,107

Restricted Investments (refer to note 1(j))

Fixed Deposits

Research Activities 17,941 14,655 17,941 14,655

Donations and Prizes 13,179 12,477 13,179 12,477

Trust 3,189 4,111 3,189 4,111

Total Restricted Investments 34,309 31,243 34,309 31,243

Total Other Financial Assets 50,069 48,320 50,099 48,350

Disclosed as:

Current Assets 36,083 27,000 36,113 27,000

Non-Current Assets 13,986 21,320 13,986 21,350

50,069 48,320 50,099 48,350

10 Other Assets
WA State Treasury (capital loans) 460 483 460 483

Project Finance:

– Curtin Club 242 249 242 249

– Other 40 21 40 41

Advances and Prepayments 6,105 11,013 6,105 11,013

Accrued Income 6,020 1,546 7,370 1,546

GST Receivable 998 1,145 927 1,051

Total Other Assets 13,865 14,457 15,144 14,383

Disclosed as:

Current Assets 13,155 13,736 14,434 13,642

Non-Current Assets 710 721 710 741

13,865 14,457 15,144 14,383
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Economic Entity Parent Entity
[Consolidated] [General University]
2003 2002 2003 2002

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

11 Property, Plant and Equipment
Leasehold Land and Improvements

At cost 4,654 4,654 4,654 4,654

Accumulated Amortisation (333) (333) (333) (333)

4,321 4,321 4,321 4,321

Land

At fair value 82,391 83,008 82,391 83,008

Buildings

At fair value 396,201 391,960 396,201 391,960

Accumulated Depreciation (21,272) (10,437) (21,272) (10,437)

374,929 381,523 374,929 381,523

Work in Progress

Buildings (at cost) 2,935 3,528 2,935 3,528

377,864 385,051 377,864 385,051

Total Land and Buildings 464,576 472,380 464,576 472,380

Computing Equipment

At cost 35,480 37,824 35,480 37,824

Accumulated Depreciation (27,929) (29,864) (27,929) (29,864)

7,551 7,960 7,551 7,960

Other Equipment and Furniture

At cost 60,583 54,830 60,463 54,717

Accumulated Depreciation (33,171) (31,192) (33,089) (31,123)

27,412 23,638 27,374 23,594

Motor Vehicles

At cost 1,958 2,100 1,958 2,100

Accumulated Depreciation (94) (9) (94) (9)

1,864 2,091 1,864 2,091

Leased Plant

At cost 260 260 260 260

Accumulated Amortisation (227) (220) (227) (220)

33 40 33 40

Library Books

At cost 19,957 18,305 19,957 18,305

Accumulated Depreciation (4,351) (4,399) (4,351) (4,399)

15,606 13,906 15,606 13,906

Works of Art

At fair value 8,541 8,151 8,541 8,151

Total Property Plant and Equipment 525,583 528,166 525,545 528,122
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Economic Entity Parent Entity
[Consolidated] [General University]
2003 2002 2003 2002

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

12 Payables
Accrued Expenses 8,366 7,838 8,251 7,165

Trade Creditors 3,665 2,075 3,589 1,980

12,031 9,913 11,840 9,145

13 Interest Bearing Liabilities
Capital Borrowings Guaranteed by WA State Treasury 452 483 452 483

WA Treasury Corporation Ltd 26,951 27,716 26,951 27,715

Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines Pty Ltd 20 – – –

BankWest (Curtin Consultancy Services Ltd) 43 64 – –

27,466 28,263 27,403 28,198

Disclosed as:

Current Liabilities 599 580 599 580

Non-Current Liabilities 26,867 27,683 26,804 27,618

27,466 28,263 27,403 28,198

* Borrowings Financial Terms and Conditions. 
The University has the following capital loans which are predominantly with the WA Treasury Corporation Ltd.
Details of these loans as at balance date are as follows:

Principal Principal Current Annual
Outstanding Outstanding Interest Rate

31/12/03 31/12/02 31/12/03 Maturity
Description of the Borrowing $000’s $000’s % Date 

1 Capital Works 452 483 7.77 15 October 2017

2 Vickery House 1,730 1,847 7.93 15 October 2017

3 Muresk Campus Housing 2,050 2,050 6.50 15 July 2018

4 Bentley Campus Housing 16,800 16,800 7.05 15 January 2018

5 Kalgoorlie Arts Centre 6,371 7,019 7.00 15 January 2020

6 Curtin Consultancy Services Ltd 43 64 Nil Open

7 Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines Pty Ltd 20 – Nil Open

27,466 28,263

Loans 1 to 5 are with the WA Treasury Corporation and Loan 7 is with Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines.

Loans 1, 2 and 5 incur both principal and interest repayments quarterly whereas loans 3 and 4 have interest-only quar-
terly repayments and the loan principal is to be repaid at date of maturity.
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Economic Entity Parent Entity
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2003 2002 2003 2002

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

14 Provisions
Provisions have been established to meet the following future liabilities:

Long Service Leave 30,015 28,716 30,015 28,714

State Superannuation 67,036 75,059 67,036 75,453

Invalid Pension Fund and Supplementary Pension Fund 2,803 2,910 2,798 2,910

Annual Leave 16,090 14,468 16,013 14,388

Building Maintenance 2 2 2 2

115,946 121,155 115,864 121,467

Current

Long Service Leave 15,964 11,489 15,964 11,489

State Superannuation 5,184 3,884 5,184 3,884

Invalid Pension Fund and Supplementary Pension Fund 127 157 122 157

Annual Leave 16,090 14,468 16,013 14,388

37,365 29,998 37,283 29,918

Non-Current

Long Service Leave 14,051 17,227 14,051 17,224

State Superannuation 61,852 71,175 61,852 71,570

Invalid Pension Fund and Supplementary Pension Fund 2,676 2,753 2,676 2,753

Building Maintenance 2 2 2 2

78,581 91,157 78,581 91,549

Total Provisions 115,946 121,155 115,864 121,467

15 Other Liabilities
Finance Leases 2 4,563 – 4,545

Financial Assistance and Fees in Advance 21,805 19,336 21,805 19,384

Trusts 1,357 1,223 1,357 1,223

GST Payable and PAYG Withholding Tax 571 683 484 588

23,735 25,805 23,646 25,740

16 Special Reserves
Movements in Special Reserves were as follows:

Bookshop Library Grants Reserve

Balance 1 January * 35 29 35 29

Transfer to Reserve 26 35 26 35

Transfer from Reserve (35) (30) (35) (30)

Balance 31 December 26 34 26 34

Bookshop Student Assistance Grants Reserve

Balance 1 January * 195 198 194 198

Transfer to Reserve 79 106 79 106

Transfer from Reserve (89) (110) (89) (110)

Balance 31 December 185 194 184 194
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2003 2002 2003 2002

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s
Bookshop Future Development Reserve

Balance 1 January * 471 366 472 366

Transfers to Reserve 79 106 79 106

Balance 31 December 550 472 551 472

School and Departmental Reserves

Balance 1 January * 3,986 3,950 3,986 3,950

Transfers to Reserve 401 1,456 401 1,456

Transfers from Reserve (808) (1,389) (808) (1,389)

Balance 31 December 3,579 4,017 3,579 4,017

Unrealised Investment Appreciation Reserve

Balance 1 January * – 4 – 4

Transfers to Reserve 156 15 156 15

Transfers from Reserve – (15) – (15)

Balance 31 December 156 4 156 4

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance 1 January * 96,666 90,814 96,666 90,814

Reserve Increase on Revaluation of Artworks – 5,818 – 5,818

Balance 31 December 96,666 96,632 96,666 96,632

Summary

Balance 1 January 101,353 95,361 101,353 95,361

Transfers to Reserves 742 7,535 742 7,535

Transfers from Reserves (933) (1,543) (933) (1,543)

Balance 31 December 101,162 101,353 101,162 101,353

•Note: Opening balance in 2003 differs to the closing balance in 2002 due to discrepancies in 2002 balances.

17 Commonwealth Government Financial Assistance 
(including superannuation contributions from the Commonwealth, but excluding Higher Education

Contribution Scheme (HECS) and Postgraduate Education Loans Scheme (PELS))

Teaching & Learning:

Operating Financial Assistance (Excluding HECS and PELS) 105,002 101,531 105,002 101,531

Australian Research Council (ARC):

Discovery – Project (Large Grants) 2,177 1,385 2,177 1,385

SPIRT 1,329 880 1,329 880

Linkage – Infrastructure 952 204 952 204

Linkage – International Research Exchange 45 86 45 86

Discovery – Fellowships 95 – 95 –

Linkage – Special Research Initiatives 20 – 20 –
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Economic Entity Parent Entity
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2003 2002 2003 2002

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s
Department of Education, Science and Technology (DEST):

Institutional Grants Scheme 5,234 4,870 5,234 4,870

Research Training Scheme 10,554 9,819 10,554 9,819

Systemic Infrastructure Initiative 1,300 1,000 1,300 1,000

Research Infrastructure Block Grants 1,513 1,223 1,513 1,223

Australian Postgraduate Awards 1,733 1,691 1,733 1,691

International Postrgraduate Research Scholarships 542 544 542 544

130,496 123,233 130,496 123,233

18 Higher Education Contribution Scheme
Higher Education Contribution Scheme revenue was collected 
by the University as follows during the reporting period:

Received from the Higher Education Trust Fund 52,755 46,944 52,755 46,944

Received from Students 10,920 11,365 10,920 11,365

63,675 58,309 63,675 58,309

19 State Government Financial Assistance
West Australian Department of Training (Kalgoorlie College) 9,773 11,009 9,773 11,009

WA Government – Other 5,543 2,835 5,543 2,835

15,316 13,844 15,316 13,844

20 Fees and Charges
Fees and Charges are made up as follows:

Continuing Education 3,459 3,656 3,459 3,656

Fee Paying Overseas Students 95,003 84,062 95,003 84,062

Fee Paying Non-Overseas Postgraduate Students 6,254 10,957 6,254 10,957

Amenities and Services Fees* 2,336 – 2,336 –

Student Accommodation 4,419 4,455 4,419 4,455

Other 8,240 7,563 8,240 7,563

119,711 110,693 119,711 110,693

* $2,101k of the Amenities and Services Fees is paid to the Curtin Student Guild and is included within Other Expenses.

21 Investment Income
Dividends 40 366 40 6

Unrealised Value in Investments 156 – 156 –

Interest 4,309 1,629 4,309 1,989

4,505 1,995 4,505 1,995

22 Consultancy and Contract Research
Research Income from Overseas Contract 1,597 397 1,597 397

Research Income from Australian Contract 6,275 6,199 6,275 6,199

Consultancy Income 6,551 6,656 1,010 1,565

Other 423 535 423 535

14,846 13,787 9,305 8,696
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Note $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

23 Other Revenue
The major components of Other Revenue are:

Trading Income – Sale of Goods 12,948 14,209 12,932 13,761

Donations & Bequests 1,944 2,218 1,944 2,218

Rental Income 1,892 1,599 1,874 1,497

Sundry Income from Australian Business 3,171 5,217 6,002 4,647

Sundry Income from Australian Non-Profit Organisations 8,180 8,223 8,174 8,223

Sundry Income from Overseas Sources 1,788 4,581 1,788 4,581

Proceeds from Sale of Assets                                             28 1,438 574 1,438 574

Insurance Claims 397 238 397 238

Staff Salary Recoveries 698 658 698 658

Sale of Assets 122 112 122 112

Conference Income 511 436 511 436

Prior Year Adjustments 1,090 104 1,090 104

Other 4,607 3,095 4,607 3,095

38,786 41,264 41,577 40,144 

24 Employee Benefits
Academic

Salaries 91,470 89,672 91,470 89,672

Contributions to Superannuation and Pension Schemes:

Deferred Employee Benefits for Superannuation 4,169 399 4,169 402

Funded 14,092 15,083 14,092 15,083

Payroll Tax 6,691 6,544 6,691 6,544

Workers Compensation 237 364 237 360

Prior Period Adjustment for Workers Compensation – (666) – (671)

Long Service Leave Expense 2,374 2,728 2,374 2,751

Annual Leave 6,063 6,121 6,063 6,088

Total Academic 125,096 120,245 125,096 120,229

Non-Academic

Salaries 77,441 72,283 76,619 70,918

Contributions to Superannuation and Pension Schemes:

Deferred Employee Benefits for Superannuation 3,530 322 3,530 318

Funded 10,910 11,323 10,720 11,073

Payroll Tax 5,652 5,262 5,611 5,202

Workers Compensation 194 288 189 280

Prior Period Adjustment for Workers Compensation – (537) – (531)

Long Service Leave Expense 2,002 2,178 2,002 2,155

Annual Leave 5,133 4,934 4,985 4,814

Total Non-Academic 104,862 96,053 103,656 94,229

229,958 216,298 228,752 214,458
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$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

25 Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation of Buildings 10,881 10,437 10,881 10,437

Depreciation of Computer Equipment 1,998 2,109 1,998 2,109

Depreciation of Books 4,351 4,114 4,351 4,114

Depreciation Other 3,037 2,503 3,021 2,481

Amortisation of Leased Plant 7 25 7 25

20,274 19,188 20,258 19,166

26 Borrowing Costs
Credit Costs 311 332 311 332

Interest 2,397 2,147 2,397 2,121

2,708 2,479 2,708 2,453

27 Buildings and Grounds
Properties 10,143 9,768 10,143 9,754

Minor New Works 3,025 2,529 3,023 2,506

Maintenance 2,860 2,754 2,878 2,767

16,028 15,051 16,044 15,027

28 Net Loss Arising from Sale of Assets
Proceeds from Sale:

Works of Art – 1 – 1

Property, Plant & Equipment 1,438 573 1,438 573

1,438 574 1,438 574

Carrying Amount of Assets Sold:

Investments 91 140 91 140

Works of Art – 30 – 30

Property, Plant & Equipment 2,604 490 2,604 490

2,695 660 2,695 660

Loss on Sale of Assets (1,257) (86) (1,257) (86)

29 Bad and Doubtful Debts Expense
Bad Debts Written Off 137 74 136 73

Movement in Provision for Doubtful Debts 7,145 476 7,145 476

7,282 550 7,281 549
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30 Other Expenses
Scholarships, Grants & Prizes 10,292 9,013 10,292 9,013

Telecommunications 3,718 4,074 3,695 4,038

Non-Capitalised Equipment 1,849 257 1,849 251

Travel, Staff Development & Training 16,162 16,371 16,140 16,347

Inventory Used 1 7,056 6,733 7,056 6,568

Recoverable amount write down of Non-current Assets 316 517 316 517

Operating Lease Rental Expenses 3,128 2,268 3,015 2,268

Net Foreign Exchange Loss 745 – 745 –

Contract Work 13,853 16,256 13,849 13,623

Amenities and Service Expense 2,101 – 2,101 –

Offshore Partner Fee Share 8,053 8,946 8,053 8,946

Utilities (Electricity, Gas, Water etc) and Cleaning 4,063 8,702 4,102 8,607

Fees & Commissions 5,459 4,551 5,412 4,502

Books 889 732 889 732

Advertising 2,450 2,487 2,420 2,447

Computer Peripherals and Parts 13,136 11,111 13,063 11,047

Consumables (inc printing, stationery and photocopying) 10,405 10,867 9,376 9,616

Carrying Amount of Assets Sold                                       28 2,695 660 2,695 660

Hospitality 564 609 556 603

Postage & Courier 1,324 1,488 1,319 1,480

Subscriptions 2,282 1,582 2,282 1,580

Publications 895 928 888 922

Staff Recruitment 311 433 308 419

Graduations 822 822 822 822

Financial Assistance Provided/Research Support 1,538 614 1,538 614

Security 382 295 382 294

Insurance 1,968 1,931 1,968 1,895

Prior Year Adjustments 578 – 70 –

Occupational Health Safelty & Welfare 137 144 137 144

Other 2,019 106 2,019 106

119,190 112,497 117,357 108,061

1. Inventory used includes $48,000 [2002: $55,000] of damaged and obsolete inventory written-off during the year.
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$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s

31 Commitments for Expenditure
The University had commitments for expenditure comprising the following:

[a] Capital Expenditure Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments outstanding in respect of capital 
works for which contracts/consultant’s fee agreements have been 
entered into by the University as listed below:

Building 610 – Brodie Hall – 286 – 286

Building 206 – Ultra Clean Laboratory – 297 – 297

Don Watts House Refurbishment – 850 – 850

Student Guild Building Redevelopment 1,052 – 1,052 –

Building 402/407 Backfill and Refurbishment 705 – 705 –

Building 306/308 Refurbishment Program 198 – 198 –

Building 204 Common Room 148 – 148 –

Building 611 Brodie Hall Muresk 1,217 – 1,217 –

Building 501 Open Access Computer Lab 345 – 345 –

3,665 1,433 3,665 1,433

[b] Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are payable as follows:

Payable not later than one year 4,676 9,887 4,676 9,887

Payable later than one year, not later than two years 3,643 1,033 3,643 1,033

Payable later than two years, not later than five years 2,907 437 2,907 437

Payable later than five years 1,587 4,594 1,587 4,594

12,813 15,951 12,813 15,951

[c] Finance Lease Commitments

Finance lease commitments are payable as follows:

Payable not later than one year 2 4,563 – 4,545

[d] Other Expenditure Commitments

Commitments in relation to purchase orders, are payable as follows:

Payable not later than one year 7,672 – 7,672 –
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$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s
32 Supplementary Information

32.1 Remuneration of Accountable Authority and Senior Officers

The total of fees, salaries and other benefits received or due and 
receivable for the financial year by senior officers of the University 
and/or any related body 3,562 3,767 3,432 3,536

The number of senior officers whose total of fees, salaries and other benefits, received or due and receivable, for the financial year
falls within the following bands:

2003 2002

$100,001 – $110,000 – 1

$120,001 – $130,000 1 3

$130,001 – $140,000 1 4

$140,001 – $150,000 1 1

$150,001 – $160,000 1 3

$160,001 – $170,000 3 –

$170,001 – $180,000 2 2

$180,001 – $190,000 5 3

$190,001 – $200,000 1 1

$200,001 – $210,000 2 –

$210,001 – $220,000 – 2

$260,001 – $270,000 1 1

$360,001 – $370,000 1 1

19 22

Economic Entity Parent Entity
[Consolidated] [General University]
2003 2002 2003 2002

$000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s
32.2 Auditors’ Remuneration

Amounts received or due and receivable by the Auditor General and other auditors for:

– an audit or review of the financial report of the University 
and any other related entity 213 127 189 96

– other services in relation to the University and any other related entity 17 – 17 –

230 127 206 96
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33 Reconciliation of Net Cash From (Used In) Operating Activities to Net Operating Profit
Net Operating Profit 828 1,626 1,118 1,763

State Government Financial Assistance (15,314) (13,844) (15,314) (13,844)

Depreciation and Amortisation 20,274 19,188 20,256 19,166

Provision for Doubtful Debts 7,147 476 7,148 476

Net Loss on Sale of Assets 1,257 86 1,257 86

Recoverable amount write down of Non-Current Assets 316 517 316 517

Unrealised Losses 616 – 616 –

Prior Year Adjustments (301) – (805) –

Net Decrease in Retained Funds (506) – – –

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in Receivables 4,815 (115) 5,996 48

Decrease (increase) in Inventories 104 70 104 70

Decrease (increase) in Other Assets (1,385) (7,886) (2,757) (8,039)

Increase (decrease) in Payables 17 (5,895) 595 (6,772)

Increase (decrease) in Provisions (5,213) 2,739 (5,606) 3,140

Increase (decrease) in Other Liabilities (1,815) (3,704) (1,835) (3,348)

Other – (1,578) – (1,905)

Net Cash from Operating Activities 10,840 (8,320) 11,089 (8,642)

34 Retained Profits
Retained Profits at the beginning of the financial year 416,615 415,163 416,316 414,727

Net Operating Result 828 1,625 1,118 1,763

Transfers:

To Reserves (742) (4,104) (742) (4,105)

From Reserves 933 3,931 933 3,931

Retained Profits at the end of the Financial Year 417,634 416,615 417,625 416,316

100



Curtin University of Technology

Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 December 2003 

Notes to the Accounts 

35 Financial Assets and Liabilities
a) Credit Risk Exposures

The credit risk of Financial assets which have been recognised on the Statement of Financial Position, other than investments in
shares, is generally the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts.

b) Interest Rate Risk Exposures

Exposures arise predominantly from assets and liabilities bearing variable interest rates as the University intends to hold fixed rate
assets and liabilities to maturity.

c) Current Assets

Trade debtors are initially recorded at the amount of contracted sales proceeds. An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised to
the extent that recovery of outstanding debts is less than likely.

d) Current Liabilities

Creditors are recognised as amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed before balance
date.

Floating Floating Fixed interest maturing/
Interest Non-Interest repricing in: Non-interest

Rate Investment 1 year or less1 year to 5 years bearing TOTAL
2003 Economic Entity [Consolidated] $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Cash 22,403 – – – 45 22,448

Deposits – – 263 – – 263

Receivables – – – – 83,690 83,690

Managed Portfolio Investment

Money Market Account

:Bankwest 18,896 – 5,011 – – 23,907

:Oakvale 301 – 11,191 1,005 – 12,497

:Vanguard Investments – 7,656 – – – 7,656

:Zurich Investments – 5,326 – – – 5,326

Investment – Shares – – – – 420 420

Advances & Prepayments – – – – 12,867 12,867

GST Receivable – – – – 998 998

41,600 12,982 16,465 1,005 98,020 170,072

Weighted Average Interest Rate

as at 31st December 2003 3.37% 5.01% 5.35%

Financial Liabilities

Trade & Other Creditors – – – – 3,665 3,665

Accrued Expenses – – – – 8,366 8,366

Finance Leases – – – 2 – 2

Interest Bearing Liabilities 2,182 – – 25,221 63 27,466

Trust Accounts 1,357 – – – – 1,357

Other Liabilities – – – – 21,805 21,805

GST Payable – – – – 571 571

3,539 – – 25,223 34,470 63,232

Weighted Average Interest Rate

as at 31st December 2003 7.89% 6.99%

Net Financial Assets / (Liabilities) 38,061 12,982 16,465 (24,218) 63,550 106,840
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Floating Floating Fixed interest maturing/
Interest Non-Interest repricing in: Non-interest

Rate Investment 1 year or less1 year to 5 years bearing TOTAL
2003 Economic Entity [Consolidated] [cont.] $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Reconciliation of Net Financial Assets to Net Assets

Net Financial assets as above 106,840

Non Financial Assets and Liabilities

Inventories 2,319

Property, Plant and Equipment 525,583

Provisions (115,946)

Net Assets per Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2003 518,796

2002 Economic Entity [Consolidated]
Financial Assets

Cash 14,038 – – – 51 14,089

Deposits – – 250 – – 250

Receivables – – – – 95,649 95,649

Managed Portfolio Investment

Money Market Account

:Bankwest 10,260 – 8,007 5,010 – 23,277

:Oakvale 1,189 – 7,294 3,937 – 12,420

:BT Funds Management – 5,029 – – – 5,029

:Zurich Investments – 7,272 – – – 7,272

Investment – Shares – – – – 71 71

Advances & Prepayments – – – – 13,312 13,312

GST Receivable – – – – 1,145 1,145

25,487 12,301 15,551 8,947 110,228 172,514

Financial Liabilities

Trade & Other Creditors – – – – 2,075 2,075

Accrued Expenses – – – – 7,838 7,838

Finance Leases – – 4,563 – – 4,563

Interest Bearing Liabilities 28,263 – – – – 28,263

Trust Accounts 1,223 – – – – 1,223

Other Liabilities – – – – 19,336 19,336

GST Payable – – – – 683 683

29,486 – 4,563 – 29,932 63,981

Weighted Average Interest Rate
as at 31st December 2002 4.57% 4.99% 5.02%

Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) (3,999) 12,301 10,988 8,947 80,296 108,533

Reconciliation of Net Financial Assets to Net Assets

Net Financial assets as above 108,533

Non Financial Assets and Liabilities

Inventories 2,423

Property, Plant and Equipment 528,166

Provisions (121,154)

Net Assets per Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2002 517,968
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36 Disaggregation Information

(i) Industry Segments

Revenue Results Assets
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Industry $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Higher Education 382,576 356,680 1,762 1,834 665,681 663,741

TAFE 13,692 11,008 (934) (209) 32,293 39,363

396,268 367,688 828 1,625 697,974 703,104

(ii) Geographical Segments

Revenue Results Assets
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Geographical Area $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Australia 372,560 342,292 (2,927) (2,826) 688,330 681,452

Asia 23,711 25,394 3,755 4,454 9,607 21,615

Other (3) 2 – (3) 37 37

396,268 367,688 828 1,625 697,974 703,104
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Curtin University of Technology

Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 December 2003 

Notes to the Accounts 

39 Curtin Sarawak Venture
On 13 December 2001, Council resolved to exercise the University’s option to take up a 20% share in the equity capital of Curtin
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd.  The cost of this investment is MR20 million (approximately AUD$7 million). No payments in respect of
the investment have been made and the option to take up the shares is contingent upon a number of conditions which had not
been satisfied  at  31 December 2003, including:

(i) changes in the corporate governance of the Board of Curtin (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd;

(ii) additional debt and equity financing to be provided by current Curtin (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd shareholders;

(iii) approvals from the Malaysian and Sarawak Governments.

If or when these conditions are satisfied, the arrangement will be treated as an associate and accounted for in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standard AAS 14 ‘Accounting for Investments in Associates’.

40 Contingent Assets and Liabilities
(i) Superannuation Entitlements

A claim for superannuation entitlements and damages of $800,000 was made against the University during 2003. The
University is defending the action.

(ii) Curtin Sarawak 

The University has a contingent receivable asset as at 31 December 2003 of $0.434 million (2002 – $0.574m). This amount
represents license fees of 8% of tuition fee revenue earned by Curtin Sarawak over the triennium 1999 to 2001.

Fees (expressed in Malaysian Ringitt currency) were earned as follows:

Total Curtin
Revenue Share @ 8%

Year RM000’s RM000’s

2001 8,763 701

2000 5,163 413

1999 1,550 124

15,476 1,238 (Converted to AUD$0.434 million using Reserve Bank quoted exchange Malaysian
Ringitt buy rate of RM 2.8500 = AUD$1.00 for 31 December 2003)

The realisation of this asset is contingent upon the University exercising an option to take up a 20% equity interest in the share
capital of Curtin (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (details of which are outlined in Note 39). Under the terms of the Curtin/Sarawak joint ven-
ture agreement, should the University exercise this option, the proceeds from the contingent asset be used to reduce the purchase
price of the 20% equity interest. Should the University not exercise the option to take up the 20% equity interest, the contingent
asset of $0.434 million will be brought into account as revenue.
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Statistics 
at a Glance

Financial Information 
(year ending 31 December 2003)

Total Equity $518.796m

Total Revenue from Ordinary Activities $396.268m

Total Expenditure from Ordinary Activities $395.440m

Non Cash Outlays $28.803m

Net Operating Result $0.828m

Additions to Property, Plant & Equipment $21.427m

Student Enrolments by Study Mode
(year ending 31 August 2003)

Full Time 18,654

Part Time 15,444

External 980

Total Enrolments 35,078

Student Enrolments by Gender 
(year ending 31 August 2003)

Female 18,855

Male 16,223

Total Enrolments 35,078

Teaching Student Load (Equivalent Full Time Students)

by Division (year ending 31 August 2003)

Humanities 5,188

Curtin Business School 9,037

Engineering, Science & Computing 3,573

Health Sciences 4,303

Resources & Environment 1,268

Curtin Sarawak 879

Cross Institution 37

Total EFTSU 24,285
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Statistics 
at a Glance

Teaching Student Load (Equivalent Full Time Students)

by Course Level (year ending 31 August 2003)

Doctorate (PhD) 829
Master by Research 103
Master by Coursework 1,797
Postgraduate Diploma/Graduate Diploma 900
Graduate Certificate 224
Bachelor Honours 259
Bachelor Pass 18,928
Diploma 36
Associate Degree 258
Not for Degree 951
Total EFTSU 24,285

Enrolled Student Load (Equivalent Full Time Students) 

by Funding Category (year ending 31 August 2003)

Commonwealth Funded 12,956
Research Training Scheme 551
Fee Paying International onshore 4,885
Fee Paying International offshore (excluding Curtin Sarawak) 3,001
Fee Paying International offshore at Curtin Sarawak 890
Australian Fee Paying – Postgraduate 1,577
Australian Fee Paying – Undergraduate 425
Total EFTSU 24,285

Award Completions by Course Level 2003
(year ending 31 December 2003)

Doctorate (PhD) 161
Master by Research 61
Master by Coursework 1,265
Postgraduate Diploma/Graduate Diploma 649
Graduate Certificate 364
Bachelor Honours 556
Bachelor Pass 5,792
Diploma 10
Associate Diploma 87
Total Completions 8,945

Staff (Full Time Equivalent) by Classification
(as at 31 March 2003)

Academic 1,304

General Staff 1,497

Total FTE 2,801
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